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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 19 OCTOBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good morn ing  Mr  Myburgh ,  good  

morn ing  eve rybody.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Good morn ing  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Good morn ing  you may be sea ted Mr  

Mkwanaz i .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   A re  you ready Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Cha i rperson I  have jus t  rece ived I  

th ink  what  i s  re fe r red  to  as  a  supp lementary  s ta tement  o r  

a f f idav i t  wh ich  I  unders tand Mr  Mkwanaz i  wants  –  wants  to  

hand up obv ious l y  w i th  your  leave .   I t  i s  a  shor t  document  

–  i t  i s  about  f i ve  pages long.   I t  add resses the  th ings tha t  

he  accepted were  ou ts tand ing .   We persona l ly  do  no t  have  

any ob jec t ion  to  i t s  in t roduct ion .   The Secre tar ia t  i s  in  the  

process o f  mak ing  cop ies  and w i l l  add i t  to  the  bund le  a t  

tea  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   In  my submiss ion  i t  need not  ho ld  up .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The cont inuat ion  o f  –  o f  the 

quest ion ing  o f  Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   No,  no  tha t  w i l l  be  in  o rder.   But  in  
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the  meant ime we can cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Good morn ing  Mr  

Mkwanaz i .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Good morn ing  Advocate  Myburgh.  

ADV.  MKWANAZI :   Morn ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   When we b roke on Fr iday even ing  I  

was quest ion ing  you about  the  two b i t s  o f  adv ice  you  

rece ived f rom [00 :01:45]  o r  adv i ce  w i th  the i r  input  tha t  

be ing  the  memorandum of  the  15  February  fo l lowed by  

the i r  repor t  on  the  22  February.   These a re  two  b i t s  o f  10 

adv ises tha t  came e i the r  s ide  o f  t he  board  meet ing  on  the  

16  February.   Do you remember  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  do .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  perhaps I  cou ld  jus t  take  you to  

tha t  adv i ce .   I f  you  tu rn  p lease to  Bund le  2 .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And i f  you cou ld  tu rn  up  page  13 tha t  

i s  the  memorandum of  the  15 t h  and then as  you know a t  

page 19 is  the  repor t  o f  the  22n d .   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Now I  wou ld  jus t  ask  you to  conf i rm 

tha t  you r  ev idence was tha t  the  f i rs t  b i t  o f  adv ice  i n  o ther  

words the  memorandum of  the  15 t h  i f  my notes  serve  me 

cor rec t ly  your  ev idence was tha t  you accepted tha t  tha t  

memorandum and  the  adv i ce  was poor,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  d id  admi t  tha t  i t  was not  tho rough –  

i t  was poor  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wou ld  you accept  then tha t  on  the 

face  o f  i t  when you say i t  was poor  and not  thorough i t  

cer ta in ly  was not  persuas ive?  

MR MK WANAZI :   Cer ta in  aspects  o f  i t  were  persuas ive  bu t  

i f  a  be t te r  ana lys is  cou ld  have been done i t  cou ld  have  

been a  be t te r  adv ice  fo r  ins tance  yes.   But  tha t  ana lys i s  

was not  very  c lea r  a t  the  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And i t  was on tha t  bas is  i f  I  10 

unders tand your  ev idence cor rec t l y  tha t  you asked Deneys 

Re i tz  in  the  word  tha t  you used  was to  augment  the i r  

adv ice ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MK WANAZI :   Yes Cha i rman  I  th ink  we d id  because 

even as  a  sub-commi t tee  and board  when we got  tha t  in i t ia l  

adv ice  we were  no t  impressed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  then why d id  you fo l low i t?   Th is  

i s  what  I  do  no t  unders tand.   Why –  why d id  you th ink  i t  

was appropr ia te  hav ing  rece ived a  p iece o f  lega l  adv ice  

tha t  you were  no t  persuaded by  –  why d id  a l low Deneys 20 

Re i tz  the  oppor tun i ty  o f  augment ing  i t  a f te r  the  board  

meet ing  o f  the  16  February?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Cha i rman we d id  a l low Deneys Re i tz  

and a l so  you –  you –  you w i l l  have to  unders tand tha t  there  

were  th ree  issues tha t  sor t  o f  Deneys Re i tz  was t ry ing  to  
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g ive  adv ice  on .   And they d id  no t  g ive  adv ice  spec i f i c  to  

cer ta in  i ssues wh ich  f rank l y  wou ld  have been a  be t te r  

approach.    

Where  they shou ld  have taken  the  f i rs t  mat te r,  

second mat te r  and th i rd  mat te r  and gave adv i ce  on  the  

th ree  a lmost  independent ly.   They somehow t r ied  to  g ive  

summary adv i ce  on  a l l  th ree  mat te rs .    

And in  my in te rpre ta t ion  the  grav i t y  o f  the  th ree  

mat te rs  was not  the  same but  hav ing  sa id  tha t  I  do  no t  

have a  se r ious prob lem wi th  the  adv ice  say on  the  f i rs t  two  10 

o f fences wh ich  re la te  to  p rocurement .   But  I  have a  

prob lem wi th  the  adv i ce  on  the  th i rd  mat te r  wh ich  re la ted  

to  the  a t tack  o f  Mr  Gama on the  execut ives  and board  o f  

Transnet .    

But  on  the  f i rs t  two o ther  mat te rs  –  because do no t  

fo rge t  f rom –  a t  the  t ime f rom where  I  sa t  the  issues –  the  

focus was on p rocurement  where  the  –  i r regu lar  –  o ther  

i r regu lar i t ies  –  yes the  focus on  procurement .   But  I  t ru ly  

say  tha t  adv ice  d id  no t  address the  issues ind iv idua l l y  and  

I  suspect  the  ou tcome cou ld  have been d i f fe ren t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You suspect  the  ou tcome cou ld  have  

been d i f fe ren t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Fe l t  f rom the  board  as  we l l?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I f  the  th ree  –  the  th ree  issues had been 
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hand led  spec i f i c .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t… 

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Mkwanaz i  rea l l y  what  I  am dr iv ing  

a t  i s  you get  poor  l ega l  adv ice ;  i t  does not  dea l  w i th  

every th ing  bu t  you s t i l l  take  the  dec is ion  on  the  16  

February.   You do not  wa i t  fo r  the  augmented lega l  adv i ce ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I s  tha t  cor rec t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :   Ja  –  yes you are  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   R igh t .   So le t  us  then go to  th is  

augmented lega l  adv ice .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  

you see i f  on  16  February  you and  the  board  rea l i sed tha t  

the  adv ice  f rom Deneys Re i tz  i s  poor  adv i ce ;  i t  needed to  

be  augmented and you do not  wa i t  fo r  them to  augment  

the i r  adv i ce  be fore  you take  a  dec is ion  i t  g ives  the  

impress ion  tha t  you have made up your  m ind by  the  16 t h  

tha t  i r respect ive  o f  what  whether  the  adv ice  tha t  ge ts  20 

augmented or  the  augmenta t ion  o f  the  adv ice  pu ts  the  

adv ice  a t  an  acceptab le  leve l  in  te rms o f  i t s  lega l  s t rength  

you do not  –  when you do not  wa i t  fo r  tha t  i t  g ives  the  

impress ion  tha t  you have made up your  m ind and  i t  does  

not  mat te r  what  the  augmenta t i on  w i l l  p roduce you are  
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go ing  ahead because you are  c lear  in  your  m ind tha t  th is  i s  

the  dec is ion  you must  take .  

 Do you have someth ing  to  say on  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman I  am in  agreement  w i th  your  

observa t ion  bu t  aga in  I  need to  sor t  o f  qua l i f y  i t  in  tha t  tha t  

adv ice  a l though i t  was a lmost  a  gener i c  adv i ce  was not  

thorough in  dea l ing  w i th  the  th ree  mat te rs  separa te ly  tha t  

adv ice  was requ i red  on .  

 On the  procurement  mat te rs  tha t  adv ice  somehow I  

–  I  ind ica te  tha t  i t  cou ld  have been appropr ia te .   But  on  the  10 

quest ion ing  o f  the  a t tack  on  execut ives  and the  board  tha t  

adv ice  sa id  no th ing  about  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :   And I  th ink  as  I  ind ica ted  i t  cou ld  have 

been overs igh t  on  the  s ide  o f  the  board  or  no t  par t i cu la r ly  

fo l low ing up on tha t  i ssue o f  the  a t tack  on  the  execut ives  

and the  board  members .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   Mr  Myburgh .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   Now jus t  to  go  to  th is  

augmented lega l  adv i ce  tha t  you rece ive  on  the  22  20 

February  wh ich  you f ind  a t  page 19.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  i t  a lso 

does not  dea l  w i t h  a l l  th ree  charges.   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Advocate  you are  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You s t i l l  then do not  go  back to  

Deneys Re i tz  and  say bu t  what  about  charge 3  or  where  is  
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the  ana lys is?   A l l  they  do  is  they repeat  the  gener ic  adv i ce  

tha t  they gave you before .   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Advocate  Myburgh you are  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  why d id  you not  go  back to  them?  

I  mean the  t ru th  i s  you had no susta inab le  lega l  adv ice .   

You had gener i c  adv ice  wh ich  d id  no t  dea l  w i th  one  o f  the  

charges a t  a l l .   Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  agree w i th  you Advocate  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then there  is  a  b igger  p rob lem 

and tha t  i s  you;  yourse l f  accept  tha t  Deneys Re i tz ’  10 

augmented lega l  adv ice  was cont rad ic to ry,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  agree w i th  you Advocate  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  s t i l l  you  do not  go  back to  them 

and say,  bu t  hang on I  do  no t  unders tand what  you  ac tua l l y  

say ing ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  agree w i th  you Advocate  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  rea l l y  bears  ou t  your  des i re  and 

the  des i re  o f  the  board  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama a t  a l l  cos t s ,  

does i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Maybe not  bu t  as  you r igh t fu l l y  po in t  ou t  20 

i f  idea l l y  a t  the  t ime in  re t rospect  the  board  shou ld  have 

even sent  back the  second adv ice  to  say,  ho ld  i t  you  are  

s t i l l  no t  spec i f i c  enough.   Yes I  agree w i th  you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  the  board  had a l ready made up  

i t s  m ind by  tha t  t ime on the  16  February?  
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MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t  Advocate ;  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  le t  us  –  le t  me press me i f  I  m ight  

in  re la t ion  to  pa ragraph 1 .1  a t  page 20 o f  Bund le  2 .    

MR MKWANAZI :   I  am there  Advocate .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A t  paragraph 1 .1  i t  says  there :  

“There  is  op in ions tha t  have been  obta ined  

f rom reputab le  f i rms o f  a t to rneys w i th  

regard  to  p rospects  o f  success o f  Mr  Gama 

in  successfu l l y  cha l leng ing  h is  d i smissa l  by  

the  company.   A l l  the  op in ions  inc lud ing  10 

ours  wh ich  we gave a f te r  perus ing  

documents  per ta in ing  to  the  d isc ip l inary  

inqu i ry  were  o f  the  v iew tha t  Mr  Gama’s  

chances o f  successfu l l y  cha l leng ing  h is  

d ismissa l  a re  no t  good. ”  

 D id  you rece ive  tha t  lega l  adv i ce  f rom Deneys  

Re i tz?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes we –  we d id  –  we d id  Advocate  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   And then a f te r  tha t  d id  you  

rece ive  the  memorandum of  the  15 t h  tha t  they gave input  20 

in to?  

MR MK WANAZI :   No do not  fo rge t  tha t  memorandum of  the  

15 t h  i s  ea r l ie r  than th is  so  ca l l  augmented adv i ce .   Yes we  

–  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  we l l  le t  me –  I  am not  sure .  



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 11 of 231 
 

MR MKWANAZI :   Th is  was done on  the  22n d  i f  I  reca l l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :   And tha t  o ther  memorandum was 

prepared on the  14 t h  o r  15 t h  February.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes bu t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  they dea l ing  

w i th  the  h is to ry  here .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   They say:  

“A l l  the  op in ions inc lud ing  ours  tha t  we 

gave a f te r  perus ing  the  documents  10 

per ta in ing  to  the  d isc ip l ina ry  inqu i ry  were  o f  

the  v iew tha t  Mr  Gama’s  chances o f  

successfu l l y  cha l leng ing  h i s  d i sm issa l  a re  

no t  good. ”  

 Had you seen tha t  adv ice?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  am not  sure  i f  i t  was in  the  

memorandum of  the  15 t h  bu t  I  see what  you are  say ing  post  

the  f i rs t  memorandum of  the  15 t h  then comes th is  adv ice  on 

the  22 n d .   But  the i r  adv ice  goes fu r ther  to  s t i l l  c rea te  doubt  

tha t  th is  mat te r  i n  the  Transnet  Barga in ing  Counc i l  can go 20 

e i ther  way;  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  here  they say… 

MR MKWANAZI :   I  agree w i th  your  assessment .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Mkwanaz i  he re  they re fe r  to  an  

op in ion  where  they sa id  tha t  Mr  Gama’s  prospects  o f  
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success a re  no t  good.    

MR MKWANAZI :   I  –  I  see what  you are  ta lk ing  to .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You cannot  exp la in  th is?   Was tha t  in  

the i r  memorandum of  the  15 t h  o r  was i t  in  some o ther  

document?  

MR MKWANAZI :   No I  do  no t  reca l l  –  i t  was the i r  

memorandum of  the  15 t h  I  am not  sure  now what  i t  sa id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  jus t  so  tha t  you unders tand.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Jus t  to  re f resh your  memory.   10 

Remember  the  memorandum of  the  15 t h  i t  had… 

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  was produced w i th  the  input  o f  

Deneys Re i tz .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t  your  tes t imony was tha t  i t  was 

presented to  the  board  or  the  commi t tee  as  a  memorandum 

f rom Group Lega l .  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  had you seen a  pr io r  op in ion  f rom 20 

Deneys Re i tz  tha t  sa id  tha t  Mr  Gama’s  prospects  o f  

success were  poor?  

MR MK WANAZI :   I  m igh t  have –  I  do  no t  reca l l  a  spec i f i c  

one o the r  than th is  one o f  the  22n d .   But  on  tha t  one o f  the  

15 t h  February  o r  14 t h  February  i f  tha t  goes on to  c rea te 
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doubt  about  whe ther  we w i l l  w in  a t  Transnet  Barga in ing  

Counc i l .   Bu t  aga in  hav ing  ind ic ted  ear l ie r  tha t  –  even tha t  

memorandum tha t  o f  the  14 t h  o r  15 t h  February  was not  

spec i f i c  to  the  th ree  i tems.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MK WANAZI :   That  any un fa i rness cou ld  have been 

ident i f ied .   That  was not  spec i f i c .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  I  have go t  two more  quest ions.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Depends o f  [00 :14 :47] .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  have got  two more  quest ions fo r  you 10 

before  I  move on  here .   F i rs t l y  why d id  you not  go  back to  

Deneys Re i tz  and ra ise  w i th  them the  cont rad ic t ion  in  th is  

op in ion?  A t  1 .1  they are  say ing  we have g i ven you  op in ion  

say ing  h is  p rospects  o f  success a re  poor  and then  in  the i r  

conc lus ion  as  you put  i t  they  ra ised out .   Why d id  you not  

go  to  them and say,  c la r i f y  th is?   What  ac tua l l y  a re  you 

say ing?  Why d id  you not  do  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   No a t  the  t ime we d id  no t  do  tha t  

Advocate ;  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes bu t  tha t  –  we know tha t .   My 20 

quest ion  is ,  why d id  you not  do  tha t?   I t  seems so  obv ious  

does i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   No i t  does not .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   R igh t .   And then hav ing  spec i f i ca l l y  

asked them to  augment  the i r  adv i ce  you say because they  
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d id  no t  dea l  w i th  the  th i rd  charge  they do  not  dea l  w i th  i t  

here  you s t i l l  do  no t  go  back to  them and say,  dea l  w i th  the  

th i rd  charge,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   No –  no  we d id  no t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why not?  

MR MKWANAZI :   We omi t ted  tha t .   No we d id  no t  a t  the  

t ime,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I t  seems the  obv ious th ing  to  do  does 

i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Not  rea l l y.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Mkwanaz i  p lease jus t  le t  me 

unders tand.   You go to  Deneys  Re i tz  you ask  them to  

augment  the i r  op in ion .   Amongst  the  reasons tha t  you want  

them to  do  tha t  you say is  tha t  they do  not  dea l  w i th  the  

th i rd  charge on  15 February.   They then p rov ide  an  

augmented op in ion  and they s t i l l  do  no t  dea l  w i th  i t .  

MR MKWANAZI :   They s t i l l  do  no t  dea l  w i th  i t  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A re  you suggest ing  to  the 

Cha i rperson tha t  you d id  no t  th ink  i t  was the  obv ious th ing  

to  do  to  go  back to  them and say,  you have not  done  what  I  20 

wanted you to  do? 

MR MKWANAZI :   We d id  no t  do  tha t  on  the  15 t h  February  

yes and even on the  22n d  we d id  no t  go  back to  them and 

say,  bu t  you have  not  dea l t  w i th  the  th i rd  mat te r  in  te rms o f  

the  issues tha t  you are  supposed to  dea l  w i th .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you cannot  exp la in  why  you d id  

no t  do  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   No I  know we d id  no t  go  back.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   D id  you and the  board  –  when you were  

dea l ing  w i th  these mat te rs  –  w i th  th is  Gama mat te r  –  

remember  tha t  there  was a  charge  wh ich  had got  no th ing  to  

do  w i th  p rocurement .  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You d id  remember?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :   No I  am aware  yes Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes,  no  I  am ta lk ing  more  then  

ra the r  than now.   You were  aware  a t  the  t ime tha t  there 

were  th ree  charges?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Fo r  wh ich  he  was d ismissed?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman a t  the  t ime the  focus was on 

the  procu rement  i ssues.   The focus was not  on  the  las t  

mat te r  o f  the  a t tack  by  Mr  Gama on the  execut ives  and the  

board .   The focus was on the  procurement  i ssues and I  20 

th ink  i f  i t  was an overs igh t  o f  the  board  no t  to  have  

focussed even on the  th i rd  and jus t  thought  tha t  the  

procu rement  i ssues were  su f f i c ien t  to  dea l  w i th  th is  i ssue 

in  a  par t i cu la r  way.   Ja  i t  was an overs igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wou ld  you agree tha t  i t  wou ld  appear  
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tha t  i t  was –  tha t  Mr  G igaba i f  your  ev idence i s  t rue  may  

have a lso  su f fe red  f rom the  same overs igh t  because when  

he –  on  your  ev idence ins t ruc ted  you to  rev iew Mr  Gama’s  

case he does no t  seem to  have sa id  anyth ing  about  the 

th i rd  charge;  he  ta lked about  condonat ion  and 

procurement .  

MR MKWANAZI :   No Cha i rman  your  ana lys i s  cou ld  be  

cor rec t  bu t  I  assume tha t  Mr  G igaba is  a lso  go ing  to  come 

and have h i s  say  and a l so  Mr  Gama is  go ing  to  come and  

have h i s  say on these issues.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Bu t… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja ,  no ,  no .  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  wou ld  sense  tha t  what  you say ing  is  

t rue  Mr  Cha i rman .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes .   No Mr  G igaba w i l l  come a lso  a t  

some s tage and  g ive  ev idence.   Okay thank you Mr  

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you Mr  Cha i rman.   Cou ld  you 

p lease go to  the  dra f t  se t t lement  agreement?  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh.   Of  course  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  i s  i t  no t  remarkab le  tha t  so  many peop le  in  the  

board  ove r look  i f  i t  was over look ing  someth ing  so  

impor tan t  to  say why do we not  –  why a re  we not  ta lk ing  

about  the  charge tha t  has go t  no th ing  to  do  w i th  
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p rocu rement?   And Deneys Re i tz  the  a t to rneys a l so  seem 

to  –  to  lose  s igh t  o f  tha t .   Why are  they no t  –  why is  there  

no t  a  s ing le  person in  the  board  who say,  bu t  hang on we  

are  ta lk ing  about  tak ing  –  re ins ta t ing  Mr  Gama on the  bas is  

o f  condonat ion  bu t  condonat ion  has – does not  app ly  to  the  

o ther  charge –  what  do  we have to  say about  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman your  observa t ion  is  spo t  on  bu t  

then I  jus t  need to  h igh l igh t  one smal l  mat te r  tha t  a t  the 

t ime when th i s  mat te r  was be ing  dea l t  w i th  the  board ’s  

focus was on procurement  and the  perce ived unfa i rness o f  10 

how Mr  Gama was not  a f fo rded the  o ther  p rocess o f  

condonat ion .    

In  o ther  words  the  –  the  focus was on the  

un fa i rness on  the  f i rs t  two charges and tha t  i s  why even  

maybe a t  board  no  board  member  then sa id ,  ho ld  i t  bu t  i t  i s  

no t  on ly  these issues there  is  th is  o ther  major  i ssue wh ich  

was the  th i rd  charge o f  h im a t tack ing  the  execut ives  and  

the  board?   

Yes the  board  neg lec ted  tha t  ang le  and in  h inds igh t  

the  board  shou ld  have –  somebody shou ld  have sa id ,  ho ld 20 

i t  bu t  these are  no t  on ly  the  two issues tha t  we are  dea l ing  

w i th  yes these are  procurement  bu t  here  is  th is  o ther  one 

o f  a t tack ing  the  execut ives  and the  board .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes you see. .  

MR MK WANAZI :   I t  was not  ra i sed by  any board  member  a t  
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the  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes you see i t  i s  exact ly  tha t  tha t  I  am 

ask ing  –  I  am ask ing  you about  whethe r  i t  i s  no t  

remarkab le?   Namely  tha t  desp i t e  the  fac t  tha t  Mr  Gama 

had been d ismissed fo r  th ree  charges;  desp i te  the  fac t  tha t  

the  board  had ava i lab le  to  i t  a  de ta i led  ru l ings  o f  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l inary  hear ing  wh ich  made i t  c lear  

there  were  th ree  charges and tha t  one o f  them d id  no t  have  

anyth ing  to  do  w i th  p rocu rement .   Desp i te  the  fac t  tha t  the  

board  had ava i lab le  to  i t  Mr  Todd ’s  op in ion  /  repor t  wh ich 10 

made i t  c lear  tha t  there  were  th ree  charges one o f  wh ich  

had noth ing  to  do  w i th  p rocurement .   I s  i t  no t  remarkab le  

tha t  the  who le  board  le f t  ou t  th is  par t i cu la r  cha rge wh ich  

has go t  no th ing  to  do  w i th  p rocurement?   I t  i s ;  i s  i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I t  i s  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :   I t  i s  a  ser ious overs igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :   By  tha t  who le  board  and the  –  I  admi t  

tha t  i t  was a  se r ious overs igh t .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Of  course  somebody ana lys ing  th is  

o r  l i s ten ing  to  the  ev idence  re la t ing  to  Mr  Gama’s  

re ins ta tement  and so  on  somebody might  say,  we l l  i t  was 

overs igh t  and tha t  i s  i t .   Somebody e lse  m ight  say,  maybe  

i t  was overs igh t  t ha t  happened because the  board  was too  
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keen to  take  Mr  Gama back  and  tha t  i s  why they  

over looked someth ing  so  –  tha t  was r igh t  there  in  f ron t  o f  

them.   Maybe somebody might  say,  you see they had found  

what  they be l ieved was an answer  to  p rocurement .   There  

was no answer  to  the  o ther  charge.   So focuss ing  on  th is  

o ther  charge wou ld  spo i l  the  –  the  ar rangement  now.   

Because i f  we do not  have an answer  to  th is  o ther  charge 

how do we take  Mr  Gama back?  So le t  us  focus on  

procurement .   You want  to  say someth ing  Mr  Mkwanaz i  to  

the  var ious scenar ios  I  am say ing  peop le  l i s ten ing  to  the 10 

ev idence might  th ink  about?  

MR MK WANAZI :   Cha i r  –  Cha i rman your  observa t ion  is  

cor rec t  bu t  as  I  ind ica te  tha t  board  fo r  some reason I  hope 

o ther  peop le  wou ld  come in  and ac tua l l y  g i ve  more  

in fo rmat ion  on  how the  env i ronment ,  the  a tmosphere  

e tce te ra  on  th i s  mat te r  was because par t i cu la r ly  on 

procu rement  i ssues.   There  was a  –  a  s t range percept ion  

tha t  maybe Mr  Gama was ta rge ted because the re  were 

cer ta in  s im i la r  –  a l though they are  no t  s im i la r  –  in  te rms o f  

p rocu rement  the re  m ight  be  bu t  th is  o ther  las t  cha rge 20 

f rank ly  was someth ing  un ique and maybe the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  

–  and tha t  board  shou ld  have looked in to  a t  the  t ime to  

say,  yes  there  are  th ree  issues;  two a re  p rocu rement ,  one  

is  th is  a t tack  on  the  execut ives .   Unfor tunate ly  Cha i rman a t  

the  t ime tha t  board  d id  no t  focus on  tha t  mat te r  because i t  
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focussed on p rocurement  i ssues th ink ing  tha t  there  was no 

cons is tency in  the  organ isa t ion  in  dea l ing  w i th  

p rocu rement .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  see  tha t  a lmos t  a l l  the  members  o f  the  

board  who deposed to  a f f idav i t s  and tha t  have been g iven 

to  the  commiss ion  say there  was –  they were  no t  aware  o f  

any ro le  p layed by  anybody outs ide  o f  the  board  o r  ou ts ide  

o f  Transnet  in  the  re ins ta tement  o f  Mr  Gama.   

But  Mr  Mapoma d id  say there  was pressure  tha t  was  

put  on  h im by Mr  S iyabonga Mahlangu the  spec ia l  adv isor  10 

to  Min i s te r  G igaba.   Of  cou rse  Mr  Mah langu has den ied  

tha t  he  pu t  any pressure .    

You d id  no t  have  any p ressure  brought  upon you to  

t ry  and make su re  tha t  the  board  agreed to  re ins ta te  Mr 

Gama? 

MR MKWANAZI :   I  wou ld  no t  ca l l  i t  p ressure .   Yes there  

was a  request  to  rev iew i f  the  sanct ions o f  d ismissa l  were  

–  were  fa i r  –  tha t  was by  the  shareho lde r.   Yes there  was a  

request  tha t  we rev iew the  sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l .   And –  

and have I  los t  sound?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :   No we can hear  you.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Then hav ing  sa id  tha t  tha t  i s  why then  

even I  th ink  even  when we looked a t  a l te rna t ive  adv ice  the  

shor tcoming o f  the  adv i ce  we got  i t  d id  no t  dea l  spec i f i ca l l y  

w i th  the  th ree  issues as  the  adv ice  f rom Mr  Todd d id  dea l  
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w i th  the  th ree  issues.    

 Now there fore  the  adv ice  tha t  we used f rom Deneys  

Re i tz  came wi th  a lmost  a  genera l  recommendat ion  wh ich  I  

must  say  was not  the  best  adv ice  because they  shou ld  

have sa id  you have got  chances w i th  one and two but  you 

have got  no  chances w i th  th ree .    

 Then tha t  board  I  doubt  i f  i t  wou ld  have come to  the  

same dec is ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.   Of  course  you know the  –  the 

adv ice  f rom Deneys Re i tz  one has got  to  go  back to  i t .   As  10 

I  reca l l  i t  does not  dea l  fo r  example  w i th  the  issue o f  

condonat ion  i f  I  reca l l  cor rec t l y.   I t  says :   

“We have prev ious l y  g iven an op in ion  tha t  

says;  Mr  Gama has no good p rospects  o f  

succeed ing  in  h is  d ismissa l  c la im –  un fa i r  

d ismissa l  c la im.   But  then la te r  on  i t  says  

there  i s  a  p robab i l i t y  tha t  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  o r  record  a l so  du r ing  the  

appropr ia te  co r rec tness o f  the  sanct ion  o f  

d ismissa l  may reach the  conc lus ion  tha t  20 

d ismissa l  was not  appropr ia te  hav ing  regard  

to  the  cha l lenge and sanct ion  advanced by  

h im. ”    

And then i t  –  I  th ink  the  ear l ie r  one te l l s  you about  

–  the  one o f  the  15 t h  te l l s  you about  d i f fe ren t  cases  where  
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cour ts  can come to  d i f fe ren t  v iews on sanct ion .  

So I  do  no t  know whether  your  reco l lec t ion  is  

d i f fe ren t  bu t  my reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  they do  not  seem to  

ta lk  about  condonat ion  –  Deneys Re i tz .   I s  your  

reco l lec t ion  d i f fe ren t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman yes they do  not  ta lk  about  –  

they are  no t  spec i f i c .   That  i s  why I  say  i n  h inds igh t  i t  was  

not  the  best  adv ice  because they  shou ld  have dea l t  w i th  

the three issues.   And also,  they should have deal t  wi th even 

this condonat ion matter as advisors because condonat ion,  at  10 

the t ime, did not  necessari ly imply that  then you are f ree 

f rom any potent ia l  d iscipl inary act ion post  condonat ion.    

 Because my understanding of  that  condonat ion pol icy.   

There must  be consequences for the fact  that  you even go to  

the extent  of  request ing condonat ion.   Why did you not  do 

your homework properly before?  Yes.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    But  yes,  the advice f rom T Richard was 

not  the best  advice.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Mr Myburgh.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   So Mr Mkwanazi ,  

what you have accepted is that  i t  was,  as you put  i t ,  a 

ser ious oversight  on the part  of  the board not  to consider  the 

thi rd charge on the 16t h of  February? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct  . . . [ intervenes]   
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you say i f  the board had done so,  

i ts decision might  very wel l  have been very d i fferent .   

Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Actual ly,  I  agree advocate.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Is that  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  advocate.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  what I  do not  understand is that  

you knew of  the shortcoming because you went back to  

Deneys Rei tz so that  they could augment the ir  op inion in 

respect  of  the thi rd charge.   That  is  your own evidence.   You 10 

see the contradict ion? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Advocate,  maybe let  me t ry and. . .   We fel t  

that  as a board,  the advice we had got  on the 14t h or  

15t h of  February was weak and therefore we said augment i t .    

 And funny enough, even af ter augment ing,  they came 

back wi th what I  can cal l  weak advice because they did not  

deal  wi th the speci f ics of  the three issues and the 

possibi l i t ies of  winning at  the Transnet Bargaining Counci l  or 

losing at  Transnet  Bargaining Counci l .    

 So yes,  they did not  touch on the thi rd matter of  an 20 

at tack of  execut ives.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  perhaps you are not  

fo l lowing my quest ion.   I t  was not  an oversight .   You 

ident i f ied the fai lure and you asked Deneys Rei tz to address 

i t .   When they did not  address i t ,  you just  pushed on in  any 
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case.    

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  was not  an oversight .   You are. . .  on 

your version,  you ident i f ied the fai lure.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  that  is correct .   I  do not  know 

whether i t  is fa i lure or weakness of  thei r  submission.   I  

would cal l  i t  more weakness because i t  d id not  deal  wi th. . .  

my understanding,  i f  you deal  wi th,  I  want  advice on this 

issue and these are the three issues.    

 Then the advice should have addressed the f i rst  issue,  10 

second issue and thi rd issue.   And Deneys Rei tz ’ advise did 

not  even art iculate the three issues.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  then why did you not  go back to 

them when they d id not  address the fai lure or the weakness 

that  you had ident i f ied? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, at  the t ime we.. .  the doubt  

created of  winning or not  winning at  Transnet Bargaining 

Counci l  sort  of  p layed a prominent  role in us making that  

decision then.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Why did you and the board not  take the 20 

fol lowing posi t ion:   We as the board know that  we have 

received three opinions,  legal  opinions f rom three reputable 

law f i rms and they al l  say we have a good case.   Mr Gama 

has a poor case.    

 They say Mr Gama has no reasonable prospects of  
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wining this case against  Transnet.   Having got  those 

opinions f rom three di fferent  law f i rms.    

 We have one of  the law f i rms which gave one of  those 

opinion saying in  th is legal  advice there is some.. .  there is  

probabi l i ty.   They are coming up wi th something that  seems 

to go against  what they have a lready said.    

 And what they are saying is not  persuasive this t ime 

around.  I t  is not  substant iated.    

 Let  us take wi th the posi t ion given by three di fferent  law 

f i rms,  namely we have a good case and Mr Gama has a poor  10 

case.   We have good chances of  winning.    

 Let  us make our decision based on that .   Why did you 

and your board take that  posi t ion?   

 Why did you take a posi t ion that  is  supported by a legal  

advice that  contradicts legal  advice that  was given 

previously by the same law f i rm that  is  now weak,  that  goes 

against  what has been given two other law f i rms and by 

i tsel f?   

 Why do you choose a posi t ion that  is  not  supported by 

sound legal  advice when you know you do have the benef i t  20 

of  sound legal  advice? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, as I  might  have indicated in the 

past  here.   We did get  good sound legal  advice f rom a 

number of  legal  f i rms including Mr Todd’s note.   And at  the 

t ime, we fel t  that  ho ld i t .   Let  us pursue,  because we have 
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t ime to rev iew the sanct ion.    

 Then we indicate that  let  us then get  a di fferent  law f i rm 

with di fferent  legal  advice because my sense,  by the way,  

based on the legal  advice that  we have had before,  I  doubt  i f  

the companies that  were involved in the actual  disc ipl inary 

process in Transnet  would have come with a di fferent  legal  

advice.    

 But  yes,  be as i t  may,  we fel t  that  let  us test  i f  is there a 

di fferent  legal  advice out  there.    

 Unfortunately,  i t  came and i t  was not  very st rong legal  10 

advice because i t  d id not  touch on one of  the key issues 

which is not  procurement related.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  was that  not  the problem Mr 

Mkwanazi ,  namely . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Namely. . .   I  am sorry.   Was that  not  the 

problem . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    P lease cont inue,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  can you hear  me? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  can hear you Chai rman.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Oh,  okay.   Is  the problem.. .  was the 

problem not  exact ly that ,  namely that  you and the board 

were looking for a  di fferent  advice?   

 You were not  looking for another advice which could be 

the same as the advice that  had been given before by 
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Bowman’s and f rom Mr Todd?   

 So as long as you had not  received a di fferent  advice,  

you would not  be happy?  You wanted a di fferent  advice and 

when you got  i t ,  even i f  i t  was poor,  you were happy to rely  

on i t?   

 Is that  not  the problem that  you should not  have been 

looking for a di fferent  advice?  You could have been looking 

for a di fferent  law f i rm to give advice on the same issues 

that  Mr Todd had given and mister. . .   

 I  mean, Webber Wentzel  had given but  the advice did 10 

not  need to be di f ferent  f rom thei rs.   You should have simply 

been looking for another advice that  may not  be di fferent .   I f  

i t  was di fferent ,  f ine.    

 Then i f  i t  was di fferent  you would compare i ts soundness 

wi th the soundness of  the other advices that  you had 

received.    

 Do you understand what I  am saying?  That  maybe the 

problem is that  you were looking for  a d i fferent  advice? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, what  you are indicat ing could 

be t rue but  maybe let  me retrace the process a l i t t le bi t .   On 20 

the procurement issues,  the two procurement issues.    

 The advice could have been di fferent  in that  the so-

cal led simi lar procurement,  the i rregular i t ies in Transnet had 

not  been considered when that  sanct ion was determined on 

the f i rst  two matters.    
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 So on those two matters,  I  do think there was a need to 

get  sort  of  a review of . . .  on the simi lar case matters relat ing 

to procurement.   What was done?   

 And these matters went back as ear ly as 2005.  So on 

those,  there could have been a d i fferent  legal  opinion on 

rev iew.   

 But  on the thi rd matter,  i r respect ive of  whatever review 

you would have had,  my sense is that  that  rev iew would have 

come out  and said on the thi rd matter,  the sanct ion is a fai r  

sanct ion.    10 

CHAIRPERSON :    No.   Thank you.   Before I  let  Mr Myburgh 

cont inue,  I  just  ment ion this.   As I  understand the posi t ion.   

Mr Gama has raised the issue of  condonat ion at  the 

discipl inary hearing.    

 He had raised the issue of  inconsistency at  the hearing.   

Now,  one of  the issues which I  th ink,  I  i f  am correct  in that ,  

one of  the issues that  the board should have thought about  

was to say:   Why should we as the board get  involved in  

rev iewing Mr Gama’s case?   

 And maybe that  is what you should have said to  Mr 20 

Gigaba.  Maybe on not  on the day that  he approached you 

but  af ter you had ful ly informed yoursel f  on the case.    

 Why should we as the board get  involved in reviewing 

this case because Transnet has taken the t rouble to offer  to  

Mr Gigaba a very fai r  process which has got  an independent 
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chairperson.    

 Transnet is going and spend money,  paying senior  

counsel  to si t  as a chai rperson in  a discipl inary inquiry so 

that  Mr Gama has got  a fa i r  process.    

 Because i f  maybe i t  was one of  the senior execut ives 

chair ing his discipl inary inqui ry,  he would complain that  i t  

was not  fa i r.   We have paid for senior counsel  to si t  at  the 

discipl inary hearing.    

 And I  take i t  that  Mr Gigaba did not  cont r ibute,  would not  

have cont r ibute to the cost  of  the chairperson,  you know.   10 

Those costs were born by Transnet.    

 That  chairperson sat  for 14-days,  hearing evidence.   

That  is a lot  of  money.    

 Apart  f rom that ,  there would have been a lot  of  t ime that  

is spend prepar ing for the hearing and af terwards preparing 

those very thorough and detai led rul ings that  he had 

prepared.    

 You did al l  of  that  as Transnet .   I t  might  have been the 

previous board.   That  was al l  done in order to advance 

fai rness and t ransparency.    20 

 So now, in that  process,  Mr Gama was f ree to br ing 

whatever evidence he could br ing to the discipl inary inqui ry 

to show that  he had been t reated unfair ly including the issue 

of  condonat ion including the issue of  saying there were other  

execut ives who had done the same thing but  had been 
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t reated d i fferent ly.    

 He had the opportuni ty of  br inging those cases before an 

independent chai rperson.   He was al lowed to be represented 

by his own legal  team.   

 I  do not  th ink every employee at  Transnet  gets al lowed 

in a discipl inary inquiry to be presented by outside lawyers 

but  he was al lowed.   

 I  am not  saying he was the only one but  he was al lowed.  

Now why did you and your board not  say:   Here is a very fai r  

process and a very fai r  forum which had been provided to  10 

Mr Gama.   

 I f  he makes out  his case there and wins,  we as the 

board wi l l  accept  that  outcome and take him back.   I f  he fai ls  

to make out  his case in that  forum,  then we wi l l  abide.   We 

wi l l  g ive effect  to that  decision.    

 Now he has fai led in that  discipl inary inquiry.   He is 

going to  the Bargaining Counci l .   Even though that  is cal led 

the Transnet Bargaining Counci l ,  i t  was st i l l  an independent 

body in the sense that  the arbi t rators who si t  there are not  

employees of  Transnet.   They are independent lawyers.    20 

 So why did you not  say:   Mr Gama has an independent 

and fai r  forum at  which he can put  his case.   Let  him put  his  

case there and we wi l l  abide by whatever decision.    

 Why d id you and your board not  take that  pr incipled 

decision and say:   We are not  going to interfere.    
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MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, I  need to go back a l i t t le  bi t  and 

indicate that  there was a Publ ic Protector later,  around the 

22n d of  December twenty. . .  I  do not  know the exact  date,  

2010.   Ja.   Now . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  th ink 22 December . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    In 2010.  

CHAIRPERSON :    22 December 2010 is the let ter.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  yes.   In 2010.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Now in a way,  i t  is that  Publ ic Protector 10 

let ter  which elevated the let ter to the chairman’s off ice.   And 

your analyses is correct  but  then once this matter was then 

elevated to the chairman’s off ice,  the company then had to 

respond to the Publ ic Protector and as part  of  that ,  certain 

al legat ions were made there.    

 And as part  of  that  response,  the in i t ia l  process was to  

appoint  KPMG and Nkonki  to look into the facts now.  And 

then they did and for some reason, i f  I  recal l ,  thei r  f i rst  draf t  

report  was somet ime in January.    

 But  that  draf t  report  as. . .  in  ret rospect ,  they sort  of  f i le  20 

on Monday once i t  was brought in by some staff  members.    

 No,  on Fr iday,  last  week Fr iday f rom the Zondo 

Commission.   That  f i rst  draf t  report  d id not  contain the 

detai ls I  thought i t  d id in terms of  deal ing wi th th is issue.    

 But  yes,  what t r iggered the matter to go to board was 
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the Publ ic Protector ’s complaint ,  i f  I  can cal l  i t  that .    

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  but  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    And the,  i t  became sort  of  a board 

member,  a board matter,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  even wi th that .   I  do not  th ink that  the 

Publ ic Protector would have had any problem i f  the board 

said wi th regard to Mr Gama’s d ismissal ,  we have set  up an 

independent forum and a fai r  process at  which Mr Gama is  

ready to put  his case as ful ly as he wants.    

 He has done so.   This is the outcome.  He is now going 10 

to another independent forum.  There too,  he wi l l  have a 

process where he can make out  his case and we as the 

board wi l l  abide by the decisions of  that  independent forum.   

 Why did you and the board not  take that  pr incipled 

approach? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai r,  at  the t ime as a board we did not  

take that  approach,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Myburgh.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you,  Mr Chai rman.  

Mr Mkwanazi ,  p lease just  turn to page 6 of  Bundle 2.   The 20 

agreement of  set t lement.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    S igned in draf t  form.  Signed by Mr 

Gama on the 10t h of  February 2011.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    You have said that  you were the lead 

negot iator.   Is that  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So by the 10t h . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    By the 10 t h of  February,  you had 

al ready,  at  least  for yoursel f ,  decided that  Mr Gama should 

be reinstated as the Chief  Execut ive of  TFR, correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That ,  of  course,  was before Deneys 10 

Rei tz ’ advice? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.   But  let  me qual i f y  

that .   You know,  these things,  when you look at  them ten 

years or nine year later,  there were other  reports that  were 

produced in Transnet  which were indicat ing. . .   

 I  am focussing on the procurement matters,  that  there 

could have been unfairness on the procurement issues.   That  

is correct  Chai r,  yes.    

 And st i l l  today,  I  do not  have those reports and 

hopeful ly,  one day they wi l l  surface.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  but  the point  is that  your 

evidence has been that  you appointed Deneys Rei tz to br ing 

f resh eyes to bear on this  issue.   What you land up doing is  

deciding for yoursel f  that  the man must be reinstated before 

those f resh eyes produced any advice,  correct? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   But  does that  not  bear out  then 

Mr Mkwanazi  that ,  real ly what you were looking for  is legal  

advice that  accorded with your decision,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    You could be correct  in indicat ing that  but  

yes,  I  could. . .  wrong legal  advice at  the . . . [ indist inct ] ,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Is i t  not  so that  you had decided to 

re instate Mr Gama even before you went to Denys Rei tz? 

MR MKWANAZI :    To say decide is too st rong a word but  we 

were in d iscussions based on the informat ion we had,  even 10 

as ear ly as the 1s t  of  February,  i f  I  recal l .   I  am not  sure what  

sub-commit tee that  was,  et  cetera.   We were in discussions 

on some form of  review of  the Gama sanct ion issues,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  you have repeatedly to ld the 

Chairperson that  why you went to Deneys Rei tz,  is you 

wanted them to br ing f resh eyes to bear.   I t  does not  seem to 

me that  you wai ted for thei r  advice.   You had al ready 

decided.   Certainly,  you yoursel f  had decided that  Mr Gama 

was to be re instated before that  advice.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  was a consul tat ion process at  the t ime 20 

and wi th no f inal  decis ion because only around the 14t h,  

15t h  of  February,  would then a f ina l  decision be taken by a 

sub-commit tee of  the board and a lso elevated to the board.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Let  me take you p lease to  

Mr Mhlango’s aff idavi t .    
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  you f ind in Bundle 1.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 1. . .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  would l ike you to turn to page 170.   

One, seven,  zero.  

MR MKWANAZI :    One,  seven,  zero.   Ja,  that  is  the one.   

Okay.   Thank you. .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    [No audible reply]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  have got  that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   So on Fr iday,  we deal t  wi th  10 

paragraph 7 at  page 170.   I  want  to di rect  your at tent ion to 

paragraph 6 and then I  want  us to  read the two paragraphs 

together.   At  paragraph 6,  Mr Mhlango says:  

“ I  was not  involved di rect ly or indirect ly in the 

set t lement discussions leading to the reinstatement 

of  Mr Gama.  The only insight  I  had on the 

discussions was when I  was informed by Nkomazi ,  

the then chairperson of  Transnet and act ing Chief  

Execut ive Off icer  at  the t ime that  the company 

intended to reinstate Mr Gama.”  20 

 So in that  paragraph he says you informed him that  the 

company intended to reinstate Mr Gama.  The next  

paragraph says:  

“Due to the passage of  t ime, I  cannot recal l  the 

exact  reason for  or context  of  my discussion wi th  
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Mr Mkwanazi . ”  

 In other words,  the discussion that  you had wi th  him 

when you informed him of  Transnet ’s decision to reinstate Mr 

Gama, correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  is what he is referr ing to.   He 

goes on to say:  

“He conferred wi th me on a var iety  of  matters in my 

capaci ty as Special  Advisor. ”  

 And then the next  sentence says:  10 

“ I  recal l  that  dur ing my conversat ion wi th  

Mr Mkwanazi . . . ”  

 Now when you read the two paragraphs together,  he is  

ta lk ing about when you informed him that  Transnet  had 

decided to reinstate Mr Gama.  

“ I  recal l  that  dur ing my conversat ion wi th  

Mr Mkwanazi ,  I  advised that  i t  was prudent for  

Transnet to seek legal  advice on the company’s 

proposed course of  act ion.   We discussed a few 

opt ions on eminent  labour lawyers that  he could 20 

consul t .   One of  the names that  came up was Mr 

Sbu Gule. ”  

 So what I  want to  suggest  to you.   That  when you read 

these two paragraphs,  i t  seems to be Mr Mhlango’s 

recol lect ion that  even before you went to Mr Gule,  you had 
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decided to reinstate Mr Gama.   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  would not  cal l  that  a decision.   I  would 

al l  that  part  of  a rev iew process which had been requested 

by the shareholder much earl ier on.    

 And also,  i f  I  do recal l ,  there was some other informat ion 

that  I  had seen in  January,  much ear l ier in  January on 

i rregular procurement in Transnet.   A number of  cases.    

 I t  was a matr ix  of  some Excel  spreadsheet which 

indicated offences by certain execut ives,  et  cetera and 

condonat ions granted,  et  cetera,  et  cetera.   And the amounts 10 

involved but  that  informat ion is not  avai lab le.    

 So at . . .  l ike knowing what the system informat ion was at  

the t ime, I  was aware that  there was something not  on about  

the fai rness of  the sanct ions on Gama on the two 

procurement issues.   That  I  was aware of .    

 And then of  course,  in discussing wi th the board even 

before the 1s t  of  February,  the board was then made aware 

that  I  was in consul tat ion wi th  Mr Gama on some of  the 

issues that  would have come out  of  his discipl inary process.   

But  having said I  was in consul tat ion.    20 

 Even at  that  t ime, the consul tat ion was more of  the 

procurement issues and,  therefore,  that  is why some legal  

eyes were needed into looking into these issues.    

 And what is interest ing even i f  i t  is legal ised,  i t  d id  not  

focus on the th i rd issue or the th i rd offence of  cr i t ic is ing 
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execut ives.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  perhaps I  could just  ask 

you for a di rect  answer.   Did you . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .or d id you not  te l l  Mr Mhlango 

before you had even appointed Deneys Rei tz that  Transnet 

intended to reinstate Mr Gama, yes or not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  intended to rev iew, not  reinstate.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So you did not  te l l  h im this? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is a st rong word.   To review.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  how does he get  i t  so wrong?  

Reviewing and reinstatement are two completely di fferent  

concepts.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  should be.   I t  is a review because yes 

that  review that  had been requested by the shareholder in 

October 2010.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  you simply . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  reinstate.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You simply repeat ing your evidence.   

Do you remember my quest ion?  My quest ion is,  how does 20 

he get  i t  so wrong? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am not  sure.   But  he is coming,  I  am 

assuming,  as wel l  to have his say on the Zondo Commission.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then i f  we go to his emai ls .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page 178.   I  th ink . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 178.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  th ink you have told the Chairperson 

as wel l  that  he got  i t  wrong.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Where you told the minister  on the 

18t h of  January that  you were nearing a set t lement.   He also 

got  that  wrong.   Is  that  r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I f  I  got  i t  wrong?  Yes,  he got  i t  wrong.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  see.   Were you. . .  you say though 10 

that  you were speaking to  Mr Mhlango around th is t ime.   Is  

that  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  that  is correct .   I  am not  sure around 

which t ime exact ly but  yes I  would have been talk ing to him.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And did you speak to him about Mr 

Gama’s reinstatement? 

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  the review that  had been requested by 

the minister,  not  the reinstatement.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  I  th ink that  is very important  

evidence.   Did you speak to him about the fact  that ,  on your  20 

vers ion at  least ,  the minister had inst ructed you to undertake 

a review of  Mr Gama’s dismissal .   Did you talk  to  h im about  

that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   Yes,  I  th ink I  d id.   Yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Right .   And i f  you go to page 181.   
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There is an emai l  f rom . . . [ indist inct ]  to  Mr  G igaba on the  4  

February  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And he sa id :  

“Dear  Min i s te r,  my meet ing  w i th  Cheer (?) . . . ”  

He is  re fe r r ing  to  you there ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You had had a  meet ing  w i th  h im  

about  your  negot ia t ions  w i th  Mr  Gama and h is  pos i t ion  in  

re la t ion  to  app ly ing  fo r  the  GCE vacancy,  co r rec t?   10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Phew!   Le t  me take out  tha t  p iece  o f  

paper,  fo r  wh ich  Ch ie f  Execut ive .   Yes,  p lease cont inue?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  you had  a  meet ing  w i th  h im 

dea l ing  w i th  two sub jec ts ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now what  gave r i se  to  th is  meet ing  

on  the  4  February?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  reca l l  –  wa i t ,  wa i t ,  wa i t .   I  do 

no t  reca l l  in  the  open ing  s ta tement  tha t  he  makes there  

bu t ,  i f  I  do  reca l l ,  a t  the  t ime we might  have  a l ready 20 

adver t i sed fo r  the  f i l l i ng  o f  the  vacancy o f  Group Ch ie f  

Execut ive ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  were  you keep ing  Mr  Mah langu 

appr ised o f  deve lopments  in  the  l igh t  o f  the  inst ruc t ion  tha t  

you got  f rom the  min is te r  to ,  as  you put  i t ,  rev iew Mr  
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Gama’s  d i smissa l?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  have.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  tha t  what  you were  do ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am not  sure  what  he  says tha t  

adver t i s i ng  was a  m is take.   I t  was not  a  m is take.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry,  my quest ion ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  is  

were  you …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MK WANAZI :    Yes,  I  was in  d iscuss ions w i th  h im 

regu lar ly,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes bu t  you were  hav ing  these  10 

d iscuss ions w i th  h im in  l igh t  o f  the  ins t ruc t ion  tha t  you  

rece ived f rom the  min is te r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    To  rev iew 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say to  rev iew Mr  Gama’s  

d ismissa l ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And th is  i s  a  d i scuss ion  tha t  you  

were  hav ing  w i th  the  very  person  tha t  suggested tha t  you 

shou ld  appo in t  Mr  Sbu Gule ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  le t  us  go  then p lease  to  the 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Myburgh,  as  I  unders tand 

what  you are  say ing ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  and as  I  unders tand Mr  

Mah langu ’s  emai l  to  h is  m in is te r,  i t  appears  tha t  the  two o f  
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you ,  namely  yourse l f  and Mr  Mah langu had regu lar  

in te rac t ions about  mat te rs  re la t ing  to  Transnet  and tha t  

inc luded d iscuss ions re la t ing  to  the  mat te r  o f  Mr  Gama,  i s  

tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r,  f rom the 

perspect ive  tha t  yes ,  the  m in is te r  had requested a  rev iew,  

yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The in te rac t ions tha t  you had w i th  Mr  

Mah langu,  were  they on  the  bas is  tha t  he  wou ld  convey to  

the  m in is te r  wha tever  you conveyed to  h im in  regard  to  10 

var ious issues a t  Transnet  inc lud ing  Mr  Gama’s  mat te r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am not  sure  i f  he  wou ld  bu t  i f  a lso  I  

reca l l  a t  the  t ime the  focus o f  the  d iscuss ions were  no t  

necessar i l y  –  they were  re la ted  a t  t imes genera l l y  to  s ta te  

owned ent i t ies ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    To  s ta te  owned ent i t ies  in  genera l?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Under  Pub l ic  Enterp r ises .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   So are  you say ing  tha t  a  lo t  

o f  the  d i scuss ions tha t  you had w i th  Mr  Mah langu re la ted  

to  s ta te  owned enterp r ises  under  the  Depar tment  o f  Pub l ic  20 

Enterp r ises?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Re la ted  to  Transnet  spec i f i c  bu t  

occas iona l l y  o the r  SOEs,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay,  genera l l y,  the  d i scuss ions 

re la ted  to  Transnet  mat te rs  bu t  somet imes they wou ld  a lso  
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re la ted  to  o ther  SOEs,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   But  when you were  hav ing  

d iscuss ions w i th  h im re la t ing  to  Transnet  was i t  on  the  

bas is  tha t  he  was ,  so  to  speak,  the  condu i t  fo r  h im to  pass  

on  to  the  m in is te r  the  updates  o r  whatever  you to ld  h im,  

you were  no t  jus t  te l l ing  Mr  Mah langu in  h is  persona l  

capac i ty,  your  were  te l l ing  h im because he was  spec ia l  

adv iser  to  the  m in is te r.    

MR MKWANAZI :    When you say i n  persona l  capac i ty,  in  a 10 

way because he  is  spec ia l  adv iser  to  the  m in is te r  my  

unders tand ing  was tha t  then he wou ld  b r ie f  the  m in is te r  

because I  never  in te rac ted  w i th  the  m in is te r  a  lo t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  ja .   So the  bas is  fo r  your  

engagements  w i th  Mr  Mah langu was tha t  he  wou ld  br ie f  the  

m in is te r  on  your  d iscuss ions,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Wel l ,  maybe you have answered  

the  next  quest ion  I  was go ing  to  have.   Namely,  w i th  the  

Min is te r  Mr  G igaba hav ing  ins t ruc ted  you,  on  your  20 

ev idence,  to  rev iew the  Gama case whether  you 

subsequent ly  eve r  had a  meet ing  w i th  h im where  you to ld  

h im how fa r  you were  w i th  the  rev iew process e i the r  be fore  

i t  was comple ted  or  when i t  was about  to  be  comple ted? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  reca l l  s i t t ing  w i th  the  m in is te r  
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b r ie f ing  h im in  de ta i l  on  progress  on  the  mat te r.   The on ly  

person who wou ld  have been br ie fed  is  Mr  Mah langu.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  okay,  and  he wou ld  have  –  your  

expecta t ion  was tha t  he  wou ld  then share  the  br ie f i ng  w i th  

the  m in is te r?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i rman.   Mr  

Mkwanaz i ,  I  wou ld  l i ke  now to  move to  the  board  meet ing  

on  the  16  February.  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  want  to  s ta r t  o f f  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Can you –  wa i t ,  I  am not  sure  tha t  the  

page is  cor rec t ,  ja .   What  pack is  i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  w i l l  come to  the  m inute  in  a 

moment  bu t  I  want  to  s ta r t  o f f  jus t  by  f ind ing  ou t  f rom you 

prec ise ly  what  was before  the  board  a t  th is  meet ing  on  the  

16  February.   Le t  me s tar t  by  ask ing  you was Mr  Todd ’s  

op in ion  be fore  the  board  on  the  16  February?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  th ink  so ,  I  do  no t  reca l l  tha t  b ig  20 

submiss ion  o f  Mr  Todd serv ing  on  the  board  or  even  

serv ing  in  one o f  the  subcommi t tees,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You do not  reca l l  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  reca l l ,  no ,  because idea l l y  i f  i t  

had i t  wou ld  have been par t  o f  a  bund le  in  te rms  o f  the 
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boa rd  pack and I  do  no t  reca l l  how the  board  pack  looked  

l i ke  a t  tha t  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  you had rece ived  

Mr  Todd ’s  op in ion ,  as  I  unders tand i t ,  you  had read i t  as  

we l l .  

MR MKWANAZI :    My unders tand ing ,  I  had rece ived i t .   I f  I  

reca l l ,  i t  was done on the  2  February  and g iven to  one o f  

the  group lega l  peop le .   Yes,  I  wou ld  have rece ived i t  and 

yes,  I  wou ld  have  read i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you not  th ink  i t  wou ld  have been 10 

impor tan t  fo r  i t  to  have served before  the  board  then on 

the  16  February?   I  mean,  why d id  you not  ensure  tha t  i t  

was there?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I f  I  reca l l ,  there  was a  subcommi t tee  

be fore  tha t  board  and aga in  these minutes  –  idea l l y  i t  

wou ld  have se rved there  and a lso  when I  say  served there ,  

coming say f rom group lega l  because we worked very  

c lose ly  w i th  g roup lega l  a t  the  t ime.   I t  wou ld  have  served 

in  a  subcommi t tee ,  yes ,  bu t  no t  necessar i l y  a  board ,  no .  

 Now,  tha t  subcommi t tee ,  I  do  no t  know i f  I  have got  20 

a  m inute  o f  i t ,  bu t  i f  I  do  reca l l ,  there  was a  subcommi t tee 

be fore  the  board  meet ing  o f  the  16 t h ,  there  was a  

subcommi t tee .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you wou ld  have seen the  a f f idav i t  

f rom the  company  sec re tary  who says tha t  the  Todd op in ion  
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was par t  o f  the  board  pack o f  the  16  February.   You have 

seen tha t  a f f idav i t ,  have you not?  

MR MK WANAZI :    I  have not  seen tha t  a f f idav i t ,  can you  

take  me to  i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  we go to  bund le  1 ,  page 15.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 15,  bund le  1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  a f f idav i t ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  wou ld  have 

been one o f  the  a f f idav i t s  tha t  were  sent  to  you together  

w i th  the  le t te r  tha t  inv i ted  you to  depose to  your  f i rs t  

a f f idav i t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wai t ,  le t  me go back.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Maybe f ind  the  bund le  f i rs t .  

MR MK WANAZI :    I  am go ing  to  do  i t .   Page 15.   Okay,  

da ted  16 t h ,  a  document  da ted  tha t ,  okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  th ree  l ines  down a t  page 12 – or  

parag raph 12.  

MR MKWANAZI :    On paragraph 12 ,  yes?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    “There fore  the  sa id  document . . . ”  

And there  she is  re fe r r i ng  to  Mr  Todd ’s  repor t .  

“ . . .and the  dra f t  se t t lement  agreement  were  tab led  20 

fo r  cons idera t ion  be fore  the  board .   When the  board  

au thor ised the  f ina l i sa t ion  o f  Mr  Gama’s  se t t lement  

agreement ,  a  copy o f  th is  repor t  i s  annexed marked  

MPM6. ”  

Now can I  jus t  take  you to  MPM6.   That  you f ind  a t  page 
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42 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 42.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    She has put  up  a  board  pack,  i t  

seems,  Board  o f  D i rec tors  Meet ing  16  February  12 .32.05,  

Roya l  E lephant  Conference Cent re ,  Centur ion  and then you  

w i l l  see  tha t  there  was sp i ra l  b ind ing  on  the  le f t  hand s ide  

o f  Mr  Todd ’s  repor t ,  you can f l i ck  th rough i t  and go a l l  the 

way f rom 43 …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    To…? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    To  68 .  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    To  68 .   Okay.   I  see  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So is  i t  s t i l l  your  reco l lec t ion  tha t  

the  Todd repor t  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry,  I  was s t i l l  concerned about  

Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  response tha t  he  d id  no t  ge t  o r  see tha t  

a f f idav i t  o f  the  company secre ta ry  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no . . .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  w i l l  dea l  w i th  i t  la te r.   What  page is  –  I  

m issed the  page numbers  you were  re fer r i ng  h im to .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  the  page number  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    And the  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cha i rpe rson,  I  was re fe r r ing  to  
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…[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    The bund le  1 ,  nè?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    To  annexure  MPM6,  tha t  i s  a t  page  

42.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    One second?  That  i s  on  bund le  1 ,  nè?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  cor rec t .   And then Mr  Todd ’s  

repor t ,  Cha i rperson,  goes a l l  the  way up to  68 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  I  have got  i t  now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i s  i t  s t i l l  your  10 

reco l lec t ion  and o f  course  you can on ly  tes t i f y  to  what  you  

remember  bu t  i s  i t  s t i l l  your  reco l lec t ion  tha t  the  Todd 

repor t  was not  be fore  the  board  on  the  16 t h?  

MR MK WANAZI :    When you say i t  was not  be fore  the  

board  I  see i t  was before  the  board  based  on th is  

document ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .  

MR MK WANAZI :    Bu t  I  d id  no t  reca l l  i t  anymore  but  I  had 

seen i t  be fore ,  by  the  way befo re  the  16 t h .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes bu t  I  want  to  –  I  th ink  i t  i s  very  20 

impor tan t  fo r  the  Cha i rpe rson to  know prec i se l y  what  

in fo rmat ion  was before  the  board  on  the  16 t h .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now I  can take  you to  two a f f idav i t s  

by  your  fe l low d i rec to rs ,  Ms Gcaba and Ms Tshepe who 
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bo th  conf i rmed …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you might  have seen tha t ,  who 

both  conf i rmed tha t  the  Todd repor t  was in  fac t  be fore  the  

board  on  the  16  February.  

MR MKWANAZI :    On the  16 t h ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Do you need me to  take  you to  those  

passages o r  wou ld  you ag ree w i th  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no ,  I  do  be l ieve  tha t  i t  d id  serve  on  

the  board  o f  the  16  February.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you have seen those a f f idav i t s ,  I  

mean you were  g iven a l l  o f  these f i les  over  the  weekend,  

cor rec t?   You have seen the  a f f idav i t s  o f  Gcaba and 

Tshepe?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   Gcaba?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Gaba,  Gcaba.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  d id  ge t  them,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   So can the  Cha i rpe rson 

then accept  on  the  s t rength  o f  the  board  pack and on the 

s t rength  o f  what  they say tha t  you then accept  tha t  the  20 

Todd repor t  i s  be fore  you on the  16  February?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  on  the  16 t h ,  yes ,  Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now you and o ther  board  members  

ta lk  about  lega l  adv i ce  tha t  was be fore  the  board .   Now do 

I  unders tand you cor rec t l y  tha t  what  you p laced before  the  



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 50 of 231 
 

boa rd  a f te r  the  memos o f  14  and 15 February  was what  

Mapoma sent  you  on the  15  February  fu r the r  to  the  input  o f  

Deneys Re i tz  and you presented tha t  memorandum as the  

op in ion  o f  g roup lega l .   E f fec t i ve ly,  Mr  Mapoma’s  op in ion ,  

i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  when we look a t  these a f f idav i t s  

and re fe rence is  made to  lega l  adv i ce ,  tha t  lega l  adv ice ,  

and co r rec t  me i f  I  am wrong,  compr i ses the  adv i ce  o f  Mr  

Todd and e f fec t i ve ly,  the  adv ice  o f  Mr  Mapoma,  i s  tha t  10 

cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .   That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you have accepted p rev ious l y  

tha t  the  adv ice  o f  Mr  Mapoma tha t  you p laced before  the  

board  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Where  you say some doubt  was 

crea ted,  was ent i re ly  in  conf l i c t  w i th  the  adv i ce  tha t  he  

gave the  Corpora te  Governance and Nominat ions  

Commi t tee  on  the  3  February  when he to ld   members  o f  20 

tha t  commi t tee ,  inc lud ing  a  number  o f  your  d i rec tors ,  tha t  

Transnet  had a  very,  ve ry  good case,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t .   You have accepted  as  we l l  

tha t  as  o f  the  16  February  there  was noth ing  be fore  the  
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boa rd  f rom KPMG/Nkonk i .   You con f i rm tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  we have seen f rom the  

a f f idav i t s  o f  Gcaba and Tshepe is  tha t  bo th  o f  them say 

tha t  you in fo rmed the  board  tha t  you had a  l i s t  o f  

cont ravent ions tha t  were  comparab le  to  Mr  Gama’s  case.   

Ne i ther  o f  them say you in t roduced th is  l i s t ,  they  s imp ly  

say tha t  you in fo rmed the  board  o f  a  l i s t  o f  cont ravent ions  

tha t  were  comparab le  to  Mr  Gama’s  case.   Do you conf i rm 

tha t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  do  reca l l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you  have g iven ev idence –  and I  

th ink  I  have taken you to  the  re levant  p r io r  ex t rac t s  where  

you seem to  have  ta lked about  a  l is t  o f  30 ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And,  i f  I  unders tand your  ev idence  

cor rec t l y,  f rom what  you have sa id  ear l ie r  th is  morn ing  and  

prev ious ly,  tha t  rea l l y  was a  l i s t  o f  persons in  re la t ion  to  

whom condonat ion  was granted,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  cou ld  have been a  l i s t  o f  p rocurement  20 

processes and a l so  condonat ions granted,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you had th is  l i s t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Now when you say you had th is  l i s t ,  a t  

the  t ime,  f rank ly,  there  was a  spreadsheet  wh ich  had been  

deve loped wh ich  ind ica ted  some o f  these i r regu lar i t ies  and 



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 52 of 231 
 

some o f  the  condonat ions g ranted and in  some a reas not  

even g ranted,  fo r  tha t  mat te r,  bu t  w i th  no tes  tha t  

d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  wou ld  be  taken,  e tce tera ,  e tce tera ,  yes .  

 Now subsequent  to  -  tha t  l i s t  wou ld  have been  

c i rcu la t ing  somet ime in  January.   Now hav ing  –  I  am a lso  

t ry ing  to  f ind  tha t  l i s t .   I  have not  seen i t  s ince .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  I  wou ld  l i ke  jus t  to  take  you 

p lease to  page –  i t  i s  Ms Gcaba ’s  a f f idav i t  a t  page –  

bund le  1 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bund le  1 .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    That  wou ld  be  Gcaba,  hey?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Gcaba,  bund le  1 ,  224.  

CHAIRPERSON:    For  the  t ransc r ibers ,  Gcaba w i l l  be  G-c-

a-b -a .   224 you say,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    224.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  I  cou ld  p lease d i rec t  you r  a t ten t ion  

to  paragraph 48.2? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    She is  here  dea l ing  w i th  the  board  20 

meet ing  o f  the  16  February  and says:  

“The Cha i rman fu r thermore  in fo rmed the  board  tha t  

there  was a  l i s t  o f  cont raven t ions tha t  were  

comparab le  to  the  case o f  Gama. ”  

Do you see tha t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    D id  you do tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  d id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You to ld  them tha t  you have  a  l i s t  o f  

cont ravent ions tha t  a re  comparab le  to  the  case o f  Mr  

Gama.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You d id  no t  –  on  her  vers ion ,  you d id  

no t  share  th is  l i s t  w i th  your  fe l l ow board  members ,  you  

s imp ly  to ld  them tha t  you had th is  l i s t ,  cor rec t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Le t  us  go  p lease to  page 785 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    785.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th is  i s  Ms Tshepe ’s  a f f idav i t ,  she is  

a lso  dea l ing  w i th  the  meet ing  o f  the  16  February  and a t  

parag raph 37.2  –  I  beg your  pardon,  I  want  to  take  you to  

784.  

MR MKWANAZI :    784.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    She a lso  says a t  37 .2 :  

“The Cha i rman fu r thermore  in fo rmed the  board  tha t  20 

there  was a  l i s t  o f  cont raven t ions tha t  were  

comparab le . ”  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  th i s  i s  your  l i s t  o f  30 ,  you say i t  

was in  the  fo rm o f  a  spreadsheet .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  d id  i t  show?  What  d id  i t  

re f lec t?   So you have 30 names.  

MR MK WANAZI :    I t  wou ld  have been a  coup le  o f  

t ransact ions,  whatever  they were  and o f  cou rse  i t  wou ld  

have covered a  number  o f  years ,  i f  I  can  use the  word ,  

maybe f rom 2005 to  2010.   I t  wou ld  have covered the  

ac tua l  p rocurement ,  whatever  tha t  was,  and the  fac t  tha t  i t  

e i ther  exceeded the  mandate  or  i t  was i r regu la r.   There  

wou ld  have been  co lumns w i th  some ana lys is  and i t  wou ld  10 

have ind i ca ted  whethe r  condona t ion  was granted  or  no t  

g ran ted.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th is  i s  impor tan t ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You have a  l i s t  o f  30  peop le ,  so  f rom 

what  you can reca l l ,  30  names …[ in tervenes]  

MR MK WANAZI :    Jus t  [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  

s imul taneous ly ]  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  I  can  jus t  summar ise  your  

ev idence and then you can e i the r  agree o r  d isagree .  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You have a  l i s t  o f  30  names 

spann ing  the  per iod  2005 to  2010.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The l i s t  wou ld  ind ica ted  the  
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i r regu lar i t y,  as  you put  i t ,  where  the  mandate  may have  

been exceeded.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then there  was an ind i ca t ion  o f  

whethe r  condonat ion  was g ranted o r  no t ,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now how were  you on the  face  o f  

tha t  l i s t  in  a pos i t ion  to  te l l  your  fe l low board  members  tha t  

those cont ravent ions were  comparab le  to  Mr  Gama’s  case? 

MR MKWANAZI :    They are  no t  hundred percent  10 

comparab le  because Mr  Gama’s  case touched  on two  

procurement  i ssues and one non-procurement  i ssues but  

where  i t  touches  on the  two procurement  i ssues,  they are  

comparab le  bu t  when i t  touched  the  th i rd  mat te r  where  

Gama now a t tacks  the  o ther  execu t ives ,  there  is  no  s im i la r  

case to  my unders tand ing  tha t  i s  on  reco rd .   Ja .   So i t  i s  

on ly  on  the  two p rocurement  cases .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  even there  you d id  no t  know 

whethe r  they were  ac tua l l y  comparab le .   You thought  

b road ly  they were  because they  are  now procurement  20 

i r regu lar i t ies  bu t  you d id  no t  know the  de ta i l  o f  the  30 ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  wou ld  no t  know the  de ta i l ,  no ,  no ,  

no .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  you rea l l y  were  no t  in  a  pos i t ion ,  
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Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  even to  te l l  them in re la t ion  to  the  two  

charges tha t  the  cont ravent ions on  your  l i s t  were  

comparab le ,  were  you?  

MR MKWANAZI :    In  fa i rness,  they are  comparab le  f rom a  

procu rement  p r i nc ip le  tha t  ce r ta in  th ings were  no t  done 

accord ing  to  the  procurement  p rocedure  manua l  o f  the 

t ime.   That  i s  the  on ly  compar ison,  no t  the  quantum and 

not  a  lo t  o f  o ther  i ssues but  the  fac t  tha t  they  d id  no t  

comply  w i th  the  PPM at  the  t ime.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  they were  a t  best  b road ly  10 

comparab le .  

MR MK WANAZI :    That  i s  cor rec t  bu t  the  th i rd  one was not  

even someth ing  tha t  I  wou ld  have submi t ted  to  the  board  in  

te rms o f  comparab i l i t y,  there  was no s im i la r  case.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   So I  suppose what  you shou ld  

have sa id  –  i s  you shou ld  no t  have sa id  tha t  the  cases are  

comparab le ,  you  shou ld  have to ld  them look,  they are  

broad ly  comparab le .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Because they are  a l l  invo l ved in  20 

some or  o ther  way,  p rocurement  i r regu lar i t y.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  shou ld  have sa id  tha t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  i s  a  d i f fe ren t  p ic tu re ,  i s  i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  a l r igh t .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    I  take  i t  tha t  you approached those 30  

names or  so  where  condonat ion  had been g ranted on the i r  

submiss ion  tha t  the  employees  concerned wou ld  have  

app l ied  fo r  condonat ion ,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  some o f  them d id ,  tha t  i s  

cor rec t ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Were  there  some who had not ,  as  fa r  as  

you know? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  some had not  and fo r  some 

reason a l though  they were  in  the  m ino r i t y,  those tha t  10 

maybe might  no t  have app l ied  bu t  no th ing  was  done,  

e tce te ra ,  e tce te ra ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    As  I  unders tand the  pos i t ion ,  

condonat ion  was  not  supposed to  be  had fo r  the  ask ing .   

Was tha t  your  unders tand ing  a t  the  t ime as  we l l?  

MR MKWANAZI :    My unders tand ing ,  Cha i rman,  i s  tha t  you  

cou ld  ask  fo r  condonat ion  bu t  when you say ask  fo r  i t ,  you  

ta lk  to  your  immedia te  superv i sor  about  the  issue  and in  

most  cases i t  invo lves Transnet  in te rna l  aud i t  and you then 

ta lk  to  your  boss about  whatever  you have done wrong and 20 

then your  boss  can then dec ide  whether  th rough the  

necessary  counse l  tha t  had approved tha t  t ransact ion  tha t  

the  mat te r  can go  fo r  condonat ion  or  you must  d isc ip l ine  o r  

whatever  bu t  i t  i s  th rough the  approv ing  au thor i t y,  who 

wou ld  have been your  superv isor.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  what  I  mean is  tha t  the  

pos i t ion ,  as  you  a lso  unders tood i t ,  I  unders tand the  

pos i t ion  to  have  been tha t  jus t  because somebody,  an  

employee asks fo r  condonat ion ,  does not  mean tha t  they 

w i l l  ge t  i t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no ,  no ,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  remained dependent  on  the  mer i t s  o f  

each request  and the  c i r cumstances o f  the  –  o f  how the  

i r regu lar i t y  happened,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  agree w i th  you,  yes .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    I  a lso  go t  the  impress ion  f rom some o f  

the  documents  f rom Transnet  tha t  the  idea was tha t  

condonat ion  cou ld  be  granted fo r  non-ser ious i r regu lar i t ies  

i f  I  unders tood cor rec t l y.   Maybe non-ser ious is  no t  the 

cor rec t  te rm,  I  do  no t  know whethe r  i t  i s  non-mater ia l ,  I  am 

not  sure ,  bu t  I  go t  the  impress ion  tha t  there  was  a  c lear  

d is t inc t ion  made to  say the  more  ser ious the  dev ia t ion  or  

the  i r regu lar i t y,  the  less  l i ke ly  tha t  an  employee wou ld  ge t  

condonat ion .   I s  my unders tand ing  the  same as what  your  

unders tand ing  was a t  the  t ime.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman so r t  o f  bu t  the  quest ion  o f  

ser iousness is  no t  an  easy one to  ge t  in to  because how do 

you def ine  the  ser iousness,  i s  i t  a  one b i l l i on ,  two  b i l l i on,  

what ’s  the  quantum because some o f  these issues tha t  

eventua l l y  had to  be  condoned ran  in to  b i l l i ons  o f  rands.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  leav ing  ou t  the  ques t ion  o f  

whethe r  i t  was a  good idea to  make a  d is t inc t ion  be tween  

ser ious i r regu la r i t ies  and maybe not  so  ser ious  

i r regu lar i t ies ,  o r  mater ia l  i r regu lar i t ies  and non-mater ia l  

i r regu lar i t ies ,  leav ing  as ide  the  quest ion  o f  whether  i t  was 

a  good idea to  make tha t  d is t inc t i on .   I s  i t  your  reco l lec t ion  

tha t  there  was such a  d i s t inc t ion  in  te rms o f  the  po l i c ies?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman there  wou ld  have been,  I  am 

now t ry ing  to  assume what  I  haven ’ t  read the  PM,  the  

Po l icy  Procedure  o f  Manua l  o f  Transnet  in  a  long t ime,  bu t  10 

yes there  wou ld  have been there  because I  am not  sure  

where  f raud comes in  here  because some o f  these th ings 

cou ld  have been f raudu len t ,  and a lso  I  am not  su re  where  

f ru i t less  and was te fu l  expend i tu re  comes in  on  these,  fo r  

some o f  them wou ld  have been f ru i t less  and waste fu l ,  they  

were  o f  d i f fe ren t  ca tegor ies .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  wou ld  i t  be  cor rec t  to  say tha t  

the  au tho r i t y  cons ider ing  a  request  o r  app l i ca t ion  by  an  

employee fo r  condonat ion  wou ld  have had to  take  in to  

account  among o ther  fac tors  the  fac to r  o f  how ser ious the  20 

i r regu lar i t y  was,  wou ld  i t  be  cor rec t  to  say tha t  

MR MKWANAZI :    You are  cor rec t  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay thank  you.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  jus t  

cor rec t  me i f  I ’m wrong,  bu t  as  I  unders tand i t  on  th is  l i s t  
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o f  30  peop le  some o f  those peop le  condonat ion  had not  

been granted,  i s  tha t  co r rec t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    That  i s  my unders tand ing  a t  the  t ime 

yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     And i f  I  unders tand your  ev idence 

cor rec t l y  the  l i s t  m ight  a lso  have conta ined names o f  

peop le  who were  ac tua l ly  d ismissed fo r  p rocurement  

i r regu lar i t ies?    

MR MKWANAZI :    My unders tand ing  yes i t  wou ld  have 

conta ined some peop le .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Impor tan t ly,  and in  fac t  i f  I  

unders tand i t  I  th ink  on  Fr iday you  ta lked about  a  l i s t  o f  22  

and then we ’ve  seen when Mr  Mole fe  was appo in ted ,  your  

a f f idav i t  says  he  was ins t ruc ted  to  dea l  w i th  12 ,  so  can you 

remember  how many peop le  on  th is  l i s t  w i th  re fe rence to 

those f igures  tha t  I  have jus t  g iven you,  were  in  fac t  

g ran ted condonat ion?   I t  wasn ’ t  a l l  30 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Maybe I  need  to  s ta te  the  scenar io  a  

l i t t le  b i t  because  the  quest ion  o f  condonat ion  is  a  s t range  

mat te r,  le t  me make an example  o f  one pa r t i cu la r  cont rac t  20 

where  I  go t  d i rec t l y  invo l ved.    I t  was the  VAE con t rac t ,  I  

don ’ t  know what  the  company name was,  bu t  the  increase  

in  amount ,  the  issue was peop le  who kept  on  pay ing  a  

supp l ie r  on  what  was then an i r regu lar  cont rac t ,  and tha t  

made the  cont rac t  va lue  increase  f rom 98mi l l ion  to  about  
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1 .8b i l l i ona and where  now the  quest ion  o f  the  number  o f  

peop le ,  in  fa i rness jus t  tha t  one cont rac t  a lone,  about  p lus  

m inus e igh t  o the r  peop le  were  invo l ved in  mak ing  these 

ad jus tments  where  idea l l y  some o f  these peop le  shou ld  

have ca l led  the  process to  a  ha l t  and say ho ld  i t  we are  

busy mak ing  payments  aga ins t  an  i r regu lar  cont rac t .  

 I  am t ry ing  to  ind ica te  tha t  when I  say  the  number  i s  

30  tha t  cont rac t  a lone wou ld  have had about  e igh t  and  

another  cont rac t  wou ld  have had a  cer ta in  amount  o f  

peop le ,  tha t  i s  how peop le  go t  a t tached to  an  i r regu la r  10 

cont rac t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  rea l l y  I  am jus t  look ing  fo r  a  

number,  because  your  ev idence   you ’ve  spoken about  

th i r t y,  you ’ve  spoken about  22 ,  you ’ve  spoken about  12 ,  

a re  you ab le  to  he lp  us  w i th  a  number  o r  no t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Frank l y  tha t  homework  w i l l  have  to  be  

done,  because these numbers  tha t  you are  ment ion ing ,  I  

don ’ t  have an exact  number,  f rank ly  a t  some s tage  wh i le  I  

was there  we thought  the  number  was even over  100 but  

th rough go ing  back in to  the  h is to ry  o f  the  var ious 20 

procurement  i r regu la r i t ies  the  numbers  in  January  2011  

wou ld  have been about  30  and  some o f  those numbers  

in te res t ing ly  enough are  a l so  ca l cu la ted  i n  the  KPMG f ina l  

repor t  o f  November  2011.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now Mr  Mkwanaz i  as  I  unders tand  
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your  ev idence  in  response  to  quest ions  f rom the  

Cha i rperson is  tha t  on  the  bare  in fo rmat ion  tha t  you  had on 

the  spreadsheet  you weren ’ t  ab le  to  ident i f y  o r  de termine  

the  sever i t y  o f  each ind i v idua l  case,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  a t  the  t ime yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  what  we do know is  tha t  by  way 

o f  compar i son you were  in  a  very  good pos i t ion  to  

de termine the  sever i t y  o f  Mr  Gama’s  m isconduct ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And why is  tha t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Ho ld  i t ,  don ’ t  fo rge t  Mr  Gama’s  mat te r  i s  

th ree fo ld ,  two are  procurement  and one  is  non-

procurement .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes bu t  you were  in  a  very  good  

pos i t ion  to  assess i t ,  I  was dr i v ing  tha t ,  because Mr  Todd 

had done tha t  fo r  you ove r  a  space  o f  25  pages,  cor rec t?   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  so  le t  us  go  to  the  m inute  

p lease o f  the  meet ing  o f  the  16 t h  o f  February.  

MR MKWANAZI :    What  page is  tha t?  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The minutes  appears  in  var ious 

p laces bu t  the  f i rs t  t ime i t  was put  up  was by  the  company  

secre tary.   Le t  me take you p lease  to  Bund le  1 ,  page 34.  

MR MK WANAZI :    Okay,  page 34,  my ass i s tan t  has jus t  

gone to  –  okay I  am on page 34.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  Bund le  1 ,  34 ,  now le t  us  go  

to  paragraph 2 .1 .2 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The  Board  had ex tens ive  

de l ibe ra t ions on  the  mat te r,  the  fo l low ing issues were  

h igh l igh ted  in  the  de l ibera t ions;  one,  acknowledgement  

tha t  Mr  Gama was not  cha l leng ing  the  f ind ing  o f  gu i l t  

aga ins t  h im,  bu t  the  sanct ion  imposed,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Second ly  Mr  Gama’s  sanct ion  o f  10 

d ismissa l  was too  harsh  and the  Board  w i l l  suppor t  a  

sanct ion  o f  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  va l id  fo r  a  per iod  o f  12  

months  and f rom what  you have to ld  the  Cha i rperson 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    S ix  months  Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  beg your  pardon,  s ix   months .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    For  a  per iod  o f  s ix  months ,  cor rec t  

Mr  Mkwanaz i?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And f rom what  you to ld  the  

Cha i rperson fundamenta l l y  what  led  the  board  to  tha t  

conc lus ion  is  tha t  you in fo rmed the  Board  tha t  you  had a  

l i s t  o f  cont ravent ions tha t  were  comparab le  to  Mr  Gama’s  

case,  where  peop le  had not  been d ismissed,  cor rec t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You have admi t ted  tha t  you perhaps  

shou ldn ’ t  have crea ted the  impress ion  tha t  they were  l i ke  

fo r  l i ke ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  yes ,  yes ,  I  agree,  they were  no t  l i ke  

fo r  l i ke .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you go on to  –  or  i t  goes  

on to  record  apprec ia t ion  tha t  Mr  Gama can s t i l l  add va lue  

in  the  company,  there  was a  m inor i t y  no t  in  suppor t  o f  the 

reversa l  o f  Mr  Gama’s  sanct ion .  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The company was mandated to  

f ina l i se  Mr  Gama’s  se t t lement  agreement  and then the  

condonat ion  process is  the  norm wi th in  Transnet  and to  

th is  e f fec t  the  Cha i rman was  requested to  d ra f t  a  

memorandum to  employees request ing  tha t  such conduct  

shou ld  cease.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  does tha t  mean? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  means tha t  the  –  in  the  sys tem there  20 

were  too  many  condonat ions and  author i t ies  f loa t ing 

around request ing  condonat ion ,  so  what  the  company as  

t ry ing  to  i nd i ca te  i s  tha t  i t  shou ld  cease and on ly  one  

person wou ld  have the  au thor i t y  to  condone and a t  the  t ime 

the  idea was tha t  i t  wou ld  have been Br ian  Mole fe ,  o r  the 
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Group CEO who wou ld  dea l  w i th  those condonat ions.   And 

yes subsequent ly  i f  I  reca l l  I  had to  dea l  w i th  one 

condonat ion ,  the  VAE Condonat ion  i f  I  can  ment ion  i t  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You have to ld  the  Cha i rperson on 

Fr iday tha t  you accept  tha t  condonat ion  and d isc ip l inary  

ac t ion  are  two d i f fe ren t  concepts ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then  a t  paragraph 2 .1 .3  the  

Board  was o f  the  v iew tha t  under  t he  c i r cumstances  a  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing  wou ld  have been g i ven.  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wou ld  have been g iven,  how wou ld  

tha t  have happened?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman I  am ind ica t ing  tha t  the  Board  

was o f  the  v iew tha t  under  no rmal  c i r cumstances  a  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing  wou ld  have been  g iven.   I t  i s  no t  100% 

cor rec t  s ta temen t  because the  au thor i t y,  o r  au thor is ing  

ind iv idua l  wou ld  have taken a  v iew based on i t s  case 

whethe r  a  wr i t ten  warn ing  i s  taken or  whether  a  

d isc ip l ina ry  –  tha t  sentence is  i ncomple te ,  bu t  ja ,  tha t ’s  20 

cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  mean  what  you say here  is  

e f fec t i ve  i s  tha t  i f  Mr  Gama had app l ied  fo r  condonat ion  

then th is  i s  what  wou ld  have happened.     

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  cou ld  have been den ied  as  we l l ,  yes .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  tha t ’s  what  you were  

fo recast ing .  

MR MK WANAZI :    . . . [ Ind is t inc t ]  bu t  i t  cou ld  have been  

den ied .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You mean condonat ion  cou ld  have been 

den ied?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Den ied  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mmm,  but  whether  g ranted or  den ied  

tha t  wou ld  no t  impact  on  whether  he  shou ld  be  d isc ip l ined  

or  no t ,  tha t  wou ld  be  a  separa te  i ssue?  10 

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman there  are  cer ta in  

c i rcumstances where  condonat ion  wou ld  have been  den ied  

and there fore  the  next  s teps wou ld  have been d isc ip l inary  

ac t ion  needs to  be  taken.   The quest ion  o f  whether  you ’ re  

condoned or  no t  and there fo re  you are  abso lved never  

a rose,  except  in  s i tua t ions where  peop le  do  not  even app ly  

fo r  condonat ion ,  wh ich  is  d i f fe ren t  mat te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  so  as  you  sa id  prev ious ly  even i f  

you are  granted condonat ion  you can s t i l l  be  d isc ip l i ned.  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i rperson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  jus t  want  to  unders tand Mr  

Mkwanaz i  i f  you  don ’ t  m ind.   When i t  says  the  Board  was o f  

the  v iew tha t  under  normal  c i rcumstances a  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing  wou ld  have been g iven what  do  you mean by  tha t ,  
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when wou ld  i t  have been g i ven?   How wou ld  i t  have been  

g iven?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman i t  depends on each ind iv idua l  

case,  because a t  t imes how these condonat ions were  

coming,  they were  coming th rough  what  you ca l l  d i v is iona l  

in te rna l  aud i t  commi t tee  meet ings ,  where  you then  rev iew 

o f fences,  p rocu rement  o f fences i f  I  were  to  ca l l  them tha t ,  

and then based on tha t  d iv i s iona l  in te rna l  aud i t  an  op in ion  

is  then fo rmed  tha t  these o f fences can app ly  fo r  

condonat ion  and these o f fences need to  be  e levated to  the  10 

author i t y  and some o f  them maybe they need d isc ip l ina ry  

ac t ion ,  because o f fences are  comple te ly  d i f fe ren t ,  there ’s  

your  the f t  fo r  ins tance.    I  don ’ t  th ink  any condonat ion  

wou ld  have been  g iven fo r  the f t ,  and those who assau l t  

and a  few o the r  th ings,  there ’s  no  condonat ion  wou ld  have  

been g iven ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  was th ink ing  o f  ask ing  someth ing ,  bu t  I  

have dec ided to  le t  you car ry  on .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank  you Cha i rperson.   Mr 20 

Mkwanaz i  what  you don ’ t  see here  is  any cons idera t ion  or  

under tak ing  by  the  Board  o f  a  rev iew o f  Mr  An t robes ’ 

dec is ion ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .   

ADV MYBURGH SC:  I  mean no one says we l l  th is  i s  what  
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An t robes  found,  we th ink  i t ’s  wrong fo r  these reasons,  the  

Board  is  jus t  dec id ing  th is  mat te r  e f fec t i ve ly  a f resh fo r  

i t se l f  i sn ’ t  i t?    

MR MK WANAZI :   No tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r  a l though  i t  had 

seen the  Ant robes ’ . . . [ in te rvenes]    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  tha t  what  you were  to ld  to  do ,  

then,  and th is  i s  an  impor tan t  quest ion ,  i s  tha t  what  you  

were  to ld  t o  do  by  the  Min i s te r?    I s  dec ide  the  mat te r  

a f resh fo r  yourse l f?  

MR MKWANAZI :    The request  was a  rev iew,  and upon tha t  10 

rev iew the  procu rement  i ssues the re  was some e lements  o f  

un fa i rness on  those two issues bu t  the  th i rd  mat te r  o f  h im 

. . . [ ind is t inc t ]  Mr  Chr is  Wel ls  and the  Board  i t  was overs igh t  

on  the  par t  o f  the  Board  no t  to  tack le  tha t  spec i f i c  i ssue,  

because I  do  no t  th ink  tha t  tha t  Board  wou ld  have taken a  

d i f fe ren t  dec is ion  to  what  Mr  –  Advocate  Ant robes and may 

Mr  Todd had a lso  recommended ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  th is  m inu te  does  

not  re f lec t  any app l i ca t ion  o f  the  m ind by  the  board  to  a  

rev iew o f  Mr  Ant robes ’ dec is ion .   The Board  jus t  dec ides 20 

a f resh what  i t  th inks  shou ld  have happened,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  no  i t  does not  re fe r  to  i t  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  why no t?   Un less  you were  he l l  

bent  on  hav ing  Mr  Gama re ins ta ted  why d idn ’ t  you  

under take a  proper  ob jec t i ve  rev iew? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman in  h inds igh t  tha t  shou ld  have 

been done yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And isn ’ t  the  pos i t ion  tha t  ac tua l l y  the  

ru l ings  o f  the  Cha i rperson o f  the  d i sc ip l inary  inqu i ry,  

because there  were  two,  one on  gu i l t ,  the  o ther  one on  

sanct ion ,  i sn ’ t  the  pos i t ion  tha t  the  mere  ins t ruc t i on  tha t  

you must  rev iew Mr  Gama’s  case had to  s ta r t  w i th  a  

read ing  o f  those ru l ings  and see ing  whether  they cou ld  be  

fau l ted ,  even before  you can look a t  anyth ing  e lse .   

Wouldn ’ t  you agree tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  you Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Jus t  one las t  quest ion  

on  the  board  meet ing ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  Mr  Malangan i  he  says  

in  h is  a f f idav i t  tha t  you sa id  tha t  you had rece ived lega l  

adv ice  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  the  sanc t ion  o f  d ismissa l  was too  

harsh .   D id  you say tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ldn ’ t  ca l l  i t  lega l  adv i ce  tha t  sa id  i t  

was too  harsh ,  a l l  I  was ind i ca t ing ,  I  m igh t  have sa id  i t ,  

was tha t  i f  th is  th ing  is  taken on the  Transnet  Barga in ing  20 

Counc i l  p rocess there  were  chances tha t  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  cou ld  come wi th  a  d i f fe ren t  op t ion  o f  how the 

mat te r  cou ld  have been hand led .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  because I  mean in  t ru th  you 

hadn ’ t  rece ived lega l  adv i ce  to  the  e f fec t  tha t  the  sanct ion  



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 70 of 231 
 

o f  d ismissa l  was too  ha rsh .   A t  best  you had rece ived lega l  

adv ice  crea t ing  as  you sa id  many t imes “some doubt ” ,  

cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Perhaps th is  i s  an  oppor tune t ime 

fo r  me to  ask  you ,  you do now tha t  th is  se t t lement  cost  the  

taxpayer,  and we  w i l l  come to  the  f igures  in  a  moment ,  I  

th ink  about  R17mi l l ion .   Why do  you se t t le  a  case jus t  

because there  is  some doubt?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  am sor ry  Mr  Myburgh,  you p robab ly  10 

mean the  R17mi l l ion  in  te rms o f  f inanc ia l  benef i t s  to  Mr  

Gama.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes I  w i l l  come to  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    O f  cou rse  the  se t t lement  agreement  

went  even fa r  beyond tha t ,  there ’s  lega l  cos ts  and o ther  

th ings.    You mean the  f inanc ia l  benef i t s  to  Mr  Gama? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes I  th ink  perhaps Mr  Cha i rman I  

w i l l  come to  tha t  in  a  moment ,  bu t  the  –  what  was  pa id  to  

Mr  Gama was approx imate ly  R13mi l l ion  and then there  was  

about  R4mi l l ion  in  lega l  cos ts ,  you are  abso lu te ly  r igh t ,  i t  20 

is  the  two togethe r,  bu t  my f igu re  o f  R17mi l l ion  inc ludes 

the  two.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  no ,  no ,  no  I  th ink  I  unders tand what  

you mean,  I  th ink  your  s ta tement ,  I  unders tood your  

s ta tement  to  be  say ing  you wanted to  conf i rm  tha t  he  
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knows tha t  the  se t t lement  ag reement  cost  Transnet  

R17mi l l ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And I  was s imp ly  say ing  you  haven ’ t  

counted the  lega l  cos ts  tha t  they pa id  to  Mr  Gama’s ,  wh ich  

wou ld  be  fa r  more ,  you probab ly  a re  jus t  ta lk ing  about  what  

you jus t  sa id  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  we l l  Mr  Mkwanaz i  we are  go ing  

to  come to  the  f igures  in  a  moment ,  bu t  you know tha t  th is  

was a  very  ex tens ive  se t t lement  wasn ’ t  i t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am aware  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  tha t  i s  rea l l y  what  I  am dr iv ing  a t ,  

why do you se t t le  where  the  cost  i s  enormous,  jus t  

because a t  abso lu te  best  fo r  you there  is  some doubt ,  

tha t ’s  a l l .  

MR MKWANAZI :   That  i s  co r rec t  cha i r.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why d idn ’ t  you jus t  le t  the  process 

run ,  you cou ld  have saved th is  money,  po ten t ia l l y?   Why 

were  you so  he l l  bent  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    In  h inds igh t  Advocate  yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes bu t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  I  am go ing  to  

p ress  you on th i s ,  because th is  i s  a  very  impor tan t  i ssue.    

You have sa id  t ime and t ime aga in  to  the  Cha i rpe rson you  

se t t led  because there  is  some doubt .   Wel l  there ’s  doubt  in  

a l l  l i t i ga t ion .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  jus t  cannot  unders tand even on 

your  own vers ion  what  i s  the  bas is  fo r  en ter ing  in to  th is  

very  expens ive  se t t lement  when a l l  there  i s ,  i s  some doubt .   

Why g ive  away the  money?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman yes there  was tha t  doubt  and 

on the  procurement  i ssues but  in   h inds igh t  I  don ’ t  have  

any doubt  tha t  on  the  th i rd  mat te r  o f  a t tack ing  h i s  

execut ive  s i r  had  the  Board  app l i ed  i t s  m ind to  tha t  th i rd  

mat te r,  I  doubt  i f  th is  –  tha t  Mr  Gama wou ld  have been 10 

re ins ta ted ,  no  there  I  wou ld  have  suppor ted  the  d i smissa l  

as  we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l  Mr  Myburgh ’s  quest ion  is  even w i th  

the  two procurement  i ssues.  

MR MKWANAZI :    O ther  mat te rs?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  why d id  you  and the  Board  dec ide  to  

se t t le  the  mat te r  j us t  because the re  is  some doubt  tha t  was 

crea ted by  a  poor  lega l  op in ion ,  o r  weak,  I  th ink  tha t ’s  the  

te rm you used,  a  weak lega l  op in ion  tha t  was not  reasoned  

in  any substant ia l  way when you had about  th ree  lega l  20 

op in ions say ing  you are  on  s t rong grounds aga ins t  Mr  

Gama in  regard  to  th is  a rb i t ra t ion .   So Mr  Myburgh ’s  

quest ion  is  he lp  us  unders tand why the  Board  thought  i t  

was the  r igh t  th ing  to  se t t le  in  c i rcumstances where  th is  

se t t lement  was go ing  to  be  so  expens ive  and  ye t  the 
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p rospects  o f  Transnet  w inn ing  the  case were  so  good,  to  

your  knowledge in  te rms o f  the  th ree  lega l  op in ions.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman I  have ind i ca ted  tha t  yes  there  

was th is  rev iew by th is  –  wh ich  came in  the  fo rm o f  th is  

weak lega l  op in ion ,  wh ich  then crea ted doubt  bu t  

un for tunate l y  i t  was not  par t  o f  i t ,  because i t  was a  genera l  

s ta tement  on  doubt  w i thout  look ing  a t  the  th ree  issues  

separa te ly,  because as  I  ind ica te  jus t  on  the  3 r d  mat te r  

a lone,  wh ich  no t  p rocurement  re la ted  a  d i f fe ren t  dec is ion  

wou ld  have been reached by  tha t  Board ,  i f  there  was more  10 

emphas is  on  tha t  mat te r  wh ich  is  no t  p rocurement  re la ted .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes Mr  Mkwanaz i  I  am no t  sure  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    I  don ’ t  th ink  you  have got  an  answer.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  don ’ t  th ink  I  have got  an  answer.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  o f  course  i f  Mr  Mkwanaz i  doesn ’ t  

have an answer  he  doesn ’ t  have one.   Fee l  f ree  to  dea l  

w i th  the  issue the  way you see i t ,  i t  i s  an  impor tan t  i ssue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i  you accept  tha t  there  20 

is  doubt  and r i sk  in  a l l  l i t i ga t ion .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  do  accept  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And tha t  doesn ’ t  d r i ve  the  

respond ing  par ty  to  se t t le  a l l  l i t i ga t ion  does i t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No i t  doesn ’ t  ja .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  am jus t  go ing  to  ask  you once more  

I  mean th is  se t t lement  we w i l l  go  in to  the  f igures  in  a 

moment ,  cos t  anywhere  be tween 10 and 20mi l l ion ,  tha t ’s  

how much money  you do led  out  to  Mr  Gama,  and you d id  

tha t  s imp ly  because there  was some doubt  tha t  was not  

even ar t i cu la ted  in  the  op in ion .   That  i s  sure ly  no t  ra t iona l .   

MR MKWANAZI :    Advocate  yes a t  the  t ime tha t  i s  t he  v iew 

we took as  a  Board  and even  tha t  adv ice  as  I  have 

ind ica ted  was no t  thorough par t i cu la r ly  a long the  i ssue o f  

the  th i rd  o f fence  and tha t  i s  why  had i t  been h igh l igh ted  10 

th is  th i rd  o f fence ,  I  doubt  i f  the  Board  wou ld  have reached  

tha t  dec i s ion ,  bu t  on  the  o ther  two mat te rs  there  cou ld  

have been some doubt ,  de f in i te ly  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  bu t  you are  sk i r t ing  a round the  

quest ion .   I  mean i f  there  was some doubt  there  was a l so  

we know a  p rospect  tha t  you cou ld  w in .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Advocate ,  Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Cor rec t  bu t  then why d idn ’ t  you 

a l low an arb i t ra t ion  to  run  i t s  course  then we cou ld  have  

perhaps saved somewhere  be tween ten  and twenty   m i l l i on .   20 

I  mean you knew there  was a  p rospect  o f  be ing  ab le  to  do  

tha t ,  why d id  you not  a l low the  process to  run  i t s  course .  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman as  you r igh t fu l l y  po in ted  out  

advocate  the  issues o f  l i t i ga t ion  can go e i ther  way and a t  

the  t ime i f  I  reca l l  the  Board  cou ld  have been worr ied  
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about  th is  th ing  tak ing  abnormal ly  too  long and there fore  

the  Board  cou ld  have fe l t  tha t  i t  needs to  be  reso lved but  i t  

i s  then wrong lega l  adv i ce  wh ich  is  the  bas i s  o f  say ing  yes 

maybe on the  f i rs t  two issues there  cou ld  have been some 

doubt ,  bu t  on  the  th i rd  i ssue no ,  the  Board  d idn ’ t  have 

good adv i ce  and  a lso  –  ja .   I f  bas i ca l l y  the  Board  wou ld  

have susta ined the  dec is ion  o f  the  d isc ip l ina ry  commi t tee .  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  wou ld  you say i f  somebody sa id  

th is  dec is ion  by  the  Board  is  indefens ib le?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman I  wou ld  tend to  agree w i th  you  10 

because i t  i s  indefens ib le  because the  Board  d id  no t  have 

the  fac ts  o f  the  las t  mat te r  in  te rms o f  tha t  par t i cu la r  

o f fence,  i t  never  sur faced on documenta t ion  tha t  th is  th i rd  

o f fence was a lmost  a  d i smiss ib le  o f fence,  under  any 

c i rcumstances Cha i rman I  agree w i th  tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  what  I  now 

want  to  do  is  dea l  w i th  re levant  concept ,  condonat ion  

whethe r  o r  no t  i t  was app l i cab le  and the  l i ke .   Can I  ask  

you p lease to  tu rn  to  Mr  Todd ’s  fu r ther  a f f idav i t ,  tha t  i s  in  20 

Bund le  3  a t  page . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Th ree?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bund le  3 ,  and i t  s ta r ts  a t  page 156.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I ’ ve  go t  i t  in  f ron t  o f  me.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  wha t  Mr  Todd does  in  th is  

a f f idav i t  i s  i f  you  have a  look a t  pa rag raph 6 ,  he  dea ls  w i th  

your  reason ing  and the  dec i s ion  to  re ins ta te  in  the  l igh t  o f  

the  issue o f  condonat ion ,  and then  a t  parag raph 7  he  says  

th is  exp lanat ion  is  in  my respect fu l  submiss ion  no t  

ra t iona l ,  i t  does  not  r ing  t rue  on  i t s  own te rms .   The  

exp lanat ion  cannot  be  cor rec t  fo r  the  fo l low ing reasons,  

and then he summar i ses four  po in ts  tha t  he  then expands  

upon.    

 F i r s t  condonat ion  was not  –  sor ry  condonat ion  was  10 

a  procu rement  p rocess en t i re l y  d is t inc t  f rom dec is ion  

mak ing  about  the  consequences  tha t  shou ld  f low,  sor ry  

fo l low f rom employee misconduct .  

 Second,  no t  one o f  the  th ree  ins tances o f  

m isconduct  to  wh ich  Mr  Gama u l t imate ly  admi t ted  and fo r  

wh ich  he  was d ismissed was capab le  o f  o r  su i tab le  fo r  

condonat ion  as  an  app l i ca t ion  o f  the  procurement  po l i cy.   

Th i rd ,  such content ions as  Mr  Gama sought  to  make  dur ing  

the  d isc ip l inary  process concern ing  cons is tency o f  

t rea tment  were  fu l l y,  care fu l l y  and fa i r l y  cons idered by  the  20 

d isc ip l ina ry   cha i rperson as  appears  f rom h i s  lengthy  

f ind ings and then  four th ,  as  fa r  as  I  am aware  the re  was no  

repor t  o r  ev idence before  the  Board  when the  dec i s ion  was  

taken to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama which  showed a  t rack  record  o f  

condonat ion  be ing  granted e t ce tera .  
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 Now I  want  to  now go th rough each o f  those po in ts ,  

i f  I  can  take  you  p lease to  the  head ing  “condonat ion  and  

procurement  p rocess d i s t inc t  f rom dec is ions on  employee 

conduct . ”   

 Mr  Todd says to  the  best  o f  my knowledge  

condonat ion  w i th in  the  Transnet  P rocurement  env i ronment  

had noth ing  to  do  w i th  condon ing  ac ts  o f  m isconduct  by  

employees,  and I  unders tand you have accepted tha t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes Advocate  I  agree w i th  tha t  

s ta tement .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Condona t ion  was a  procurement  

p rocedure  under  wh ich  a  person o r  body w i th  au thor i t y  to  

incu r  expend i tu re  was permi t ted  to  –  and now he i s  quot ing  

f rom your  manua l :  

“Condone non-compl iance w i th  the  la id  down po l i cy  

and  procedures and d i rec t i ves  p rov ided.   Such non-

compl iance is  submi t ted  v ia  the  re levant  l ine  

manager  o f  the  employee in  a  par t i cu la r  d iv is ion . ”  

You wou ld  agree w i th  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  tha t  ja .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  re fe r  in  th is  regard  to  the  open ing  

paragraph o f  the  Transnet  in te rna l  memorandum and we  

are  go ing  to  come to  tha t  in  a  moment .   Paragraph  10:  

“ In  th is  way usua l l y  m inor  dev ia t ions . . . ”  

Aga in  the  language o f  the  memo;  
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“ . . . f rom requ i red  procurement  po l i c ies  cou ld  be  

condoned a f te r  care fu l l y  cons idera t ion  by  the  

au thor ised pe rson or  body,  so  tha t  i f  expend i tu re  

was approved or  had been incor rec t  in  these 

c i rcumstances i t  wou ld  no t  const i tu te  unauthor i sed  

or  i r regu lar  expend i tu re  fo r  the  purposes o f  the  

PFMA. ”  

You ag ree w i th  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  you Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And a t  11  the  d is t inc t ion  be tween 10 

condonat ion  as  a  procu rement  p rocedure  and d isc ip l inary  

processes to  dea l  w i th  employee  misconduct  i s  a  log ica l  

d is t inc t ion  wh ich  is  apparent  f rom Transnet  po l i cy  

d i rec t i ves  a t  the  t ime inc lud ing  Annexure  A ,  you have 

a l ready accepted tha t ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  I  agree advocate .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  memorandum dea ls  w i th  the 

au thor i t y  o f  what  i s  re fe r red  to  as  the  d i v is iona l  acqu is i t ion  

counc i l ,  the  procurement  body w i th in  a  Transnet  d iv is ion  to  

condone non-compl iance w i th  p rescr ibed procurement  20 

po l i c ies  and procedures,  do  you accept  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    As  the  memorandum makes c lear  

condonat ions “a re  no t  there  fo r  the  ask ing”  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  you.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  w i l l  be  as  a  genera l  ru le  

condonat ion  shou ld  be  g iven  fo r  re la t i ve l y  m inor  

t ransgress ions o f  p rocurement  ru les  and p rocedures and  

tha t  mater ia l  non-compl iance w i l l  usua l l y  no t  be  condoned 

because these have “PFMA impl ica t ions wh ich  cou ld  resu l t  

in  c iv i l ,  c r im ina l  o r  d isc ip l ina ry  s teps be ing  taken” ,  you 

wou ld  agree w i th  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A condonat ion  submiss ion  was  

requ i red  to  s ta te  whethe r  d isc ip l inary  s teps have been 10 

taken because o f  non-compl iance,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And [d ]  ever  mat te rs  have been 

submi t ted  fo r  condonat ion  where  cer ta in  ind iv idua ls  a re  

found to  be  gu i l t y  o f  t ransgress ions d i sc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  

shou ld  be  cons idered,  you wou ld  conf i rm tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  summary sa id  Mr  Todd the  two 

processes,  one condon ing  minor  non-compl iance w i th  ru les  

and procedures and 2  respond ing  to  employee misconduct  20 

were  a t  a l l  t imes,  bo th  as  a  mat te r  o f  log ic  and as  a  mat te r  

o f  po l i cy  en t i re l y  d is t inc t ,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    They are  d i s t inc t  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then you w i l l  see ,  I  w i l l  come 

back to  the  a f f idav i t  o r  the  body  o f  i t  in  a moment ,  bu t  
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wou ld  you p lease  go to  page 168.  

MR MKWANAZI :    168.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    There  is  Annexure  A and i t  i s  the  

PFM d i rec t i ve  o f  March 2010 dea l ing  w i th  condonat ions  

and rea l l y  what  Mr  Todd d id  i s  he  ana lysed and quoted in  

h is  a f f idav i t  f rom th is  Annexure  A ,  and you have agreed 

w i th  h is  ana lys i s ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes I  do  agree.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  then i f  you go back p lease to  

page 106 . . . [ in te rvenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Maybe befo re  tha t  Mr  Myburgh Mr  

Mkwanaz i  wh i le  on  tha t  page 168 won ’ t  you –  or  no  i t  i s  a t  

page 168 you w i l l  see  a t  the  bo t tom o f  tha t  page tha t  the  

memo says DAC’s  ro le :  

“The d i sc re t ion  wh ich  the  DAC has to  g ran t  

condonat ions must  be  care fu l l y  exerc ised,  tak ing  

in to  account  a l l  the  re levant  fac to rs .   These inc lude 

the  fo l low ing:  

1 .  The ex ten t  and cause o f  the  non-compl iance;  

2 .  The ser iousness o f  the  non-compl iance;  20 

3 .  The reasonab leness o f  the  exp lanat ion  fo r  the  

non-compl iance;  

4 .  The e f fec t  o f  the  non-compl iance on the  fa i rness  

o f  the  procurement  p rocess;  

5 .  Whethe r  the  mat te r  wou ld  in  a l l  l i ke l ihood been  
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app roved had the  proper  p rocesses been 

fo l lowed;  

6 .  Whethe r  the  DAC was approached fo r  

condonat ion  as  soon as  poss ib le  [a t  the  next  

DAC meet ing ]  a f te r  bus iness became aware  o f  a  

non-compl iance. ”  

You see tha t  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  i t  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Those seem to  be  the  fac tors  wh ich  the  

memorandum says shou ld  be  taken in to  accoun t  when 10 

cons ider ing  whether  o r  no t  to  g rant  condonat ion ,  you 

accept  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree Cha i rpe rson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And on the  next  page,  page 169,  you w i l l  

see  a  head ing  tha t  says in fo rmat ion  to  be  conta ined in  a  

condonat ion  submiss ion ,  can you see tha t  head ing? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  can  see tha t  head ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And then i t  says :  

“A t  the  ve ry  least  a  submiss ion  to  ob ta in  

condonat ion  shou ld  conta in  the  fo l low ing  20 

in fo rmat ion :  

1 .  When d id  the  bus iness f i rs t  become aware  o f  the  

non-compl iance;  

2 .  The nature  o f  the  non-compl iance,  inc lud ing  the  

prov is ion  o f  the  PPN [or  const ruc t ion  
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p rocu rement  manua l ]  tha t  was not  fo l lowed;  

3 .  A fu l l  exp lanat ion  fo r  the  non-compl iance,  ie  why  

was the  process no t  fo l lowed;  

4 .  What  s teps w i l l  be  taken to  ensure  tha t  the  non-

compl iance w i l l  no t  occur  aga in ;  

5 .  Has any pe rson been rep r imanded o r  has 

d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  been ins t i tu ted  aga ins t  any  

person because o f  the  non-compl iance [ inc lud ing  

de ta i l s  the reof ] .  

And i f  you go a  l i t t le  down you w i l l  see  a  parag raph tha t  10 

says:  

“Mat te rs  submi t ted  fo r  condonat ion  must  be  

regarded in  a  ser ious l igh t  and where  cer ta in  

ind iv idua ls  a re  found to  be  gu i l t y  o f  t ransgress ions  

d isc ip l ina ry  ac t ion  shou ld  be  cons idered. ”  

You see tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  see  tha t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now in  re la t ion  to  the  th i r t y  o r  whatever  

the  number  i s  o f  condonat ions tha t  you sa id  had been  

granted in  te rms o f  the  l i s t  tha t  was –  tha t  you had before  20 

you in  a  spreadsheet  you wou ld  no t  have had a l l  o f  th is  

in fo rmat ion  to  see in  wh ich  case in  o rde r  to  be  ab le  to  

compare  w i th  Mr  Gama’s  case,  i sn ’ t  i t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  no t  have  had tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    You wou ld  no t  have had a l l  o f  th is  
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in fo rmat ion  regard ing  each one o f  them.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  no t  have  i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Cha i rman I  see tha t  i t  i s  quar te r  

past  e leven,  i s  th is  a  conven ien t  t ime to  take  the  tea  

ad journment .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  take  the  tea  ad journment  and we  

w i l l  resume a t  ha l f  past  e leven.  

 We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  10 

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.   You may seated Mr Mkwanazi .   

Let  us cont inue.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Indeed Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Let  us cont inue.   Your microphone Mr 

Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi  – Mr 

Chairman I  have been asked to face… 

MR MKWANAZI:   The page.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  have to fact  th is way.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh otherwise the TV people.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   So I  am sorry.  

MR MKWANAZI:   They want to see your face bet ter.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Does that  mess up your plan wi th your 

table there? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   I  w i l l  sort  i t  out .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   At  luncht ime but  I  am sure I  can l imp 

on.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Chai rperson thank you.   Mr 10 

Mkwanazi  can I  p lease then take you to the next  top ic  that  is 

deal t  wi th by Mr Todd?  And this is at  page 160 of  Bundle 3.   

He says:  

“No condonat ion would or could have been 

appl icable to Gama’s misconduct . ”  

 Paragraph 13.  

“Qui te apart  f rom the logical  d ist inct ion 

referred to above not  one of  the three 

instances of  misconduct  to each of  which the 

sanct ion of  dismissal  of  imposed on Mr Gama 20 

would have been sui table for or capable of  

condonat ion in the sense contemplated in 

Transnet ’s procurement pol icy. ”  

 So [a]  he deals wi th the Fi f ty Like New locomot ives.   

He says:  
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“The misconduct  in relat ion to the Fi f ty  Like 

New locomot ives arose f rom Mr Gama’s 

conclusion of  a major contract  that  had been 

author ised by the board that  wi th Mr Gama 

fai l ing to comply wi th the s ingle important  

condi t ion prescr ibed by the board which was 

that  local  [South Afr ican]  work performed on 

refurbished locomot ives should be done by 

Transnet i tsel f  and not  by an external  

partner.   Mr Gama’s conduct  in concluding a 10 

contract  that  d i rect ly cont radicted this  

condi t ion was not  a procurement i r regular i ty 

that  could be condoned.  And more 

important ly i t  was not  in fact  condoned by 

the board.   On the cont rary the board 

requi red the contract  to  be cancel led wi th  

Transnet incurr ing var ious signi f icant  costs 

as a resul t .   No quest ion arose of  i r regular 

expendi ture that  could be condoned on 

appl icat ion by Mr Gama.  Mr Gama did not  in  20 

fact  apply for condonat ion and this  would in  

any event  not  have mit igated or  detracted 

f rom the ser ious concerns about his conduct  

which the discipl inary Chairperson found to 

have just i f ied his dismissal . ”  
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 So the long and the short  of  what Mr Todd is saying 

is that  Mr Gama could never have got  condonat ion because 

this i r regular i ty was not  condoned in fact  to  the contrary.   

What the board required was the cancel lat ion of  the contract  

resul t ing in Transnet  incurr ing var ious signi f icant  costs.   You 

wish to comment on this? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  – I  understand ful ly the argument of  Mr 

Todd.  Having said that  though and as he r ight ful ly po ints out  

in terms of  that  board decision.   I  am also now not  sure i f  

th is matter is actual ly meaning in ret rospect  a condonable 10 

matter.   I  am not  sure.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Ja wel l  I  th ink that  is a  concession 

fai r ly made.   

MR MKWANAZI:   I  am not  sure.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  let  me then deal  wi th that .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  Mr Todd says clear ly – he clear ly says 

i t  was not  a matter that  would fal l  under condonat ion that  

would at t ract  condonat ion.   As I  – as I  understand his 

argument maybe not  just  based here but  maybe based 

elsewhere in h is aff idavi ts as wel l .   This was a case where 20 

the board had given in effect  an instruct ion and that  

instruct ion was effect ively def ied by Mr Gama.  Condonat ion 

has got  nothing to  do wi th that  does i t?  

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  does not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MR MKWANAZI:   I  agree Chai rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay al r ight .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then just  to  add to that  Mr Mkwanazi  

so that  deals wi th the misconduct  s ide of  i t  but  on the 

condonat ion side of  i t  Mr Todd says wel l  condonat ion could 

never have been granted because this actual ly was not  

condoned.  What happened is  that  the cont ract  was 

cancel led by Transnet  and i t  incurred var ious signi f icant  

costs.   Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   A l r ight .   Let  us then go to page 161.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Paragraph 3.   We are now deal ing wi th  

GNS.   

“The procurement  i r regular i t ies in re lat ion to the 

appointment of  GNS were completely unsui table 

for condonat ion for var ious reasons.  

1.   F irst  that  procurement process was so 

ser iously f lawed that  no rat ional  person 

could have at tempted to use the 20 

condonat ion procedure to seek to regular ise 

i t .   I  refer to the mult ip le and ser ious 

respects in  which the process was found to 

be deviated – oh sorry defect ive by the 

Chairperson of  the d iscip l inary proceedings 
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brought against  Messrs Khanya and 

Senemala.   As appears f rom the copy of  the 

f indings. ”  

Now I  have taken – you ment ioned those before.  

MR MKWANAZI:  Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Those are the f indings marked B the 

f indings of  Nazier  Cassim SC you would have read them no 

doubt? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  know [00:06:05]  issue yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   And you wi l l  see that  that  f inding 10 

tabulates an absolute l i tany of  i r regular i t ies caused and 

affected by these two employees who were then d ismissed.   

Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Todd goes on to say:  

“Second and perhaps more important ly  of  

re levance to Mr Gama’s posi t ion Mr Gama 

himsel f  had descr ibed i t  as an i rregular  

process which had been mater ia l ly 

misrepresented to  him by the off ic ia l  who had 20 

procured his s ignature on the crucial  

procurement document.   Mr Gama descr ibed 

the process as “ f ishy” and a scam and stated 

that  he would not  have approved i t  i f  he had 

known the t rue facts at  the t ime. ”  
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 You accept  that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.   

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Todd goes on to… 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  accept  that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Todd goes on to say:  

“ I  at tach marked C a t ranscr ipt  of  part  of  the 

discipl inary proceedings that  took place on 

10 February 2010. As is apparent  f rom the 

t ranscr ipt  Mr Gama stated that  when he had 

later seen the conf inement document af ter an 10 

invest igat ion into the matter he had real ised 

that  there were “qui te a few gaps and 

loopholes”.   He had begun to smel l  

“something f ishy” .   Stated that  i f  he had 

known that  i t  was conf inement he would 

probably not  have approved i t .   Conf i rmed 

that  i t  had been improper to stop an exist ing 

tender process when GNS came into the 

picture.   Conf i rmed that  what the relevant  

off ic ia l  had done by represent ing to him that  20 

a tender process had been fo l lowed “was a 

complete f raud” and stated that  “once you 

get  al l  the documentat ion i t  becomes clearer 

what was happening.”   And stated that  at  the 

t ime when he received al l  the re levant  
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documents in June “ i t  became clearer to me 

in terms of  what th is scam was al l  about . ”   I t  

makes no sense says Mr Todd when this was 

Mr Gama’s own stance on the matter to 

suggest  that  the procurement condonat ion 

procedure would have been appropriate in  

these ci rcumstances.”  

 Would you agree wi th that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No I  agree wi th that  ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So we two down.  And then what Mr 10 

Todd says in C is:  

“The thi rd  charge of  misconduct  as you have 

accepted for which the sanct ioned dismissal  

was also imposed on Mr Gama had nothing 

to do wi th procurement at  al l . ”  

 So on th is aff idavi t  and these paragraphs 13 through 

– paragraph 13a,  b and c.  you accept  Mr Mkwanazi  I  take i t  

that  there was simply no basis to come to the f inding that  the 

commit tee did.  

MR MKWANAZI:   The – the commit tee yes appl ied i ts mind 20 

and looked at  the two issues as I  indicated.   And the – there 

was noth ing wrong with the f inding of  that  part icular 

commit tee meaning the Ant robus processes.   There was 

nothing wrong with them yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Oh sorry what I  meant to say is that  
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one simply cannot just i fy the conclusion and decision of  the 

board can you to  reinstate Mr Gama on the basis of  these 

paragraphs i t  is just  impossible.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Chai rman based on Mr Todd’s submission 

which is what we have got  now there could have been a 

di fferent  interpretat ion of  whether  the condonat ion could 

have or could not  have been granted.   But  Mr Todd’s 

analysis indicates that  no condonat ion would have been 

granted under these ci rcumstances.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   And you accept  that? 10 

MR MKWANAZI:   Based on his submission I  accept  that  but  

the thing was not  tested.   When I  say not  tested at  the t ime I  

am not  sure i f  d id Mr Gama discuss some form of  

condonat ion.   I  am not  Mr Gama’s representat ive.    

Because based on – on a d i fferent  type of  –  the f i rs t  

one by the way on the Fi f ty Like New was a st range one.  He 

basical ly d id not  fo l low a board process.    

But  then the quest ion then becomes did he do a 

conf inement in terms of  discussions wi th the author i ty that  

had approved this?  That  is on the f i rst  one.    20 

The same on the second one did he do a conf inement  

on the GNS I  do not  know but  based on what he then said as 

wel l  that  th is th ing was wrong etcetera,  etcetera.  

But  he did not  test  condonat ion on the two issues.   

The last  one of  misconduct  I  – I  – the dismissal  was a fai r  
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assumpt ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes but  let  me put  i t  th is way Mr 

Mkwanazi .   Let  us just  take the Fi f ty  Like New.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You fai r ly  conceded to the Chai rperson 

that  –  wel l  we know that  condonat ion would never have been 

granted – that  we know.  Because the cont ract  was not  

condoned; was not  regular ised;  i t  was cancel led.   But  

leaving condonat ion as ide you have conceded to a quest ion 

by the Chai rperson that  i t  d id  not  det ract  f rom his 10 

misconduct .   That  what had happened here is that  Mr Gama 

had def ied an inst ruct ion of  the board.   Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  agree wi th you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And important  inst ruct ion and his 

misconduct  is ser ious,  is i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Right  so that  is Fi f ty Like New.  Now 

GNS just  so that  you – you fol low.  Mr Todd accepted the 

proposi t ion that  I  put  to him that  Mr Gama’s case in relat ion 

to GNS is that  he signed what was a conf inement bl ind 20 

wi thout  having any regard to anything and al lowed a f raud to 

be perpet rated on Transnet.   That  is his own case.   But  you 

are not  going to condone that  are you? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No you cannot condone that  ei ther.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you would accept .  
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MR MKWANAZI:   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes sorry I  d id not  want to – I  do not  

mean to interrupt  you.  

MR MKWANAZI:   No,  no please cont inue.   No,  no cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And you would accept  that  for a CEO 

of  a major  d iv is ion of  Transnet to  conduct  himsel f  in  that  way 

is qui te appal l ing is i t  not?  To bl indly sign a document that  

al lows a f raud to be perpet rated on the company.   Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You are not  going to condone that  and 10 

you accepted that  is ser ious misconduct .   Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  is – now in hindsight  the – i f  I  was the 

author i ty to look at  condonement  and things I  would – I  

would not  have condoned that  TNS thing as wel l .   A lso based 

on his own admission when this matter was brought into the 

discipl inary inquiry. .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Correct .   Because we know that  you 

t reated h im on the basis as i f  condonat ion had been granted.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja that  is correct  Chairman yes.   Advocate.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Mkwanazi  you say in hindsight  and 20 

you make fa i r  concessions here today.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  in hindsight  because what Mr Todd 

is saying here is real ly  no di fferent  to what was Mr Antrobus 

said in his f indings.   The real i ty is  that  you did not  come to 
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the decision that  you say you would have come to today 

simply because you did not  apply your mind.    You had an 

ul ter ior purpose Mr Mkwanazi  surely  you must  concede that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Not  real ly because st i l l  at  the t ime when 

even I  looked at  my own submissions to th is process I  d id 

indicate that  there was ser ious overs ight  on the type of  the 

advice and the recommendat ion to the board that  the last  

matter which I  v iewed a lmost  as a ser ious misconduct  of  

at tack ing his co l leagues is not  a procurement matter and is 

not  condonable – that  matter.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Hm.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  matter def in i te ly he should have been 

dismissed.   Now at  the t ime of  wri t ing my f i rst  a ff idavi t  I  

interpreted the f i rst  two matters as procurement matters.   

But  now as we go through that  process – this  process I  can 

see that  he conceded – him;  h imsel f  as wel l  that  there were 

not  necessari ly hard-core procurement issues.   

Which is  why the Fi f ty Like New the board had to 

cancel  that  cont ract  wi th the suppl iers.   And also he himsel f  

as wel l  admit ted that  on this TNS contract  accord ing to what 20 

you are indicat ing that  there was something f ishy about the 

contract .    

But  mysel f  at  the t ime of  doing my aff idavi t  I  just 

v iewed these two i tems as procurement – the f i rst  two i tems 

as procurement,  i r regular i t ies or as – as issues relat ing to  
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procurement and no necessari ly  even issues re lat ing to 

misconduct  as is  indicated by the Fi f ty Like New in not  

fo l lowing a board instruct ion.    

And also even the second one of  him signing that  

GNS contract  where f rom what I  p ick up – I  am not  sure i f  i t  

was a conf inement or what but  there is no clear submission 

that  th is should have been condonable as a conf inement,  I  

do not  know ja.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  you do recal l  Mr Mkwanazi  do you not  

that  when you did your f i rst  aff idavi t .  10 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The commission had taken t rouble to make 

avai lab le to you the two rul ings of  the Chai rperson of  the 

discipl inary inquiry as wel l  as… 

MR MKWANAZI:   They did.  

CHAIRPERSON:   As wel l  as Mr Todd’s aff idavi t  as wel l  as Mr 

Todd’s report  that  was before the board.    

MR MKWANAZI:   The board yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   To make sure you could refresh your  

memory,  you remember that? 20 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes I  do.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay al r ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Then in conclusion Mr Mkwanazi  what 

– what Mr Todd says at  paragraph 14 of  page 162 is  to state 

in his ci rcumstances that  the board – and this  is what you 
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had said  

“Had to somehow deal  – sorry – had to 

somehow try and deal  wi th Mr – wi th the 

Gama matter on the assumpt ion that  he had 

been granted condonat ion had i t  been 

offered and therefore had to t ry to put  him in 

a posi t ion that  he could have been in had 

condonat ion been offered simply cannot be 

correct . ”  

 And I  th ink you concede that ,  correct? 10 

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja I  concede that  yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   But  Mr Mkwanazi  I  am going to press 

you on why did you not  come to that  conclusion at  the t ime?  

I t  seems to me you could not  have read Mr Ant robus’ f inding.   

I t  seems to me that  you could not  possibly have read Mr 

Todd’s report .    

CHAIRPERSON:   Or i f  you did read them you may have 

decided to disregard them.  

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  is not  a quest ion of… 

CHAIRPERSON:   E i ther you read them – or ei ther you did 20 

not  read them or i f  you read them for whatever reason you 

may have decided to ignore them.  Okay.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Chai rman I  –  I  d id read Mr Todd’s 

submission of  the 2 February 2010 i f  I  do recal l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  
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MR MKWANAZI:   But  the – I  d id read Mr Todd’s submission 

but  at  the t ime the – that  is  why even my analysis of  what I  

cal led simi lar procurement issues they are not  ident ical  to  

th is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   The other simi lar procurement issues could 

be minor but  again somebody must  look into them compared 

to what is s i t t ing in f ront  of  us.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do you have a c lear recol lect ion that  you 

had read the two rul ings of  the d iscipl inary Chairperson – 10 

the Chai rperson of  the hearing? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chair  I  would have read these but  the one I  

do recal l  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Is Mr Todd’s one.  

MR MKWANAZI:   A l i t t le bi t  more is the Mr Todd one of  –  

which was submi t ted to  the board of  the 2nd February or 

around that  t ime I  do recal l  that  one.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  – wel l  you see those two rul ings are 

qui te comprehensive.  I t  seems to me that  anyone who has 

read them wi l l  not  forget  that  they had read them.  They are 20 

qui te comprehensive you have to put  aside t ime to real ly  

read them. 

MR MKWANAZI:   Not  to – I  do recal l  Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Do you recal l  that  you did read them? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chairman not  as comprehensively  as Mr 
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Todd’s submission of  the 2n d February.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Okay al r ight .   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   And then Mr Todd goes 

on at  page 163 to deal  wi th the content ion that  Gama’s own 

content ions on consistency were fu l ly and fai r ly considered 

in the discipl inary process.   I  mean did you not ice that  when 

you read when Mr Todd’s report  that  the concerns that  you 

say you had about condonat ion and inconsistency those 

were considered by the Chai rperson.   Did you see that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes they were considered.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why did you not  then simply leave 

things be?  He had considered i t .   He had appl ied his mind 

to i t .   He concluded that  there was no meri t  in  i t .   Why did 

you just  overr ide that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chairman I  d id need almost  what you can 

cal l  a – a separate and di fferent  v iew of  these issues 

part icular ly in v iew of  the Publ ic Protector matter etcetera,  

etcetera which would have come much later compared to al l  

these other processes that  had been going on.   So in t ry ing 

to – to – to look at  the Gama matter  there were some un – un 20 

– and I  v iew them almost  as not  ident ical .   There were some 

areas where Mr Gama or whoever would have thought that  

the processes that  deal t  wi th him were unfair  but  looking at  

the issues themselves the – they were not  that  unfai r.   But  

they were some procurement processes which were not 
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handled the same way as Mr Gama’s matter was handled.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes but  Mr Mkwanazi  I  th ink you are 

missing my point .   Mr Ant robus had appl ied himsel f  to that  

content ion that  was made by Mr Gama and he had re jected 

i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   He is a senior counsel ,  he is a  labour 

lawyer f rom what I  have read,  he had been – he was 

acceptable to al l  s ides to run the discipl inary hearing.   When 

you look at  his ru l ings you can tel l  that  he took t ime to deal  

wi th issues that  had been raised very,  very thoroughly.   So 10 

Mr Myburgh’s quest ion is,  why did you and your board think 

that  you could just  overr ide his decision when these very 

issues had been raised wi th him and he had considered them 

thoroughly? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  would not  cal l  i t  overr ide except  that  we 

do – we did look for another opinion part icular ly in  view of  

the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l  process and th is other 

opinion looked at  th is issue and created some doubt  that  we 

could or could not  sustain our  case at  the Transnet 

Bargaining Counci l .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh has at  some state effect ively 

said to you;  you could not  set t le  because there was some 

doubt because in l i t igat ion in arbi t rat ion there is  always 

some doubt.   There is no hundred percent  guarantee that  

you are going to win.   Even when you have a st rong case 
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there is always some doubt.    

Therefore when you were told – when you were given 

an opinion that  in  your view created some doubt that  should 

have been nei ther here nor  there unt i l  the doubt that  was 

created said to you we do not  have reasonable prospects of  

success.   As long as i t  was just  some doubt that  is l ike any 

other case.    

That  should not  have weighed with you at  al l  because 

there is always doubt in arbi t rat ion.   There is always doubt in  

l i t igat ion.   So what he put  you – to you is that  should not  10 

have swayed your  view of  what you should do.   What  do you 

say? 

MR MKWANAZI:   In hindsight  Chairman I  would agree that  

that  doubt  should have been examined further to look at  the 

actual  r isks and which might  have come back and said that  

r isk is – there is actual ly no r isk.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Ja I  agree wi th your input  Chairman. 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi  you see 20 

how you fal l  back now on the Deneys Rei tz advice but  the 

Deneys Rei tz advice does not  say anything about 

condonat ion or inconsistency;  noth ing.  

MR MKWANAZI:   No.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  then explain to … 
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MR MKWANAZI:   I  agree Advocate ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   How did you do th is? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Advocate I  d id indicate that  the Deneys 

Rei tz advice was f rankly very weak.   Because i t  d id not  focus 

on the speci f ics l ike Mr Todd d id the Deneys Rei tz  was a 

weak legal  advice as I  indicated even though there were 

these three issues the last  issue of  misconduct  by Mr Gama 

in terms of  at tacking his execut ives is almost  non-

conf i rmable i f  I  can use the word.    

But  because of  the interpretat ion at  the t ime of  10 

thinking that  these other two issues are actual ly procurement  

issues and therefore when the statements were made on 

unfai rness ei ther to the Publ ic Protector or to whoever and 

things were looked at  we thought  that  there could be a sl ight  

r isk in those f i rst  two.   But  now in  hindsight  looking at  the 

submission by Mr Todd again those were not  necessari ly  

procurement i r regular i t ies they – they were almost  

misconduct  of  – of  not  fo l lowing board resolut ions that  is the 

f i rst  one;  the Fi f ty  Like New.   

And the second one as wel l  the GNS was a di fferent  20 

type of  misconduct  looking at  i t  now where the individual  

concerned did not  apply his mind thoroughly before signing 

whatever documents that  he might  have signed.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You used the words a s l ight  r isk.   Are 

we down to that  now?  You set t led because there was a 
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s l ight  r isk.   That  is what you said r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes I  might  have said that  yes I  agree.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So this cost  the taxpayer somewhere 

between 10 and 20 mi l l ion because you and your board said 

wel l  there is a sl ight  r isk so let  us just  pay him that .   

Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Let  us set t le yes.   Paying the quantum you 

have ment ioned at  the t ime I  am not  fu l ly aware of  the exact  

quantum but  i t  would have come to that  based on the deta i l  

then that  had to be entered in to to quant i fy whatever  10 

set t lement amount was involved.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   We going – we going to come to that .   

Just  to end off  on this topic about the fact  that  the 

Chairperson had deal t  wi th th is.   Can I  ask you please to go 

to page 86 of  Bundle 3.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Page 86 okay.   I  have got  page 86.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So I  would l ike to take you to the 

middle paragraph.   This is a f inding by Ant robus SC.  

“ I t  was contended that  the f i rst  and second 

charges are an ent i rely new formulat ion at  20 

Transnet.   This is  Mr Gama’s content ion.   As 

i t  has never occurred in the history of  that  

company that  a CEO or Senior Execut ive for 

that  matter has been held to have commit ted 

misconduct  for act iv i t ies and pract ices that  
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are usual ly  automat ical ly  condoned and 

accepted by var ious mechanisms and 

commit tees wi th in  Transnet. ”  

 So that  is what Mr Gama and that  is also what you 

found.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And the Chai rperson goes on to  say:  

“Apart  f rom the fact  that  there is no evidence 

to this effect  i t  seems to me that  i f  the 

conduct  in quest ion amounts to misconduct  10 

and then i t  is misconduct  qui te regardless of  

what mechanisms and commit tees wi thin  

Transnet may have to say about that . ”  

 I  understand you to have accepted that  now.  

MR MKWANAZI:   No I  do accept .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A misconduct  of  d i fferent  th ings.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then he goes on to say:  

“ I f  the submission is an at tempt to make out  a case 

of  inconsistency,  then i t  is necessary to say no more 20 

than I  have al ready concluded in the previous 

f indings that  is no meri t  in the case of  al leged 

inconsistency.”  

 But  you just  came to a di fferent  conclusion,  r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    So let  us go perhaps closer even to 

the mark,  to page 164 forward in th is f i le.    

MR MKWANAZI :    164. . .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    One, six,  four.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay I  am there.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So I  want to  take you to the quotat ion 

at  the foot  of  the page.  

“ I t  is further contented that  I  should take into 

account the fact  that  there were in the same 

f inancial  year in which Mr Gama commit ted his acts 10 

of  misconduct ,  some 42 incidents and 

t ransgressions of  corporate non-compl iance or  

i r regular i t ies in respect  of  which nothing was done 

“presumably” by way of  taking discip l inary act ion.”  

MR MKWANAZI :    H’m?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So Mr Gama made a l ist  of  42.   You 

had a l ist  of  30,  r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So he made this case Mr Mkwanazi .   

You laugh.   But  he made the case that  you made at  the 20 

board at  the discipl inary hearing.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And the chai rperson says:  

“ I t  is not  c lear to me to precisely what evidence 

reference was been made in th is regard.   However,  
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insofar as i t  refers to  the repor t  of  the tender 

process audi t ,  th is is no more than a recast ing of  

the al leged inconsistency issue which has al ready 

been rejected in the previous f inding.  

In any event ,  even i f  there is other  evidence to 

which reference is been made in th is regard,  i t  was 

certainly not  to establ ish that  the other incidents 

were of  a simi lar factual  nature or s imi lar ly  

commit ted by a senior execut ive.”  

 And you have conceded that  too that  you have your l ist  10 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    [ Indist inct ]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .but  you could not  establ ish l ike-for-

l ike simi lar i ty,  could you? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  advocate.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So here is the i rony.   The very basis 

upon which the board makes i ts decision is rejected by the 

chairperson and you accept  that  i t  was correct ly  rejected 

now in your ev idence,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  do.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  Mr Mkwanazi  I  am going to put  

to you again.   Surely,  the only rat ional  explanat ion for the 

manner in which you and your board conducted yoursel f  is  

that  you had an ul ter ior mot ive.   You were carry ing out  the 

instruct ion of  the minister to have Mr Gama reinstated.   Is 
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that  not  t rue? 

MR MKWANAZI :    The inst ruct ion was a review and somehow 

at  the t ime, also based on some informat ion which I  had,  th is  

30 or whatever l is t  of  people which I  had seen in January of  

2011.   And al though, as I  have indicated,  they are not  l ike-

for- l ike to even the f i rst  two matters,  i t  d id create some 

doubt on fai rness . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am going to. . .  I  am going to  

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    . . .of  the . . . [ indist inct ]  . . . [ intervenes]   10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  I  am sorry.   I  am going to  

stop you there.   Go back to Mr Myburgh’s quest ion.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And just  answer that  quest ion.   

Mr Myburgh,  do you want to repeat  the quest ion?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  I . . .  essent ia l ly,  what I  am put t ing 

to you Mr Mkwanazi  is the fact  shows that  you and your 

board acted so i rrat ional ly,  that  the only reasonable 

explanat ion is that  you must  have been carrying out  an 

instruct ion f rom the minister to reinstate Mr Gama.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  that . . .  i t  was not  an inst ruct ion to  

re instate.   I t  was an inst ruct ion to review.  Yes,  we d id look 

into that  but  based on this latest  in format ion that  one keeps 

get t ing.    

 Even that  review would have been faul t  or fa lse review 
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in that  some of  the matters that  Mr Gama was charged for,  

he was dismissed and even that  board,  had i t  had that  

informat ion,  would have conf i rmed the dismissal .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  you have an issue that  has. . .  that  

had been deal t  wi th by the chai rperson of  the discipl inary 

inquiry which Mr Myburgh you to at  page 164.   So i t  is qu i te  

clear  the chai rperson deal t  wi th th is issue of  inconsistency.   

He says reference was made to 42 instances,  inc idents or  

t ransact ions.   So he. . .   

 Mr Gama had the opportuni ty to present  his case that  he 10 

had been t reated inconsistent ly  to present  i t  before an 

independent forum chai red by as senior member of  the bar  

paid for by Transnet.    

 He was al lowed to use his own team of  lawyers.   

Lawyers of  hic  choice so that  he could. . .  they could present  

the best  case that  they could for him.   

 He says – and then you are instructed to review his  

case.   You come back.   You review his case.   You do not  say 

to the minister:    

 But  there is a forum where Mr Gama got  a chance to 20 

present  his case.   We should not  in terfere.   We as the board 

wi l l  accept  the outcome whatever i t  is.    

 I f  the. . .  that  forum says we must re instate him, we wi l l  

re instate him.  I f  i t  d ismisses i ts c la im, that  wi l l  be i t .   We 

should not  interfere minister.   Why d id you not  say that? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    At  the t ime,  I  d id not  say that  to the 

minister,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  you agree or  do you not  agree that  

that  should have been your at t i tude?  Then that  should have 

been your board ’s  at t i tude? 

MR MKWANAZI :    At  the t ime, based on whatever rev iew that  

could have been done, that  review would have highl ighted 

that  the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l  could have deal t  wi th  

th is issue in a part icular way and even conf i rmed some of  

the sanct ions that  were appl ied by. . .  into that  process.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    So do you agree or do you not  agree that  

at  the t ime of  the set t lement,  the correct  approach on the 

part  of  your  board should have been:  Minister,  there is an 

independent forum, the Bargaining Counci l  which si ts wi th  

th is matter.    

 I t  has been deal t  wi th by another  independent forum.   

Chaired by an independent chai rperson.   Mr Gama presented 

his case.   He fai led.    

 We did not  interfere wi th the chai rperson of  that  forum.   

He wi l l  go to another forum now.  I t  is independent.   We wi l l  20 

not  interfere.   We wi l l  abide the decision of  that  outcome.  

That . . .   

 Do you not  agree that  should have been your approach 

at  least? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, that  could have been the 
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approach.   I  do agree wi th you.   But  for some reason and in  

view of  an e lement of  certain al legat ions in the Publ ic  

Protector ’s let ter,  then that  review made sense.    

 But  even though that  the view made sense,  the legal  

advice we got  was ext remely weak.   And also,  the so-cal led 

procurement i r regular i t ies that  were sort  of  a l leged to have 

happened.  In Mr Gama’s case.    

 The two key matters,  the . . . [ indist inct ] .   I t  is not  a  

procurement matter  anymore rather  than be a. . .  not  fo l lowing 

board instruct ion but  that  is di fferent  to procurement .    10 

 And even the Genis(?) matter,  f rom what I  p ick up here,  

he h imsel f  d id agree that  i t  is. . .  that  procurement  process 

was faul ty,  et  cetera,  et  cetera.    

 Now at  that  t ime,  as looking at  that  review, we.. .  even 

the advice we got ,  d id not  fundamental ly go to the source of  

where this al leged procurement is coming f rom.   

 Because i f  you go to the source of  where this al leged 

procurement is coming f rom, the complexion of  the matter 

di ffers completely.    

 Because yes,  that  should . . . [ indist inct ]  issues and then 20 

there is an issue of  fa i r,  what I  wi l l  cal l  misconduct ,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  of  course,  you wi l l  concede, wi l l  you 

not ,  that  you should not  put  yoursel f  and the board and your 

board. . .  you should not  put  the matter as i f  you and your  

board were the vict im of  some poor legal  advice.    
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 Because you did have sound and strong legal  advice at  

your disposal  that  had been given by Mr Todd and you chose 

to fo l low what you cal l  the poor legal  advice.    

 I t  was your choice.   I t  was your board ’s choice.   I t  is  not  

as i f  there was no choice to  fo l low sound legal  advice.   You 

agree? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree wi th you,  Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  you 

repeatedly say that  before the decision was taken there was 10 

a review.  There was no review Mr  Mkwanazi .   There was no 

rev iew at  al l .    

 To undertake a review,  you f i rst  have to understand and 

appreciate what Mr Antrobus did.   And then you have got  to 

understand and appreciate why. . .  what he did was wrong.   

You did not  do any of  that .   There was no review.   

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So insofar and I  have put  to  you this 20 

al ready,  insofar . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Advocate . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  let  us just  get  that  one.   So what is the 

answer to that  Mr Mkwanazi?  

MR MKWANAZI :    The advocate’s quest ion is  correct  
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because when you do. . .  when you ask somebody to do a 

rev iew, be i t  that  legal  f i rm, whatever the case.    

 They must  go back to the actual  outcomes and then do a 

proper review.  I  do not  th ink they did.   They just  came with 

a very weak document indicat ing doubt on the process going 

forward,  ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  he is ta lk ing about you and your 

board.   He says i t  is not  correct  that  you and your board did 

a rev iew.  Because when you do a rev iew in a matter l ike 

this,  you would have had to go to  Mr Ant robus’ rul ings and 10 

look at  them careful ly which does not  appear . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  I  concede that .   But  my board did 

not  a do a thorough review.  I t  just  went for a di fferent  legal  

opinion on the fai rness of  the sanct ion,  et  cetera,  et  cetera,  

on the two offences.   And yet ,  in h indsight ,  looking at  even 

those three offences now, the legal  review report  was 

except ional ly weak,  ja.   Or opin ion was except ional ly  weak.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   So I  th ink I  have al ready put  to  

you that  insofar  as the minister ’s  inst ruct ion was that  you 20 

should undertake a review, you did not  do that .   Correct /  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is not  a thorough review.  I  concede to 

that  as we are talk ing to now.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  insofar as the minister ’s  

instruct ion was that  you should simply reinstate the man, you 
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certainly fu l f i l led that  inst ruct ion.    

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  was not  the instruct ion to reinstate.   I t  

was an instruct ion to review the d ismissal  sanct ion on the 

man.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  just  want  to then end off  th is by 

referr ing you to,  I  th ink three parts of  Mr Todd’s repor t  again.   

Under the heading:   Deal ing wi th Sanct ion.    

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry,  Mr Myburgh.   I  just  want to  

fo l low up on your last  quest ion.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  sorry.   I  am just  interrupt ing 

Mr Myburgh.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Not  a problem.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Understanding that  Mr Gigaba had,  

according to your evidence,  inst ructed you to  conduct  a  

rev iew of  the Gama matter  and understanding that  he had 

said that ,  on your evidence,  there was unfai rness.    

 Understanding that  he had given a l ist ,  a basis for  his  

th inking that  there was unfai rness,  namely,  as I  understand 

your evidence,  some execut ives were t reated less. . .  more 20 

lenient ly or less harshly than black execut ives.  

 And yet ,  he had almost  ment ioned the issue of  

condonat ion.   Are you able to  say what outcome of  the 

rev iew would have addressed his concerns on your 

understanding? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, my understanding.   That  

outcome would have addressed a few concerns that  he might  

have had.   That  rev iew would have looked at  whether the 

Gama was fai r  and they were al l  aware that  a process was 

very fai r.   And a lso then,  that  review would have looked into 

what simi lar offences were commit ted . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry,  Mr Mkwanazi .   I  am sorry,  

Mr Mkwanazi .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes?  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  might  not  have art iculated my quest ion 10 

as clear ly as I  should have.   The quest ion is  not  about  

features of  the review process,  okay? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  is not  about  that .   I t  is about  what  

outcome of  that  rev iew process would have addressed his 

concerns that  there had been unfa irness on your  

understanding? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Now, my in terpretat ion of  whatever 

outcome.  I t  could have indicated that  yes there was 

unfai rness in how the Gama matter  was handled.   But  that  20 

outcome did not  even go to the detai l  of  some of  the so-

cal led perceived unfai rness around how the Gama matter  

was deal t  wi th.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  let  me 
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just  end off  by referr ing you to three passages.   I f  you go to 

page 81 of  Bundle 3.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 81. . .   Yes,  I  am there.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So this is  where Mr Todd deals wi th 

how Mr Ant robus deal t  wi th sanct ion and you see at  the foot  

of  the page, he deals wi th charge one.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    He says:  

“The negl igence on Gama’s part  in signing the GNS 

Conf inement document is nevertheless part icular ly  10 

inexcusable. ”  

 Do you see that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then i f  you go over the page to 

page 82 at  the bot tom.   

“Transnet  is placing the posi t ion where i t  can real ly  

not  have been conf ident  once negl igence of  th is  

nature has occurred that  Mr Gama wi l l  in future be 

suff ic ient ly carefu l  to ensure that  he knows whether  

what he is s igning is a conf inement or an open 20 

tender cont ract .  

Game is the CEO of  the largest  div is ion in Transnet  

and in fa i rness,  the company cannot be expected to  

cont inue to employ him in th is  role whi le the 

company l ives wi th the doubt as to  whether or not  
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he wi l l  again in fu ture make an error of  th is nature.”  

 I t  is compel l ing,  is  i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is compel l ing,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  mean, you cannot have a CEO who 

signs a document  bl ind and a l lows a f raud to perpetrated on 

the company,  can you? 

MR MKWANAZI :    You cannot,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then charge two.  I f  you go to 

page 84.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So now we are deal ing wi th the Fi f ty-

l ike-New.  The second paragraph at  84:  

“One must have regard to the fact  that  the board 

needs to be able to be conf idence that  when i t  

delegates author i ty to a Divis ional  CEO, subject  to a 

part icular condi t ion,  that  he wi l l  take speci f ic and 

re l iable steps to ensure that  that  condi t ion is 

compl ied wi th.  

In fa i rness to the Transnet  Board,  i t  would be a big 

ask for the board to be requi red to cont inue in 20 

t rust ing Gama with large management projects when 

he had exhibi ted negl igent  fa i lure of  th is nature and 

wi th these consequences. ”  

 Compel l ing,  is i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is compel l ing,  yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then,  in deal ing wi th the 

unwarranted cr i t ic ism of  Transnet  and i ts execut ives.   At  the 

top of  page 85:  

“Gama’s publ ic statements demonstrate. . .  

 And this stuff  you al l  agree wi th,  at  least .  

“ . . .demonst rate wi thout  doubt  that  there has been a 

tota l  breakdown in t rust  and conf idence between the  

part ies. ”  

 Do you accept  that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do accept  that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   And then,  the damning f inding 

which I  have al ready taken you to ear l ier in my quest ioning 

at  page 88.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 88.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Just  above paragraph 60.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Hal fway through that  quote.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    This is now deal ing wi th charge four.  

“This charge goes to the heart  of  Transnet ’s loss of  

fa i th in Gama and there can be no doubt that  

dismissal  is the only appropriate penal ty  for Gama’s 

conduct  under th is fourth charge.”  
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 And you have accepted that  on many occasions.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree,  Chai rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Right .   Let  me then move to another  

issue and that  is the terms of  the set t lement agreement 

i tsel f .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Before that  Mr Myburgh.   We have the 

si tuat ion Mr Mkwanazi  that  al though you make the 

concessions that  you have made and I  th ink they are 

properly made about the matters that  Mr Myburgh has just  

ra ised wi th you wi th regard to the f indings of  the chai rperson 10 

of  the discipl inary inquiry.    

 You and your board in effect  said:   We want a CEO of  a 

large d ivis ion of  Transnet who signs documents wi thout  

reading them and thus places Transnet in a ser ious f inancial  

r isk.   That  is the CEO we want .   We want him to be 

re instated.  

 Do you agree that  that  is the effect  of  your decision and 

your board? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, I  agree wi th you or your  

comments.   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   And you said in effect  by your 

decision:   Ja,  we. . .  th is CEO def ied an instruct ion of  the 

previous board but  we want him back.   We want him back.   

And of  course,  the other charge has been deal t  wi th.    

 A CEO who publ ic ly cr i t ic ises other execut ives as wel l  
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as the board.   We want him back.   And we wi l l  pay him ful l  

back pay.   I t  is inexpl icable,  is i t  not?  You would accept  

that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, in h indsight  as you ar t iculate 

these,  i t  is inexpl icable part icular ly,  as I  have indicated 

ear l ier on,  the last  charge . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    . . .of  f ight ing the CEO and your board.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Your board.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  is total ly unacceptable.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  p lease 

could you turn to Fi le 1? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Fi le 1. . .   I  am not  sure. . . .   Okay,  let  me 

put  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is Bundle 1.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Bundle 1.  

MR MKWANAZI :    What page?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Page 36,  the set t lement agreement.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 36. . .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So as you know that  the set t lement 

agreement is found in many places in the documents but  i t  

f i rst  came to l ight  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .or was off ic ia l ly provided by the 
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company secretary and that  you f ind at  page 36.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  am sorry.   You said we must go to the 

set t lement agreement at  page 36?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Myburgh? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  yes Mr Chairperson.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay al r ight .    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    That  is  the one that  you signed on the 

22n d of  February,  correct ,  at  page 41? 10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 41.   Let  me go back there.   Just . . .  

Yes,  on the 23r d o f  February.   That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  you signed on the 22n d of  February.   

Mr Gama signed on the 23r d.  

MR MKWANAZI :    On the 22n d of  February.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay,  the 22nd. . .  I  th ink i t  is the 22nd here.   

I  cannot see.   Ja,  the 22nd of  February.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And Mr Gama signed i t  the next  day i t  20 

appears.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  appears that ,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  am going to come to the terms of  th is  

in more deta i l  but  Mr Mkwanazi  what I  am.. .  I  have always 

been int r igued to f ind out  f rom you is.  
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 Would you accept  that  Mr Gama during these 

negot iat ions took you to the cleaners?  That  you on behal f  of  

Transnet completely capi tulated dur ing the course of  the 

negot iat ions?  You could not  have done a worse deal  for 

Transnet.    

MR MKWANAZI :    In hindsight ,  Mr Myburgh,  Advocate 

Myburgh.   Just  based on that  last  i tem we have been 

discussion of  misconduct  to his col leagues,  the CEO and the 

board.    

 There would have been no such set t lement agreement  10 

because I  would have supported the view of  a dismissal .    

 But  on what  I  can then def ine as a preconceived 

interpretat ion of  procurement i r regular i t ies on those two 

other matters which now in hindsight ,  some of  them are not  

even procurement  i r regular i t ies.    

 I f  you look at  the Fi f ty- l ike-New, he basical ly d id not  

fo l low a board instruct ion.   Then on the Genis cont ract ,  there 

is an element of  a procurement  i r regular i ty because he 

conf ined something that  he had not  appl ied his mind too.   

Yes.    20 

 But  based on that  last  matter of  taking his col leagues,  

th is th ing would have not  been even negot iated and I  would 

not  have accepted such an agreement.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You see,  I  th ink you might  

misunderstand my quest ion.   I  am deal ing wi th  a very 
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generous terms of  the set t lement agreement.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Oh,  yes,  yes.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    The represent  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    P lease cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .complete capi tulat ion and the 

bounty of  benef i ts for Mr Gama.  So let  me start  by asking 

you the quest ion again.   Do you accept  that  dur ing the 

negot iat ions – and I  am talk ing about the terms and 

condi t ions that  we agreed upon,  the payments that  you 

undertook to make him, the costs contr ibut ion that  you 10 

undertook to make – you complete ly capi tulated dur ing the 

negot iat ions,  correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    A complete capi tulat ion is a st rong word 

but  yes I  would accept  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]   Wel l ,  Mr Mkwanazi .   I  am 

thinking of  a st ronger word.   I  th ink Mr Myburgh is being very 

kind to you . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja.   Maybe . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .and your board.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    No.   Ja.   Maybe advocate,  as you take me 

through some e lements of  th is set t lement agreement ,  I  can 

explain the think ing at  the t ime.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Sorry,  Chai r.   A lr ight .   So you accept  

that  i t  was a complete capi tulat ion? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    Complete is a st rong word but  I  accept  

that  i t  looks l ike i t  was more in favour of  Mr Gama than in  

favour of  Transnet .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  could you do. . .  could you have 

done a worse agreement for Transnet? 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do not  know.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Mkwanazi  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  would be speculat ion in 2020.   Where 

are we now?  2020.   This was 2011,  yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  I  do not  want to be 

f l ipper but  how could you have done a worse deal  for  

Transnet?   

MR MKWANAZI :    Now, when you say a worse deal .   You 

would have to think about the ci rcumstances at  the t ime in  

terms of  whether there could have been a worse st i l l?   

 The answer is maybe is yes.   I  do not  know.  But  that  

quest ioning might  be asked and I  might  have to respond,  

invi t ing . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Mkwanazi .  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  you ca l led th is is a 

set t lement agreement.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is i t  not? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You sought to set t le a dispute,  is  i t  not?  

And that  d ispute  was Mr  Gama’s  un fa i r  d ismissa l  d ispute  

w i th  Transnet ,  i s  i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    He had re fe r red  h is  d ispute  to  the  

Transnet  barga in ing  counc i l  to  t ry  and get  re l ie f  f rom h is  

g r ievance,  h is  fee l ing  tha t  he  had  been t rea ted  unfa i r l y,  i s  

i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    And i f  he  go t  what  the  barga in ing  counc i l  

cou ld  g ive  h im,  what  he  wou ld  have ca l led  h is  f i rs t  p r ize  

there ,  he  wou ld  have been ve ry  happy,  i s  i t  no t?   I f  he  go t  

h is  f i rs t  p r ize .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  no t  know,  Cha i rman 

CHAIRPERSON:    He had a  f i rs t  p r ize  obv ious ly.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You go to  cour t ,  you have a  f i rs t  p r ize ,  

you go to  a rb i t ra t ion ,  you know what  you wou ld  l i ke  to  ge t .   

I f  you  do not  ge t  you r  f i rs t  p r ize ,  you might  have your  20 

second p r ize .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I f  he  go t  h is  f i rs t  p r ize  he  wou ld  have  

been very  happy.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    Now h is  f i rs t  p r ize  wou ld  have inc luded 

re ins ta tement ,  i s  i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And re ins ta tement  w i th  fu l l  back pay and  

benef i t s ,  tha t  wou ld  have been,  I  guess,  h is  f i rs t  p r ize .   

Maybe he –  we l l ,  hav ing  looked a t  h is  s ta tement  tha t  he  

sent  to  the  barga in ing  counc i l ,  I  d id  no t  see anyth ing  tha t  

says he  was seek ing  costs  f rom the  barga in ing  counc i l .   I t  

may be tha t  tha t  may have been dea l t  w i th  in  some o ther  

document  bu t  tha t  was not  there .   But  you gave h im much  10 

more  than the  ba rga in ing  counc i l  cou ld  have g iven h im.   At  

leas t  tha t  much you know,  do  you not?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  yes ,  a l though myse l f  too  I  am 

not  sure  now what  the  barga in ing  counc i l  cou ld  have done  

or  whether  wou ld  the  ba rga in ing  ru l ing  wou ld  have covered 

coverage o f  cos ts ,  e tce tera .   As  I  s i t  here ,  I  do  no t  reca l l  

the  exact  documenta t ion  a f te r  he  had submi t ted ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  the  barga in ing  counc i l ,  i f  i t  found  

tha t  he  had been  –  h is  d ismissa l  was substant ive l y  un fa i r,  

i t  cou ld  have ordered h is  re ins ta tement  wh ich  cou ld  have  20 

meant  fu l l  benef i t s  and back pay  bu t  i t  cou ld  a lso  have 

meant  he  wou ld  ge t  re ins ta tement  bu t  no  back pay because  

i t  m igh t  say  i t  i s  no t  as  i f  he  was innocent ,  he  had done  

someth ing  te r r ib l y  wrong.   You are  admi t t ing  …[ in te rvenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  agree w i th  you,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    So  i t  m igh t  have sa id  no  back pay,  you 

know?  I t  m igh t  have sa id  no t  even re ins ta tement  bu t  

maybe shou ld  be  g iven some compensat ion ,  maybe s ix  

months  compensat ion ,  maybe  one  year,  bu t  no  

re ins ta tement  because i t  m igh t  say  th is  person was  a  CEO 

of  the  la rgest  d iv is ion  in  Transnet ,  he  was found gu i l t y  o f  

ser ious ac ts  o f  m isconduct ,  he  admi ts  tha t  he  was proper ly  

found gu i l t y,  th is  person shou ld  no t  be  taken back or  i t  

m igh t  have sa id  le t  h im go back bu t  no t  w i th  fu l l  back pay.   

I  doubt  tha t  i t  wou ld  have ordered costs  bu t  maybe i t  wou ld  10 

but  you gave h im  much more  than tha t .   That  you do know,  

do  you not?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  do  know,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you.   And we w i l l  come to  

the  de ta i l .   Bu t  why d id  you t rea t  h im so  generous ly?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  my unders tand ing  a t  the  t ime,  

as  we were  d iscuss ing  th is  se t t lement ,  the  o the r  rou te  

cou ld  have been  coming out  o f  t ha t  Transnet  barga in ing  

process cou ld  have led  to  fu r ther  l i t i ga t ion  and I  am not  20 

sure  in  te rms o f  the  lega l  rou te  bu t  i t  wou ld  have taken –  i t  

cou ld  have taken  qu i te  a  l ong t ime in  te rms o f  se t t l ing  the  

mat te r  and ye t  the  bus iness a t  the  t ime was not  do ing  tha t  

we l l ,  too  many Act ing  CEOs,  e tce te ra ,  i t  had i ts  own 

in te rna l  p rob lems wh ich  needed to  be  t ied  down.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  do I  unders tand you to  be  say ing  

tha t  you were  –  your  des i re  or  need to  have Mr  Gama was 

so  s t rong tha t  you s imp ly  pa id  h im  whatever  he  asked fo r?   

I s  tha t  what  you say?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Not  rea l l y.   I  wou ld  have to  go  back to  

the  h is to ry  o f  the  documents  tha t  were  c i r cu la t ing  and see 

what  he  had asked fo r.   I  do  no t  reca l l ,  Cha i rperson.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:     Bu t ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  what  you do not  

see he re  is  any g ive  and take ,  so  when you se t t le  l i t i ga t ion  

o f  th is  na ture ,  espec ia l l y  where  someone i s  accept ing  a  10 

f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  and they are  accept ing  tha t  in  par t  

they are  to  b lame fo r  the i r  d ismissa l  as  a  consequence,  i t  

i s  most  unusua l  fo r  the  employer  then to  g ive  the  employee 

every th ing  o ther  than the  k i t chen s ink  by  way o f  a  

se t t lement .   I  mean,  a re  you ab le  to  exp la in  why you  

t rea ted  h im so  generous ly?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  yes ,  i t  m igh t  on  the  face  o f  i t  

looks  l i ke  a  generous se t t lement  bu t  there  are  some 

e lements  o f  i t  wh ich  a re  no t  tha t  generous.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Mkwanaz i .  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  sor ry,  bu t  you cannot  –  i t  

does not  jus t  look  l i ke  i t  i s  a  generous,  i t  i s  an  ex t remely  

generous se t t lement  to  h im.   I  thought  you wou ld  make tha t  

concess ion  a t  leas t .   I t  i s  no t  tha t  i t  looks  l i ke ,  i t  i s  an  
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ex t remely  generous se t t lement .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  i s ,  Cha i rman,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why d id  you want  to  t rea t  Mr  Gama 

so generous ly?   Why?  

MR MK WANAZI :    The word  generous ignores the  fac t  tha t  

when we looked  a t  h is  lega l  fees f rom the  two separa te  

processes,  tha t  he  must  be  re funded 75%,  he  s t i l l  was 

l iab le  fo r  the  25%.   That  i s  maybe on the  lega l  fees.   Now 

on the  o the r  mat te rs  tha t  dea l t  w i th  tha t  se t t lement ,  the  10 

assumpt ion  wou ld  have been tha t  i f  you  look a t  the  

Transnet  remunera t ion  po l i cy  o r  whatever  a t  the  t ime,  I  am 

not  sure  then what  o ther  benef i t s  as  th is  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing  wou ld  have meant  in  te rms o f  h im recoup ing  some 

o f  the  los t  income tha t  he  los t  due  to  suspens ion ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  le t  me ask you 

th is  way.    Why d id  you cap i tu la te  in  the  negot ia t ions  as  

you accept  you d id .   Why?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  th ink  i t  i s  an  easy 

word  to  say,  cap i tu la t ion .   My unders tand ing ,  he  m ight  20 

have been ask ing  fo r  more .   I  do  no t  have the  aud i t  t ra i l  o f  

some o f  whatever  he  m ight  have been ask ing  fo r,  I  do  no t  

have i t  in  b lack  and wh i te .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  jus t  a t   -  we 

unders tand,  I  mean,  you were  a t  the  t ime and remain  a  
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very  exper ienced bus iness pe rson,  no t  so?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No doubt  you have negot ia ted  many 

dea ls  in  your  t ime.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  we do know is  you were 

the  lead negot ia to r  he re ,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And what  we a lso  know i s  tha t  when  

you negot ia ted  w i th  Mr  Gama you  d id  tha t  beh ind  c losed  10 

doors ,  one-on-one w i th  h im,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    There  was on ly  meet ing ,  i f  any,  bu t  I  

wou ld  l i ke  h im as  we l l  a t  some s tage because th is  th ing  o f  

these c losed door  assumpt ions,  i t  i s  a  long t ime ago.   I  do  

no t  even reca l l  rea l l y  i f  we had  tha t  one-on-one even 

though I  accept  tha t  i t  m igh t  have happened.   But  ja ,  le t  us  

assume tha t  i t  d id  happen but  I  hope a t  some s tage he as  

we l l  w i l l  make h is  own a f f idav i t ,  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  the  po in t  i s  there  is  no  one 

tha t  can te l l  us  why you cap i tu la ted  o ther  than you  20 

because you brought  no  w i tnesses to  the  negot ia t ions .    

 So le t  me jus t  re f resh your  memory.   The Deneys  

Re i tz  consu l ta t ion  no te  o f  the  22  January  re f lec ts  tha t  a f te r  

the  caucus you then met  p r i va te l y  w i th  Mr  Gama,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mapoma’s  ev idence about  –  and 

tha t  was on a  Saturday,  Mr  Mapoma’s  ev idence about  

another  meet ing  on  the  weekend a t  the  Inanda  Count ry  

C lub  is  tha t  he  sa t  wa i t ing  wh i le  you and Mr  Gama 

negot ia ted  p r iva te ly,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  le t  us  –  I  jus t  want  

to  ment ion  someth ing .   You sa id  somet ime,  I  th ink  on  

Fr iday,  tha t  Mr  Gama wanted –  was the  one who came wi th  10 

the  idea o f  hav ing  a  one-on-one  meet ing  w i th  you.   You 

remember  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  reca l l  and h i s  a rgument  then,  tha t  i s  

why -  th is  th ing  happened n ine  and ha l f  years  ago,  h is  

a rgument  then was he d id  no t  t rus t  the  conf ident ia l i t y  o f  

our  d i scuss ions i f  there  were  too  many peop le  in  tha t  room.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  maybe Mr  Myburgh w i l l  dea l  w i th  

tha t  in  due course  but  in  the  –  I  th ink  i n  the  consu l ta t ion  

no te  f rom Deneys Re i tz ,  e i ther  tha t  o r  another  l e t te r  o f  

memo,  i t  i s  sa id  tha t  you sa id  you want  a  one-on-one 20 

meet ing  w i th  Mr  Gama.   That  does not  suggest  tha t  you 

were  say ing  Mr  Gama wants  a  one-on-one meet ing  w i th  

you,  i t  suggests  you were  the  one  who wanted the  one-on-

one w i th  h im.   Do  you remember  see ing  tha t  no te?  

MR MK WANAZI :   Chai rman,  I  do  no t  reca l l  say ing  I  wanted  
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a  one-on-one bu t  I  do  reca l l  Gama request ing  a  one-on-

one.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay,  a l r igh t .   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i rman.   So le t  us  

go  to  th is  se t t lement  agreement ,  so  as  to  speak.   A t  

parag raph 3 :  

“Mr  Gama re turned to  Transnet  w i th  e f fec t  f rom 23 

February  2011 and is  to  resume dut ies  as  the  CEO 

of  TRF on 1  Apr i l . ”  

I s  tha t  cor rec t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  I  mean,  a  s t range fea ture  o f  th is  

i s  tha t  Mr  Gama s igns the  agreement  on  23  February  and  

h is  du t ies  then resume wi th  e f fec t  f rom tha t  day.   That  we –  

I  unders tand.   Then i t  says :  

“Any employment  benef i t s  tha t  were  due to  h im fo r  

the  in te rven ing  per iod  30  June 2010. . . ”  

When he was d i smissed.  

“ . . . to  23  February  2011 in  te rms o f  h is  employment  

cont rac t  w i l l  be  deemed to  be  fu l l y  res tored. ”  20 

Is  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  there  was no compromise ,  he  d id  

no t  g ive  an  inch  and you d id  no t  requ i re  any compromise ,  

i s  tha t  cor rec t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  as  i f  you  are  dea l ing  w i th  somebody  

tha t  had done abso lu te l y  no th ing  wrong and was jus t  

d ismissed by  Transnet ,  somebody who is  innocent ,  

comple te l y  innocent .   You unders tand tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you.   Then i t  says :  

“The fu l l  res to ra t ion  o f  bene f i t s  en ta i l s  the  10 

fo l low ing.  

1 .  Payment  o f  Mr  Gama’s  shor t  te rm  benef i t s  wh ich  

were  due to  h im in  the  in te rven ing  per iod .  

2 .  Payment  o f  Mr  Gama’s  long te rm benef i t s  wh ich  

were  due to  h im in  the  in te rven ing  per iod .  

3 .  Restora t ion  o f  Mr  Gama’s  sa la ry  fo r  the  

in te rven ing  per iod . ”  

And then a  prov is ion  as  to  where  the  amounts  must  be  

pa id .   So he gets  a l l  o f  h is  shor t  te rm benef i t s ,  a l l  o f  h is  

long te rm benef i t s  and h is  fu l l  sa la ry,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now i f  I  cou ld  jus t  ask  you  to  tu rn  

fo rward  to  page  80 o f  bund le  1 ,  the  las t  page  o f  the 

company secre tary ’s  second a f f idav i t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 80.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    And you  see a t  the  foo t  o f  the  

prev ious page 79 ,  she reco rds:  

“ :The tab le  be low as p rov ided by  human resources  

prov ides a  de ta i l ed  breakdown o f  what  was pa id . ”  

So Mr  Gama got  by  way o f  back  pay fu l l  sa la ry  o f  R2.8  

m i l l ion ,  STI  bene f i t s  o f  R2.5  m i l l ion ,  LTI  payments  o f  R2.9  

m i l l ion ,  a  Transnet  re fund sav ing  o f  24  000 and then LTI  

payments  o f  ano ther  4 .7  m i l l ion  and you add a l l  o f  them 

up,  tha t  comes to  13  mi l l ion ,  a  fu l l  res tora t ion  o f  eve ry  cent  

w i thout  any compromise  on h i s  pa r t  and w i thout  any  10 

reduct ion  hav ing  been secured by  you dur ing  the 

negot ia t ion .   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And jus t  to  conf i rm,  you d id  a l l  o f  

th is  because where  we landed up in  your  ev idence is  tha t  

you were  conv inced tha t  there  was a  s l igh t  doubt  tha t  you 

cou ld  lose  the  l i t iga t ion .    

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  mean,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  tha t  i s  

as ton ish ing .   Th i s  i s  –  we have not  gone to  costs  ye t ,  bu t  20 

the  taxpayer  fo rked out  13  m i l l ion  here  because you  

conc luded there  was a  s l igh t  doubt  you cou ld  lose  the  

l i t iga t ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Does  tha t  accord  w i th  your  
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p r inc ip les  and knowledge o f  sound  corpora te  governance? 

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  the  quest ion  o f  sound  

corpo ra te  governance,  what  one was t ry ing  to  do  here  was 

to  res tore  to  the  ind iv idua l  what  he  m ight  have had had 

th is  p rocess o f  -  tha t  led  to  h is  d ismissa l  wou ld  have been  

found want ing  o r  un fa i r  bu t  then aga in ,  based  on my  

submiss ion  tha t  th is  ind iv idua l  wou ld  no t  have been  

re ins ta ted  i f  charge 4  o f  a t tack ing  h is  co l leagues had  

sur faced s t rong ly  in  the  lega l  adv i ce  tha t  one had got  then.   

So a l l  th is  found  not  have been pa id  and a l l  th is  t ype o f  10 

se t t lement  wou ld  never  have happened.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  then,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  le t  me 

a lso  then dea l  g loba l l y  w i th  the  issue o f  cos ts  and  we w i l l  

come to  the  de ta i l  perhaps a f te r  lunch.   Cou ld  you  p lease  

tu rn  to  page –  I  want  to  take  you to  bund le  2  now and ask 

you to  tu rn  to  page 164.  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i r,  I  am be ing  ass i s ted  he re .   Page 

164.   Okay,  I  need to  take  i t  ou t ,  the  wr i t ing  i s  qu i t e  smal l .   

Cha i rman,  I  have got  th is  document  page 164.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t  and  tha t  a  schedu le  in  b lue ,  

i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  looks  l i ke  a  schedu le  in  b lue ,  yes ,  i t  

i s .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   So i f  you  l ook –  and I  w i l l  
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take  you to  the  de ta i l  a f te r  lunch but  i t  you  look on  the  fa r  

r igh t  hand s ide ,  the  las t  th ree  l ines  o f  the  las t  co lumn.  

MR MKWANAZI :    The las t  th ree  l ines ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  you  see is  tha t  there  were  

th ree  payments  tha t  were  made to  Mr  Gama and/or  

a t to rneys o f  cos ts .   The f i rs t  was fo r  1  m i l l i on  or  so .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    The second fo r  1 .7  m i l l ion  and the  

th i rd  fo r  1 .4  m i l l ion .   So i f  you  add those up,  in  add i t ion  to  

the  13  mi l l ion  tha t  Mr  Gama got  by  way o f  back pay,  shor t  10 

te rm benef i t s  and  long te rm benef i t s  o r  incent ives ,  he  was  

a lso  pa id  R4 mi l l ion  in  costs .   Do you see tha t?   R4 mi l l ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see  i t  as  the  document  ind i ca tes  here .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Okay.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  I  see i t ,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  see  you  –  I  see you are  a  l i t t le  

s tunned.   I  unders tand …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  am,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Ja .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am because my  in te rpre ta t ion  o f  h is  so-20 

ca l led  lega l  cos ts  and tha t  me tha t  do  no t  unders tand –  ja ,  

I  am s tunned,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  you were  the  negot ia to r.   You 

were  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  t rue ,  Cha i rman.   A t  the  t ime th is  
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de ta i l  was not  in  f ron t  o f  me,  yes ,  t rue .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t ,  o f  course ,  i f  you  agree on  pay ing  

somebody 75% or  whatever  cost  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    …you wou ld  have an idea what  the  to ta l  

cos t  wou ld  be  and what  there fo re  75% wi l l  be .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id  no t  have  a  fu l l  p ic tu re  o f  i t  and 

funny enough,  look ing  a t  th is  schedu le  f rom Advocate  

Myburgh,  I  see he was pa id  someth ing  on  the  16  Apr i l  

2015.   I  do  no t  know what  tha t  payment  was fo r  because 10 

whatever  payment  tha t  shou ld  have been done,  they shou ld  

have been done  in  2011 and no  payments  shou ld  have 

been done in  2015.   I  t ru ly  do  no t  know what  these  

payments  are  fo r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    We wi l l  come to  the  de ta i l  in  the  

moment ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  bu t  do  I  unders tand f rom your  

answer  to  the  Cha i rperson ’s  quest ion  tha t  when you 

negot ia ted  and you agreed on th is  75% cont r ibu t ion ,  you  

d id  no t  even know how much i t  was go ing  to  cost  Transnet?  

MR MKWANAZI :    A t  the  t ime,  Cha i rman,  yes ,  I  d id  no t  20 

know because I  d id  no t  have the  in fo rmat ion  in  f ron t  o f  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  tha t  is  unbe l ievab le .   A re  you 

now conced ing   be fore  th is  Commiss ion  tha t  you  entered 

in to  an  agreement  w i th  Mr  Gama when you d id  no t  even 

know how much i t  was go ing  to  cos t  Transnet?   That  i s  how 
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generous you were .   That  i s  how anx ious you were  to  fo r  

some reason se t t le  w i th  th is  man.   Mr  Mkwanaz i .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay,  Advocate  Myburgh,  I  am there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you want  to  comment  on  what  Mr  

Myburgh has jus t  pu t  to  you?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  l i ke  to  comment .   For  whatever  

reason,  I  was under  the  impress ion  tha t  the  so-ca l led  

Gama’s  costs  were  fa r  lower  than  th is  and a l so  some o f  

those tha t  were  pa id  in  2015,  i t  i s  l i ke  I  do  no t  how many.   I  

do  no t  know what  they are  bu t  even those tha t  wou ld  have 10 

been pa id  ear l ie r  on ,  my assumpt ion  was tha t  the  peop le  

process ing ,  wh ich  wou ld  have been in  Group F inance and 

Group Lega l ,  wou ld  have looked  a t  the  va l id i t y  o f  each 

invo ice  be fore  pay ing ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t .   Wel l ,  we w i l l  come to  tha t .   

Now le t  us  car ry  on  w i th  the  se t t lement  agreement  back a t  

page 38 p lease o f  bund le  1 .  

MR MK WANAZI :    38  o f  bund le  1 .   I  th ink  i t  i s  th is  one.   

Page 38,  I  am there ,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can I  ask  you p lease to  have a  look  20 

a t  paragraph 3 .3 :  

“Mr  Gama i s  deemed to  have served the  s ix  months  

f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing .    The f ina l  w r i t ten  warn ing  w i l l  

be  deemed to  have been e f fec t i ve  f rom 29 June to  

28  December  2010. ”  
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Cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cor rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  by  the  t ime Mr  Gama came back  

in to  the  employ  o f  Transnet  w i th  e f fec t  f rom 23 February  

2011 th is  f ina l  warn ing  had come and gone.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I s  tha t  rea l l y  the  best  you cou ld  do ,  

Mr  Mkwanaz i?  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  regard  to  somebody who had been  

proper ly  found gu i l t y  o f  th ree  very  ser ious ac ts  o f  10 

m isconduct?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  tha t  was the  proposa ls  a t  the  

t ime and in  re t rospect  i t  shou ld  have been d i f fe ren t ,  ja .   

Shou ld  have been d i f fe ren t ,  I  agree.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  why were  you so  weak  in  the 

negot ia t ions?  

CHAIRPERSON:    You are  Cha i rman o f  a  ve ry  l a rge  s ta te  

owned ent i t y,  Transnet .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You are  Cha i rman o f  i t s  board .   Why  20 

were  you so  weak a t  the  negot ia t ions?  Why d id  you not  

say  to  Mr  Gama,  Mr  Gama,  you  admi t  yourse l f  tha t  you 

were  proper ly  found gu i l t y  o f  th ree  ser ious  ac ts  o f  

m isconduct .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  Cha i rman …[ in tervenes]  
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CHAIRPERSON:    [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

you must  have  a  f ina l  w r i t ten  warn ing  tha t  w i l l  s ta r t  

opera t ing  when you wr i t ten .   Why do you not  say  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  cou ld  have sa id  tha t  bu t  a t  

the  t ime tha t  i s  the  v iew tha t  I  took  and – ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  do  no t  norma l ly  use  s t rong language,  

Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  bu t  what  wou ld  you say i f  somebody says  

th is  was a  nonsens ica l  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  a t  the  t ime th is  was d iscussed  

in  one o f  the  o ther  commi t tees,  we d id  d iscuss o ther  t ypes 10 

o f  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  bu t  eventua l l y  we agreed on do ing  

i t  th is  way.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  my quest ion  is ,  you are  

negot ia t ing  a  se t t lement  o f  a  d ispute ,  a  d ismissa l  d ispute ,  

the  employee concerned i s  a  fo rmer  CEO of  the  la rgest  

d iv is ion  o f  Transnet ,  he  has been found gu i l t y  o f  th ree  

ser ious ac t s  o f  m isconduct .   By  th is  t ime he accepts  tha t  

he  was gu i l t y  o f  these.   Now you are  say ing  okay,  we w i l l  

re ins ta te  you bu t  there  must  be  some sanct ion  fo r  your  

m isconduct .    20 

I  take  i t  tha t  you must  have sa id  –  or  when you 

spoke about  a  sanct ion ,  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  w i th  Mr  

Gama or  h is  lawyers ,  you must  have been ta lk ing  about  a 

f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  tha t  wou ld  be  opera t ive  when he came 

back and wou ld  be  opera t ive  fo r  s i x  months .    
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You were  no t  –  when you s ta r ted  ta lk ing  about  i t ,  

you  were  no t  ta lk ing  about  a  warn ing  tha t  wou ld  have 

exp i red  by  the  t ime he came back,  were  you?  When you  

[ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  the  issue fo r  the  f i rs t  

t ime because I  assume i t  came f rom your  s ide .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  i t  was debated in  one o f  the  

subcommi t tees and I  w i l l  now pu t  some o the r  th ink ing  o f  

what  maybe cou ld  have swayed tha t  subcommi t tee  to  look  

a t  i t  th is  way.   Maybe i t  was  to  t ry  and get  Mr Gama back  

and a lmost  opera t ive  f rom day one so  tha t  he  does not  s i t  10 

in  such a  key pos i t ion  w i th  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  on  h i s  

back.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i f  he  deserved  a  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing  i t  shou ld  be  there  when he comes back.   

How can you say he  shou ld  no t  s i t  there  w i th  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing?  That  i s  what  happens w i th  every  employee,  why  

shou ld  he  be t rea ted  d i f fe ren t ly?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  Cha i rman,  I  unders tand your  anx ie ty.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ac tua l l y  you shou ld  be  s t r i c te r,  shou ld  

you not  w i th  sen ior  peop le  than  w i th  jun io r  employees  20 

because sen io r  peop le  cannot  p lead ignorance,  they know 

–  they know the  ru les ,  they know the  po l i c i es ,  they are  

supposed to  be  exemplary  to  the  jun io r  employees,  i s  i t  

no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  agree w i th  you fu l l y.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    So  I  come back  to  my propos i t ion  or  my 

quest ion ,  what  do  you say i f  somebody says th i s  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing  tha t  you ag reed to  as  the  ch ie f  negot ia to r  

fo r  Transnet  fo r  Mr  Gama,  i s  a  nonsens ica l  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing  because i t  i s  February  2011 when you are  

negot ia t ing  and you are  ag ree ing  to  an  a r rangement  in  

te rms o f  wh ich  Mr  Gama wi l l  be  deemed to  have  car r ied  

th is  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  f rom end o f  June 2010 to  

December  2010 when he was not  a t  Transnet .   What  do  you 

say when somebody says i t  was a  nonsens ica l  f ina l  wr i t ten  10 

warn ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  concede.   Even as  I  read i t ,  

i t  does not  look  r i gh t ,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Cha i rman,  I  see tha t  i t  i s  one 

o ’c lock ,  wou ld  th is  be  an  appropr ia te  t ime to  break fo r  

lunch?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  le t  us  take  the  lunch ad journment ,  

we w i l l  resume a t  two.   We ad journ .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 20 

INQUIRY RESUMES 

CHAIRPERSON:    Le t  us  proceed.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank  you Cha i rperson.   Mr 

Mkwanaz i  be fore  lunch we were  dea l ing  w i th  the  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing ,  do  you reca l l  tha t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And I  had d i rec ted  your  a t ten t ion  to  

page 38 o f  Bund le  1 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    We dea l t  w i th  C lause 3 .3 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  I  unders tood your  ev idence 

cor rec t l y  you say tha t  you ag reed on th is  so  tha t  e f fec t i ve l y  

Mr  Gama wou ldn ’ t  have  sword  hang ing  ove r  h is  head once 

he resumed h is  pos i t ion  as  Ch ie f  Execut ive ,  cor rect?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  aga in  then,  when your  own  

ev idence demons t ra tes  tha t  th is  i s  ye t ,  another  i nc ident  o f  

you ac t ing  in  t he  in te res t  o f  Mr  Gama as  opposed  to  the  

in te res t  o f  Transnet ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  you may put  i t  tha t  way.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    P rec ise ly,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  the  ve ry  

reason tha t  you,  as  an  employer  pu t  an  employee on a  f ina l  

wr i t ten  warn ing  is  to  p ro tec t  yourse l f  as  employer  aga ins t  a  

repet i t ion  o f  the  m isconduct  and you were  prepared ,  in  th is  20 

case,  to  fo rego tha t  p ro tec t ion ,  why?  Wel l  we know Mr  

Gama d idn ’ t  l i ke  i t  bu t  why d id  you  fo rego the  pro tec t ion  o f  

the  organ isa t ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  a t  the  t ime,  tha t ’s  sor t  o f  the  

lega l  adv i ce  we got  on  how to  phrase tha t  th ing .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    You haven ’ t  g iven tha t  ev idence a t  

a l l  up  to  now,  in  fac t…[ in te rvenes] .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  I  m igh t  no t  have.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Be fore  lunch you sa id ,  we l l  th is  was  

a  dec is ion  o f  the  sub-commi t tee .  

MR MKWANAZI :    De l ibe ra t ion  in  tha t  sub-commi t tee  wh ich  

then made a  recommendat ion  to  the  Board  ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  the  way tha t  I  read the  

a f f idav i t s  o f  your  fe l low Di rec tors ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  and you  

can cor rec t  me i f  I ’m  wrong,  i s  tha t  a lmost  to  the  man and  10 

woman they say tha t  you were  the  one who was 

respons ib le  fo r  t he  negot ia t ion  o f  the  ac tua l  te rms o f  the  

agreement .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Wel l ,  unders tand,  I  was the  lead 

negot ia to r  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  why d id  you,  aga in ,  ac t  in  the  

in te res t  o f  Mr  Gama and sac r i f i ce  the  in te res t  and 

pro tec t ion  due to  Transnet?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Jus t  remember  a t  the  t ime tha t ’s  the  

adv ice  I  wou ld  have got  f rom my in te rna l  lega l  peop le  yes.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then what  do  we do w i th  your  

ev idence before  lunch when you sa id ,  I  d id  th is  because  

then a t  leas t  Mr  Gama d idn ’ t  have a  sword  hang ing  over  

h is  head when he  resumed h is  du t ies  as  Ch ie f  Execut ive?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  a lso  t rue ,  I  don ’ t  deny tha t  yes .  
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CHAIRPERSON:    One second ,  Mr  Myburgh,  has tha t  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t  a r r i ved?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  i t  has .  

CHAIRPERSON:    May I  have  a  copy wh i le  you are  

quest ion ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t ’s  in  your  Bund le .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  i s  i t  in .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I f  you  jus t  g ive  me a  second.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  don ’ t  fo rge t  you r  l ine  o f  ques t ion ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Cha i rperson,  you f ind  tha t  a t  10 

Bund le  4A.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  a f te r  h is  main  a f f idav i t?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    4A –  Bund le  4A.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  you ’ re  cor rec t ,  i t  has  Mr  

Mkwanaz i ’s  ma in  a f f idav i t .   H is  supp lementary  a f f idav i t  

appears  a t  page 414,  jus t  be fore  the  tab  BB19.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  okay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr  Mkwanaz i  the  po in t  tha t  I  was 

mak ing  is ,  the  who le  po in t  o f  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  is  so  20 

tha t  the  employee does have a  sword  hang ing  over  h is  

head,  tha t ’s  the  who le  po in t  o f  i t .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  you ’ re  prepared to  f o rego tha t ,  

cor rec t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    No –  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    R igh t ,  le t ’s  then dea l  p lease w i th  

c lause 3 .5 .   What  you w i l l  …[ in te rvenes] .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    . . . see  Transnet  w i l l  make a  

cont r ibu t ion  equ iva len t  to  75% of  Mr  Gama’s  taxed lega l  

cos ts  incur red  du r ing  Gama’s  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion  and in  

respect  o f  h is  un fa i r  d ismissa l  d ispute  re fer red  to  the  

Transnet  Barga in ing  Counc i l .    Now,  le t ’s  take  the  H igh  

Cour t  cos ts .  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Sor ry  what  bund le  was i t  aga in?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t ’s  Bund le  1  page 38.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t ’s  the  se t t lement  agreement .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  see tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   A t  page 38 o f  Bund le  1  and he was 

read ing  paragraph 3 .5 .   

MR MKWANAZI :    S ix  now,  bu t  we ’ re  a t  paragraph 3 .5  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no  he ’s  s t i l l  a t  3 .5 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    3 .5 ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  you were  fami l ia r  

w i th  the  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion ,  were  you? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  am fami l ia r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So,  Mr  Gama brought  an  app l i ca t ion  

in  an  a t tempt ,  rea l l y,  to  pu t  a  s top  to  h i s  d i sc ip l inary  
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hea r ing  and Transnet  and ce r ta in  Execut ives  were  

rep resented by  Bowman Gi l f i l l an  and a  s t range fea ture  o f  

the  l i t iga t ion  is  tha t  Mr  Gama then jo ined a  who le  lo t  o f  

D i rec tors  in  the i r  persona l  capac i ty  and they were  

rep resented by  Eversheds.   U l t imate ly  Mr  Gama’s  

app l i ca t ion  was d ismissed,  there  was found to  be  no  mer i t  

in  i t  a t  a l l  and he was ordered to  pay the  costs  then o f  

Transnet  and the  Execut ives  incu r red  by  Bowman Gi l f i l l an 

and a l so  o f  the  D i rec tors ,  those costs  incur red  v i s  a  v is  

Eversheds,  you knew a l l  o f  tha t?   10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I ’m  aware .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And those costs  were  to  inc lude the  

costs  o f  two counse l?   Those are  very  s ign i f i can t  cos ts  

o rder  in  favour  o f  Transnet ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  there  was.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And in  favour  o f  i t s  D i rec tors?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  there  was.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And tha t ’s ,  impor tan t ly,  jus t  to  ge t  

your  conf i rmat ion  on ,  the  H igh  Cour t  found tha t  Mr  Gama 

had mis- j o ined  or  impermiss ib ly  sought  to  jo in  the  20 

D i rec tors  in  the i r  persona l  capac i ty  and tha t  was someth ing  

tha t  fea tured prominent ly  in  them be ing  awarded the i r  

cos ts ,  d id  you know tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  am aware .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So ,  e f fec t i ve l y  the  H igh  Cour t  sa id  
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you  shou ld  no t  have brought  th is  app l i ca t ion  aga ins t  the  

D i rec tors  in  the i r  persona l  capac i ty.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  we know f rom th is  se t t lement  

agreement  i s  tha t  i t  was in  fu l l  and f ina l  se t t lement  o f  a l l  

c la ims tha t  Transnet  had aga ins t  Mr  Gama and v i ce  versa .   

So,  the  f i rs t  th ing  tha t  Transnet  d id ,  i s  i t ,  e f fec t i ve l y  in  the  

se t t lement  agreement ,  agrees to  abandon th i s  cos ts  o rder,  

do  you agree w i th  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Agree w i th  tha t .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Why wou ld  you do tha t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  as  I ’d  ind ica ted  a t  the  t ime 

tha t  there  was th is  po ten t ia l  l i t i ga t ion  wh ich  we never  knew 

when i t  goes to  Transnet  Barga in ing  Counc i l  wh ich  way i t  

wou ld  go ,  yes ,  wh ich  is  why then,  tha t  dec i s ion  was  taken.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Sor ry  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  pe rhaps you 

misunders tand my quest ion ,  o f  course  th is  had noth ing  a t  

a l l  to  do  w i th  the  l i t iga t ion  in  the  Transnet  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  tha t  was l i t iga t ion  about  the  fa i rness o f  Mr  Gama’s  

d ismissa l .   Th is  was a  H igh  Cour t  app l i ca t ion  tha t  was  20 

d ismissed the  year  be fo re .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    What  caused you to  abandon the  

costs  o rder  made  in  favour  o f  Transnet  by  way o f  an  Order  

o f  Cour t ,  why?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  as  I  ind ica ted  the re  was th is  

v iew tha t  th is  mat te r  were  to  go  –  because I  don ’ t  reca l l  

the  submiss ion  o f  Gama’s  team on these issues,  whethe r  

they were  c la im ing tha t  Transnet  –  I  rea l l y  don ’ t  reca l l ,  

shou ld  pay a l l  cos ts  o f  the  Transnet  H igh  Cour t  and a lso  

the  d i sc ip l inary  p roceed ings i n  the  mat te r  I  wou ld  have to  

ge t  the  document  in  f ron t  o f  me to  unders tand what  tha t  

f i rm o f  a t to rneys  –  i t  cou ld  have been Langa or  whoever,  

m ight  have put  on  the  tab le…[ in te rvenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  Mr  Mkwanaz i  you ’ l l  have to  rea l l y  10 

exp la in  to  me and the  pub l i c ,  p roper ly,  what  your  dec is ion  

was,  rea l l y  he re  because I  can te l l  you  th is ,  I ’ ve  been on 

the  bench fo r  c lose  to  24  years ,  I ’ ve  never  seen anyth ing  

l i ke  th is ,  I ’ ve  never  seen anyth ing  l i ke  th is .   Th is ,  Mr  

Gama,  had launched an urgent  app l i ca t ion  aga ins t  the  

Board ,  aga ins t  Transnet  and he c i ted  ind iv idua l  members  

o f  the  Board  in  o rder  to  s top  or  in te rd i c t  the  d isc ip l inary  

proceed ings tha t  were  be ing  ins t i tu ted  aga ins t  h im,  he  los t  

because Transne t  and the  Board ,  a t  tha t  t ime,  wh ich  was 

not  your  Board ,  the  Board  tha t  p receded your  Board ,  20 

opposed tha t  app l i ca t ion  because they must  have seen 

tha t ,  th is  app l i ca t ion  tha t  he  brought  had no foundat ion  

whatsoever.   There  was a  need fo r  a  d isc ip l inary  p rocess 

to  be  ins t i tu ted  and he shou ld  go  th rough tha t  p rocess.   I f  

he  was found not  gu i l t y  tha t  wou ld  be  f ine ,  i f  he  was found  
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gu i l t y  then there  wou ld  be  a  sanct ion  fo r  tha t ,  they  

opposed tha t  app l i ca t ion ,  successfu l l y  and a  H igh  Cour t  

Judge conc luded  tha t ,  Mr  Gama shou ld  pay Transnet ’s  

cos ts  as  we l l  as  the  costs  o f  the  ind iv idua l  D i rec tors  whom 

he had c i ted  in  tha t  app l i ca t ion .   He app l ied  fo r  leave to  

appea l  aga ins t  tha t  dec i s ion  tha t  was re fused,  tha t  was the  

end o f  the  road  fo r  h im in  regard  to  tha t  and  in  that  

app l i ca t ion ,  he  had argued tha t  there  was an agenda tha t  

under lay  the  d isc ip l inary  proceed ings,  namely  to  s top  h im 

f rom be ing  appo in ted  as  Group CEO.  The Judge re jec ted  10 

a l l  o f  tha t  and d ismissed tha t  app l i ca t ion ,  tha t  was  done.   

Now,  he  went  th rough a  d i sc ip l ina ry  process,  he  was found  

gu i l t y  and he was d i smissed,  then he goes  to  the  

Barga in ing  Counc i l ,   re fe rs  h is  d isc ip l inary  to  the 

Barga in ing  Counc i l  bu t  now he says,  by  the  t ime  you are  

negot ia t ing  th is  se t t lement ,  he  says,  I  accept  tha t  I  was  

gu i l t y,  I ’m  gu i l t y  o f  the  th ree  ac ts  o f  m isconduct  tha t  the  

Cha i rperson o f  the  d isc ip l inary  enqu i ry  found me gu i l t y  o f ,  

I  accept  tha t .   Now,  you then say,  in  se t t lement  o f  the 

d ismissa l  d ispute ,  no t  the  H igh  Cour t  d ispute ,  because  20 

tha t ’s ,  been sor ted  ou t ,  you say,  you know what ,  Mr  Gama,  

the  costs  tha t  the  Judge sa id  you must  pay us ,  pay  

Transnet ,  you don ’ t  have to  pay o f f  tha t .  That  has go t  

no th ing  to  do  w i th  the  d ismissa l  d ispute ,  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l ,  even i f  Mr  Gama had won aga ins t  Transnet  the  
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Barga in ing  Counc i l  A rb i t ra to r  wou ld  never  have in te r fe red  

w i th  tha t .   He wou ld  no t  have changed Mr  Gama’s  fo r tunes 

in  regard  to  the  H igh  Cour t ,  Cour t  Order.  So,  why d id  you  

in te r fe re  w i th  a  cost  o rder  made by  a  Judge in  a  separa te  

l i t iga t ion  wh ich  Mr  Gama had los t  and say,  you don ’ t  have  

to  pay those costs  because Transnet  was not  a t  r i sk  in  

regard  to  those costs ,  tha t  was f ina l i sed,  why d id  you do  

tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman as  I  ind ica te  the re  were  o the r  

documents  or  submiss ions f rom Gama’s  a t to rney wh ich ,  in  10 

a  nu tshe l l  were  a lso  t ry ing  to  recover  those costs  and i t  i s  

on  tha t  bas is  tha t  then th is  t ype o f  se t t lement  agreement  

cou ld  have ar isen  ja ,  I  don ’ t  reca l l  the  fu l l  submiss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    No but  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  tha t ’s  no t  go ing  to  

be  good enough.   Remember,  be fore  you deposed  to  your  

f i rs t  a f f idav i t  tha t  you had f i led  in  the  Commiss ion ,  

remember  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Remember  tha t  you f i led  your  a f f idav i t  

pursuant  to  a  le t te r  f rom the  Commiss ion  wh ich  sa id  tha t  20 

the  Cha i rperson wou ld  l i ke  you to  exp la in  the  te rms o f  tha t  

se t t lement ,  do  you remember  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you remember  tha t ,  tha t  le t te r,  

spec i f i ca l l y  d rew your  a t ten t ion  to  ce r ta in  fea tu res  o f  the  
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se t t lement  agreement ,  inc lud ing  the  issue o f  cos ts ,  do  you  

remember?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do  reca l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  gave you a  chance to  exp la in ,  among 

o ther  th ings,  why  you and your  Board  dec ided tha t  tha t  the 

costs  wh ich  a  H igh  Cour t  Judge had sa id  Mr  Gama shou ld  

pay to  Transnet ,  why you sa id  he  shou ld  no t  pay those.   

Ac tua l l y  when you –  Mr  Todd,  tes t i f ied  tha t  he  and h is  f i rm 

had gone to  the  ex ten t  o f  hav ing  those costs  taxed –  

ac tua l l y  i t  was not  a l l  o f  the  costs  because he sa id  there  10 

were  two law f i rms,  h is  f i rm rep resented Transnet ,  another  

f i rm,  Eversheds rep resented,  I  th ink ,  ind iv idua l  D i rec tors  

bu t  I  th ink  the  cost  tha t  re la ted  to  Transnet  and not  

ind iv idua l  D i rec tors ,  he  sa id  they had taxed tha t  b i l l  and 

tha t  b i l l  i n  te rms  o f  the  taxed costs ,  Mr  Gama was owing  

Transnet  about  four  hundred and twenty  s i x  thousand rand 

someth ing  and he  sa id ,  you,  th rough somebody a t  Transnet  

ins t ruc ted  h im to  s top  a l l  p rocesses a imed a t  recover ing  

tha t  money f rom Mr  Gama,  R426 000 tha t  Mr  Gama owed 

Transnet ,  you sa id  they must  s top  t ry ing  to  recover  tha t ,  20 

why d id  you do tha t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  tha t  is  cor rec t  because a t  the 

t ime,  in  the  –  the  in te rp re ta t ion  tha t  we were  ge t t ing  was  

tha t ,  now tha t  th is  mat te r  was go ing  the  Transnet  

Barga in ing  Counc i l  rou te ,  a l though tha t  H igh  Cour t  
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dec is ion  to  a  cer ta in  ex ten t ,  maybe is  no t  re la ted  to  th is ,  

bu t  yes ,  a t  the  t ime the  v iew was,  even tha t  cos t  needed to  

be  par t  o f  tha t  se t t lement  d iscuss ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Why,  why because tha t ’s  a  ques t ion  you  

wou ld  have asked anybody who to ld  you tha t ,  you wou ld 

have sa id  why?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman I  d id  no t  necessar i l y  ask  the  

quest ion ,  why?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  tha t ’s  an  obv ious quest ion  tha t  a  

D i rec tor  o f  a  company shou ld  ask  in  such a  s i tua t ion ,  to  10 

say,  a  H igh  Cour t  Judge has sa id  Mr  Gama must  pay  

Transnet  these costs ,  th is  mat te r  i s  f ina l i sed.  You are  

te l l ing  me tha t ,  now we must  abandon those cos ts ,  why,  

tha t ’s  a  quest ion  tha t  a  D i rec to r  wou ld  ask ,  why d idn ’ t  you  

ask  tha t  quest ion? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  tha t  quest ion  a t  the  t ime,  was 

not  dea l t  w i th  the  way you are  pu t t ing  i t  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  do  you  not  accept  tha t  i t ’s  an 

obv ious quest ion  to  ask?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  agree w i th  you because 20 

there  are  two separa te  i ssues as  you r igh t fu l l y  po in t  ou t .  

The one is  tha t  app l i ca t ion  o f  Mr  Gama where  he  accuses  

the  company o f  un fa i r  –  o f  t ry ing  to  b lock  h im f rom 

app ly ing  a  pos i t ion ,  tha t ’s  a  separa te  mat te r  and then the  

o ther  mat te r  then  dea ls  w i th  the  ac tua l  d isc ip l ina ry  process 
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i t se l f .   Now on  tha t  f i rs t  mat te r,  yes ,  a t  the  t ime,  the 

quest ion  was not  posed as  to  why then l ink  the  two  

because the  two,  f rank ly  a re  no t  l inked.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I ’m sor ry,  Mr  Myburgh I  know you might  

be  hav ing  –  you and I  m ight  have  the  same quest ion  bu t  

I ’m  go ing  to  ask  th is .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No p lease go ahead,  Mr  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Not  on ly  tha t  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  no t  on ly  do  

you then dec ide  w i th  your  Board  tha t  Mr  Gama shou ld  no t  

bo ther  to  pay R426 000 tha t  he  owed Transnet  and  ac tua l l y  10 

i t  was go ing  to  be  more  because there  was the  cost  

re la t ing  to  the  D i rec tors ,  p robab ly  i t  wou ld  be  about  a  

m i l l ion  maybe about  R800 000.   So,  you say Mr  Gama,  you  

don ’ t  have to  bo ther  pay ing  tha t ,  in  e f fec t ,  fo rge t  about  

what  the  Judge sa id ,  you don ’ t  have to  bo the r  about  tha t ,  

you don ’ t  have to  pay tha t  bu t  no t  on ly  tha t ,  you then say,  

you know what  Mr  Gama,  we Transnet  who won tha t  case  

are  go ing  to  under take to  pay 75% of  your  own lega l  cos ts  

tha t  you incu r red  to  un fa i r l y  take  us  to  the  H igh  Cour t ,  

tha t ’s  what  you –  in  e f fec t  what  you  sa id ,  i sn ’ t  i t?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  tha t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    How do you exp la in  tha t ,  how can tha t  

poss ib ly  be  in  the  in te res t  o f  Transnet ,  how poss ib l y  cou ld  

i t  be  sa id  to  be  ac t ing  in  the  in te res t  o f  Transnet  when you  

ac t  l i ke  tha t?  
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MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  yes  a t  the  t ime tha t  i s  how 

th is  mat te r  was looked because there  was th is  o the r  mat te r  

o f  the  va lue  tha t ,  tha t  ind iv idua l  wou ld  take  i f  b rought  back  

to  the  company yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  wou ld  he  take?  

MR MK WANAZI :    No,  no  the  va lue  add o f  be ing  CEO 

etce te ra ,  e tce te ra  tha t  was perce ived to  –  wou ld  have 

happened when tha t  ind iv idua l  comes back to  the  company.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The va lue  tha t  a  CEO who s igns 

documents  w i thout  read ing  them wou ld  br ing  to  the  10 

company,  i s  tha t  what  you ’ re  te l l ing  me about?   The va lue  

o f  a  CEO who def ied  a  Board  i ns t ruc t ion ,  i s  tha t  what  

you ’ re  ta lk ing  about?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I ’m  ta lk ing  about  tha t ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  d id  you th ink  he  def ied  tha t  o ther  

Board ,  bu t  he  wou ld  no t  de fy  your  Board?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Not  exact ly,  I ’m  not  sure  Cha i rman but  –  

I ’m  not  sure  i f  he  wou ld  have de f ied  my Board ,  and yes 

Cha i rman,  I ’m  not  sure ,  maybe he d id  bu t  I ’m  not  sure  

Cha i rman.   20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Were  you sure  tha t  he  was not  go ing  to  

s ign  documents  w i thout  read ing  them? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  was not  su re .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  why you want  h im back because 

there  i s  th is  r i sk .   He s igned –  on  h is  ve rs ion ,  he  s igned  
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documents  w i thout  read ing  them tha t  had mi l l ions  o f  rands 

o f  imp l ica t ions fo r  Transnet .   The next  t ime he cou ld  have 

s igned a  document  w i th ,  even a  l a rge  amount  in  te rms o f  

imp l ica t ions.   Weren ’ t  you concerned about  tha t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  in  re t rospect ,  yes  the  mat te r  

tha t  he  –  the  two mat te rs  tha t  he  you know quote ,  do  

ind ica te  tha t  th is  ind iv idua l  was not  the  best  ind i v idua l  to  

be ,  so r t  o f ,  b rought  back in to  the  company but  a t  the  t ime 

we had o the r  opera t iona l  p rob lems e tce tera  and we were  o f  

the  v iew tha t  th is  ind iv idua l  wou ld  s t i l l  add va lue  i n to  tha t  10 

company and yes ,  Cha i rman,  you ’ re  spot  on  the re  was th i s  

new r isk  tha t  th is  ind iv idua l  wou ld  de fy  th is  Board  as  we l l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh,  I ’ l l  l eave i t  fo r  you to  take  

fu r the r,  tha t  i ssue .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Thank you.   Mr  Mkwanaz i  a re  you ab le  to  

te l l  us  why,  no t  on ly,  d id  you le t  h im o f f  on  what  wou ld  

have amounted to  about  a  m i l l ion  rand tha t  he  owed you 

but  then you ag reed to  pay 75% of  h is  cos ts .   You landed 

up pay ing  h im about  a  m i l l ion  rand,  he  shou ld  have owed  

you a  m i l l ion ,  you le t  h im o f f  tha t  and  then on top  o f  tha t  20 

you pa id  h im a  m i l l ion .   Now,  apar t  f rom the  fac t  tha t ,  

tha t ’s  what  he  wanted,  why d id  you  do tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Advocate  Myburgh,  you know,  when you  

ment ion  these payments ,  somehow they don ’ t  make sense 

to  me as we l l  because I ’m not  sure  how Group Treasury  
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and Group Lega l  in te rpre ted  these payments ,  I ’m  a  l i t t le  b i t  

perp lexed myse l f  on  a l l  these add i t iona l  payments  wh ich ,  

somehow I  don ’ t  unders tand.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l  can you th ink  o f  any  ra t iona l  

reason why,  you wou ld  want  to  do  tha t ,  apar t  f rom the  fac t  

tha t ,  tha t ’s  what  Mr  Gama wanted? 

MR MK WANAZI :    I ’ ve  t r ied  to  exp la in  to  the  Cha i rman tha t  

there  were  ce r ta in  payments  tha t  wou ld  have been made in  

te rms o f  th is  se t t lement  agreement  bu t  f rom what  you are  

say ing  there  were  o ther  payments  tha t  I ’m not  p r ivy  to  10 

wh ich  were  made  under  the  assumpt ion  tha t  they are  pa r t  

o f  th is  se t t lement  agreement  and I  may d i sagree w i th  those 

payments .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  so  i f  you  go back to  3 .5 ,  75% 

of  Mr  Gama’s  taxed costs  incu r red  dur ing  the  H igh  Cour t  

app l i ca t ion ,  we ’ve  dea l t  w i th  tha t  and in  respect  o f  h is  

un fa i r  d i smissa l  d ispute  re fer red  to  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l ,  

why shou ld  he  ge t  those costs?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Aga in ,  Advocate  Myburgh,  the 

assumpt ion  was  tha t ,  maybe a t  Transnet  Barga in ing  20 

Counc i l  he  wou ld  have had a  case but  now based  on the  

d iscuss ions tha t  we are  hav ing  t ru ly  on  the  las t  o f fence he 

d idn ’ t  have a  case but  then based on not  wa i t ing  fo r  

l i t i ga t ion  th rough the  Transne t  Barga in ing  Counc i l  

p rocesses then,  yes ,  those payments  were  then looked a t  
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as  someth ing  tha t  the  company cou ld  a lso  pay.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  why because 

f i rs t l y,  Mr  Gama wou ld  have to  w in  in  the  Barga in ing  

Counc i l  and you sa id ,  maybe tha t  m ight  have happened.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  Mr  Gama,  i t  seems,  we know,  

accepted tha t  he  was gu i l t y  o f  m isconduct  so  the  prospects  

o f  h im winn ing  hands down in  the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  were  

remote  and a l so  Barga in ing  Counc i l  and the  CCMA,  as  you 

heard  f rom Mr  Todd,  they grant  cos ts  very,  very  spar ing ly  10 

because they don ’ t  want  to  d iscourage l i t igants  f rom 

coming to  those fo ra .  Now when you cons ider  tha t ,  why on  

ear th ,  in  the  g ive  and take  and cu t  and th rus t  o f  

negot ia t ion  wou ld  you jus t  g ive  away these costs ,  apar t  

f rom the  fac t  tha t ,  aga in ,  tha t ’s  no  doubt  what  Mr  Gama 

wanted,  why d id  you g ive  in?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  there  was tha t  weak lega l  

op in ion  wh ich  c rea ted doubt  and yes,  based on tha t  weak 

lega l  op in ion  we fe l t  tha t  there  was th is  l i t i ga t ion  r isk  i f  we 

cont inued w i th  th is  mat te r  a t  Transnet  Barga in ing  Counc i l .  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  you ’ve  sa id  tha t  many  t imes –  

sor ry  car ry  on .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  tha t  lega l  op in ion  never  adv i sed you  

to  o f fe r  cos ts  to…[ in tervenes] .  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  i t  d id  no t ,  one fu l l y  agrees tha t  lega l  
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op in ion  –  I  fu l l y  agree Cha i rperson…[ in tervenes] .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  you can ’ t  invoke tha t  lega l  op in ion  to  

jus t i f y  why you under took to  pay 75% of  the  cost  because 

the  lawyers ,  a t  leas t  in  tha t  lega l  op in ion ,  never  sa id  you  

were  a t  r i sk  o f  be ing  ordered to  pay costs .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman tha t  lega l  op in ion  d id  no t  

quant i f y  the  costs  and the  75% i t  jus t  c rea ted doub t  tha t  i f  

fu r ther  l i t i ga t ion  was to  happen in  the  Transnet  Barga in ing  

Counc i l ,  the  costs  cou ld  be  h igher  o r  lower,  tha t  i s  cor rec t  

Cha i rman.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Now,  what  d id  you unders tand these 

costs  to  invo lve .  I t  says  75% tax  lega l  cos ts  in  respect  o f  

h is  un fa i r  d i smissa l  d ispute  re fer red  to  the  Transnet  

Barga in ing  Counc i l ,  now you negot ia ted  th is  c lause,  what  

does i t  mean?  So,  he  ge ts  d ismissed and he re fers  a  

d ispute  to  the  Transnet  Barga in ing  Counc i l ,  and he does  

tha t  by  f i l l i ng  ou t  a  re fer ra l ,  so  what  cos ts  a re  you dea l ing  

w i th  here?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman I ’m not  sure  a t  the  t ime i f  I  20 

knew the  exact  cos ts  bu t  the  assumpt ion  is  tha t ,  yes  there  

wou ld  have been costs  and based on tha t  then  75% of  

those costs ,  i f  he  had incur red  them,  wou ld  be  re funded by 

the  company yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  wou ld  be  costs  in  re la t ion  to  
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the  Barga in ing  Counc i l  re fe r ra l ,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t  Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I t  wou ldn ’ t  inc lude h i s  costs  o f  the  

d isc ip l ina ry  hear ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Advocate  Myburgh,  yes ,  you r  ques t ion ing  

is  cor rec t ,  tha t  is  why then I  –  I  do  no t  reca l l  the  fu l l  

submiss ion  tha t  was dea l ing  w i th  the  referral  of  the matter  

to the Transnet Bargaining Counci l .   I  would have to go back 

I  th ink there was a document submit ted in October  2010 I  

would have to go back to that .   Your  analysis  is spot  on.   I  10 

do not  recal l  that  submission spoke to the high cour t  matter  

at  a l l .   I  do not  recal l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Mkwanazi  I  am not  sure that  I  

understand your evidence.   Do you agree that  i t  would not  

include the costs of  h is discipl inary hearing? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Hold i t  Advocate maybe you wi l l  recal l  that  

he had this matter where he – he took the matter to the high 

court .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is a separate matter.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Then the other matter is the discipl inary 

process to himsel f  – i tsel f .   I  am addressing the discipl inary 

process costs i tse l f  and the fact  that  then when this matter is 

taken to the Transnet Bargaining Counci l  there could be that  
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probabi l i ty that  he could win;  he could lose and therefore his 

costs to that  Transnet Bargaining Counci l  process and the 

discipl inary process were to be lumped into one and deal t  

wi th as something that  the company would pay so in fact  I  

sent  off .   But  the other costs relat ing to the h igh cour t  matter 

I  am indict ing that  I  do not  recal l  what  his submission in 

October 2010 was indicat ing.   I  would have to go back to 

that  submission.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Mr Mkwanazi  a Bargaining Counci l  

arbi t rator has got  no power to award an employee costs of  a 10 

discipl inary hearing.   I  mean sure ly you must have known 

that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chai rman at  the t ime I  do not  th ink I  was 

aware of  that  but  an impression was created that  when now 

this matter goes through l i t igat ion costs could be far higher  

than what they might  have been had we gone th is route.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Did you ask any of  the lawyers that  were 

avai lab le to you whether Chris – Mr Todd or – of  Bowman 

Gi l f i l lan or Deneys Rei tz or  Webber Wentzel  to say just  guide 

me on the issue of  costs?  What  could happen and what 20 

could not  happen at  the Bargaining Counci l?  Did you ask for  

guidance? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chai rman I  do not  th ink I  d id ask Deneys 

Rei tz but  Chai rman I  am aware that  Mr Todd or the other law 

f i rm maybe he would have touched on that  in the submission 
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of  the 2n d February to the board.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  Mr Todd’s report  or opin ion made i t  

c lear that  Transnet had reasonable prospects of  success 

therefore I  do not  th ink that  they would have ment ioned 

anything to you about any r isk that  the Bargaining Counci l  

could award costs against  Transnet even i f  Mr Gama were to 

be – to win.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Chairman I  do recal l  Mr Todd’s submission 

basical ly i t  was indicat ing a hundred percent  conf idence 

level  of  winning th is matter.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Should i t  go the Transnet  Bargaining 

Counci l .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So Mr Mkwanazi  costs of  a disc ipl inary 

hearing and costs associated wi th a referral  of  an unfa ir  

d ismissal  d ispute to a Bargaining Counci l  are two separate 

things.   Did you know that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No I  d id not  know at  the t ime but  yes I  do 

know now.  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  I  am surpr ised because what I  

want  you to do p lease is to turn – leave page 38 open in 

Bundle 1.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   P lease can you turn now to Bundle 2.  
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MR MKWANAZI:   For Bundle 2 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   To page 8 and i f  you can hold the two 

pages open together.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Page 8 Bundle 2.   Bundle 2? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Okay let  me put  i t  th is side.   Yes I  am now 

on Bundle 2 page? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Page 8.   So th is is the… 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  am on page 8 yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   This is the draf t  set t lement agreement  10 

that  Mr Gama actual ly s igned on the 10 February.   Have a 

look at  c lause 3.5.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Bundle 2 page 8.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Clause 3.5 yes I  can see that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So this was the preceding formulat ion 

of  the clause.    

“Transnet wi l l  make a contr ibut ion equivalent  

to 75% of  Mr Gama’s tax legal  costs incurred 

dur ing h is discipl inary hearing and in respect  20 

of  h is unfai r  d ismissal . ”  

 So there they were separate.   Discipl inary hear ing 

and in respect  of  his unfai r  d ismissal  referred to the 

Transnet Bargaining Counci l .   Did you see that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  see that  Chairman.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   And then the f ina l  c lause drops costs 

in respect  of  the d iscipl inary hear ing.   Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Which one i f  the f inal  c lause Chai rman – 

3.6? 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   The f inal  c lause is at  Bundle 1 page 38 

Clause 3.5.   The one that  you signed.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Interest ing.   I  – I  see – I  see that  

Chairman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So what was … 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  see that  dist inct ion.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   On the face of  i t  there was a del iberate 

decision made by yoursel f  not  to pay 75% of  the costs of  his  

discipl inary hearing.   Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chair  can you repeat  I  am now looking at  

the two documents.   One is paragraph 3.5 of  Bundle 2 page 

8.   And the other  one is Bundle 1 page 38.   Can I  take you 

through… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr Mkwanazi  I  am qui te sure you 

understand the proposi t ion.    

MR MKWANAZI:   P lease can you repeat? 20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   In i t ia l ly – wel l… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay let  me t ry that .   You see Mr 

Mkwanazi  in Bundle 2 page 8.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You have a draf t  set t lement agreement that  
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had been signed – that  was s igned by Mr Gama on the 10 

February which you did not  s ign.   Okay? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   In Clause 3.5 of  that  draf t  set t lement  

agreement i t  was wri t ten:  

“Transnet wi l l  make a contr ibut ion equivalent  

to 75% of  Mr Gama’s taxed legal  costs 

incurred dur ing Gama’s discipl inary hearing 

and in  respect  of  h is unfai r  d ismissal  referred 

to the Transnet  Bargaining Counci l . ”  10 

 So there… 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   That  draf t  set t lement agreement was 

saying that  you wi l l  pay 75% of  his legal  costs re lat ing to the 

unfai r  d ismissal  dispute.  That  is the referra l  to the 

Bargaining Counci l .  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you wi l l  pay 75% of  his  legal  cost  

incurred in connect ion wi th his disc ipl inary hearing.    

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  is what that  c lause says.   Now you 

did not  s ign that  – that  draf t  set t lement that  has got  that  

c lause.  

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You signed the one that  we have got  at  
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Bundle 1 at  page 38.   Now paragraph – clause 3.5 of  that  –  

of  the agreement – the set t lement agreement that  you signed 

says Transnet wi l l  make a cont r ibut ion equivalent  to 75% of  

Mr Gama’s taxed legal  costs incurred dur ing Gama’s high 

court  appl icat ion.   So in other words where the draf t  that  you 

did not  s ign said incurred dur ing Gama’s discipl inary hearing 

i t  was replaced with incurred dur ing Gama’s high court  

appl icat ion.   And Counsel ’s quest ion to you – quest ion to you 

is th is must  have meant that  you re jected the idea of  paying 

75% - a 75% contr ibut ion towards the legal  costs he incurred 10 

dur ing the discipl inary process.   You rejected that  idea.   That  

is what Counsel  is saying.   Would you not  agree?  Because 

that  is why i t  does not  – i t  is not  ref lected in the f inal  

set t lement.   But  you replaced that  part  wi th the part  that  

says incurred dur ing Gama’s high court  appl icat ion.   So 

Counsel  was saying to you,  you speci f ical ly appl ied your 

mind to the quest ion whether you should undertake to pay 

75% of  Mr Gama’s legal  costs in relat ion to the discipl inary 

process.   You re jected that .   So he is  saying you could not  

have subsequent ly thought that  th is f inal  set t lement 20 

agreement includes Mr Gama’s legal  costs in relat ion to the 

discipl inary hearing.   What do you say to that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   No that  is what th is last  agreement 

indicates.   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   So you had rejected the idea of  
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paying a cont r ibut ion towards his legal  costs in the 

discipl inary hearing? 

MR MKWANAZI:   That  is – that  is what th is agreement says.   

I  agree yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes okay.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi  perhaps to  

fast  forward on the issue of  costs.   Can I  p lease take you to 

Bundle 3.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Bundle 3.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Page 31.  10 

MR MKWANAZI:   Page 31.   I  am there.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So this is Mr Mapoma’s aff idavi t  at  

paragraph 12.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   P lease at  page 31.   He says:  

“And al l  the support ing documents we have I  

th ink this is probably because that  you would 

agree wi th.   Two payments were made to 

Langa At torneys whi lst  I  was at  Transnet .   

F i rst ly they were paid R1 016 000.00 odd on 20 

28 March 2011 being 75% of  the taxed costs 

incurred by Transnet wi th Bowman Gi l f i l lan 

and Eversheds in the high court  l i t igat ion. ”  

 So there is that  – let  us cal l  i t  a mi l l ion.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    

“75% of  the taxed costs incurred wi th 

Bowmans and Eversheds in the h igh court  

l i t igat ion.  Secondly they were paid R1.7 

mi l l ion on 9 June being 75% of  the taxed 

costs incurred by Mr Gama in the h igh court ,  

h is discipl inary inquiry  and his referral  to the 

Transnet Bargaining Counci l . ”  

 You have got  those two amounts.   We know there was 

an amount of… 10 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  have got  that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   2015 let  me not  tax you about that  

because that  was af ter your t ime.  What Mr Mapoma then 

does is he deals wi th the f i rst  payment.   Regarding the f i rst  

payment i t  came about.  

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   As fol lows:    

“Fol lowing my deal ings wi th Langa At torneys 

who presented a r id iculously inf la ted bi l l  I  

was opposed to pay Mr Gama’s fees.   This 20 

was an unpopular  decision and I  came under 

pressure wi thin the organisat ion to f inal ise 

the issue.   In th is  context  I  held a discussion 

wi th Mr Mkwanazi  who I  deal t  wi th closely on 

the issue which culminated in him instruct ing 
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me to pay 75% of  Transnet ’s taxed costs to  

Mr Gama on the basis that  he had incurred 

l iabi l i ty for such costs.   Given that  I  was 

unhappy wi th th is  I  escalated the matter to 

Mr Singh who approved of  the payment.   I  

refer in th is regard to my handwri t ten 

annotat ions dated 29 March 2011 on var ious 

tax bi l ls at tached to Mr – Ms Mahlabe’s 

aff idavi t  on costs.   The decision is also 

recorded in the memoranda to Mr Singh and 10 

Mr Molefe referred to in certain paragraphs 

in his second aff idavi t . ”    

So what he is saying is – is essent ia l ly th is.   Sorry in 

terms of  the set t lement agreement  you somehow agreed to 

pay 75% of  Mr Gama’s taxed costs in the high court  but  

ul t imately what Mr Gama was paid was 75% of  Transnet ’s 

costs in the high court .   And he says and you shake your  

head;  i t  does not  make any sense.   And he says.  

MR MKWANAZI:   No i t  does not .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And he says you were the person who 20 

instructed him to do that .  

MR MKWANAZI:   I t  does not  make sense.   I  am not  sure at  

t imes that  people who employ how they interpret  these 

issues but  th is does not  make sense.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You see what – what does not  make 
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sense is one he is let  off  paying your  costs.   Then you agree 

to pay 75% of  his  costs.   Then you land up paying h im 75% 

of  Transnet ’s  costs and then over  and above that  we wi l l  

come to in a moment he actual ly gets his high court  costs as 

wel l .   But  what is going on here Mr Mkwanazi? 

MR MKWANAZI:   There is something wrong with that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why are we deal ing wi th th is  man so 

generously? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Chairman… 

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Why? 10 

MR MKWANAZI:   I  am also ser iously confused.   I  would need 

to si t  wi th an accountant  to explain why some of  these 

payments are interpreted the way they are done – or wi th a 

legal  person.   They do not  sound r ight  

CHAIRPERSON:   No I  do not  th ink you need an accountant  

Mr Mkwanazi .   You just  need common sense.  

MR MKWANAZI:   I  agree Chai r.   There is someth ing wrong 

with these numbers Chairman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  i t  is not  just  the numbers i t  is  the 

pr inciple.   Why in  the f i rst  p lace in a labour matter when you 20 

are set t l ing the matter that  is pending before the Bargaining 

Counci l  for  arbi t ra t ion you agree to pay the opponent ’s legal  

costs of  75% at  al l .   Somebody who accepts that  he is gu i l ty 

of  three acts of  misconduct .   That  I  th ink both you and I  

agree were ser ious acts of  misconduct .   Why is i t  that  none 
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of  the board members says hang on,  hang on,  hang on a 

minute.   Why must  we do al l  of  th is when the man himsel f  

admits that  he is  gui l ty of  three acts of  misconduct?  Why 

must we t reat  him as i f  he is innocent?  Why must we deal  

wi th the matter as i f  he is wrong anywhere?  As i f  Transnet  

just  unjust i f iably brought these charges against  him  Why is 

i t  that  there is not  a single member of  that  board who says 

hang on,  hang on,  we are – there is something I  do not  

understand here.   Why must we do that?  I t  is just  di f f icul t  to 

understand why not  a sing le person in that  board was able to  10 

say real ly even wi th reinstate – wel l  I  should not  say sing le 

person because there was a minori ty – there was a minori ty.  

MR MKWANAZI:   There was a minori ty.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja there was a minori ty who said no,  you 

know.  But  i t  looks l ike i t  was maybe only two people.   And 

the rest  – so i t  is not  t rue to say there was not  a  single 

member of  the board who – who could see that  there was 

something wrong here.   There was a minori ty which did but  

… 

MR MKWANAZI:   There was a minori ty Chai rperson.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja the major i ty d id not  seem to think there 

was anything wrong in doing – handl ing this matter  in th is 

way.   Mr Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes thank you.   So Mr Mkwanazi  did  

you or did you not  instruct  Mr Mapoma to pay Mr Gama 75% 
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of  Transnet ’s costs in the high court?  Did you or did you not  

instruct  him to do that? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Do not  forget  the interpretat ion is as 

fol lows:   The assumpt ion is that  Gama has incurred some 

costs – there are two issues.   One i t  is in the h igh court  and 

one i t  is – under the discipl inary process i tsel f .   Yes at  the 

t ime there was an instruct ion that  based on the agreement 

that  Gama must re – the company must  refund Gama 75% of  

his costs incurred dur ing the high court  appl icat ion.   That  is 

the one matter.   Then the other matter i t  is respect  of  h is  10 

unfai r  d ismissal  d ispute referred to  the Transnet  Bargaining 

Counci l .   And on that  matter as wel l  the – the d irect ive was 

to pay 75% - to refund Gama 75% of  his incurred costs on 

the matter that  is now being deal t  wi th in  the Transnet 

Bargaining Counci l  arbi t rat ing process yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes you just  reci te  the agreement.   Mr  

Mkwanazi  please answer my quest ion? 

MR MKWANAZI:   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Did you or  did you not  inst ruct  Mr 

Mapoma to pay Mr Gama 75% not  of  the costs that  he 20 

incurred but  of  the costs that  Transnet incurred … 

MR MKWANAZI:   No,  no.  no I  d id  not .   I t  was of  the costs 

that  Transnet had incurred.   We l l  I  th ink  Mr  Mapoma 

mis in te rpre ted  what  I  was say ing .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l .  
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MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You th ink  he  mis in te rpre ted  what  you  

sa id?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  Mr  Mapoma says he  was not  

rea l l y  happy w i th  the  ins t ruc t ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Ja  he  was cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And i f  we go  to  page 104 o f  Bund le  1 .  

MR MKWANAZI :   104 o f  Bund le  1 .    

ADV MYBURGH SC:   You w i l l  see  there  tha t  he  addresses 10 

a  memorandum to  Mr  S ingh.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And i f  you look a t  105 under  

F inanc ia l  Imp l ica t ions.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Here  a t  75% of  the  a t tached invo ices  

have to  be  pa id  to  Mr  Gama’s  a t to rneys and those are  75% 

i f  you go over  the  page o f  the  invo ices rece ived f rom 

Evershed A t to rneys.   Those were  the  a t to rneys  fo r  the  

d i rec tors  in  the  h igh  cour t  and then under  tha t  75% of  the  20 

taxed costs  awarded to  Bowman Gi l f i l l an .   They were  

Transnet ’s  a t to rneys.   So you see here  th is  memorandum 

recommends tha t  Mr  Gama i s  pa id  75% not  o f  the  costs  

incu r red  by  h im but  75% of  the  costs  incur red  by  Transnet  

and the  execut ives  and 75% of  the  costs  incur red  by  the  
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ind iv idua l  d i rec to rs .  I t  i s  qu i te  incred ib le  i s  i t  no t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Oh no i t  i s  so  wrong.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MK WANAZI :   Yes I  am not  sure  be tween so  many 

peop le  who –  why they cou ld  no t  unders tand the  

in te rpre ta t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  Mr  Mapoma says tha t  you to ld  

h im to  do  tha t .  

MR MKWANAZI :   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And tha t  i s  why he sought  the  10 

approva l  o f  Mr  S ingh and he addresses th is  memorandum 

to  Mr  S ingh.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   And do you see then how i t  lands up  

be ing  s igned by  Mr  Mole fe?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  see tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :   I  mean th is  i s  s t range.   Because even Mr 

Mapoma and Mr  S ingh shou ld  have gone back to  –  to  tha t  

se t t lement  agreement  and in te rp re ted  i t  p roper ly.   Now 20 

they then e levate  th is  mat te r  in  a  comple te ly  inaccura te  

manner.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Bu t  Mr  Mkwanaz i  th is  was not  the  f i rs t  

th ing  tha t  cou ld  no t  be  exp la ined about  th is  ag reement .   

There  were  a  number  o f  th ings tha t  had happened wh ich  
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cou ld  no t  be  exp la ined.   We have dea l t  w i th  some o f  them 

in  the  se t t lement  agreement .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman I  cannot  exp la in  th i s  wrong 

in te rpre ta t ion  by  Ano j  S ingh and by  Mr  Mapoma.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   So  jus t  to  cont inue w i th  th is  i f  you  go 

to  page 93 o f  Bund le  1 .    

MR MKWANAZI :   93?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes.   You see Mr  Mapoma was 

concerned about  th is  so  he  was  very  anx ious to  record  10 

what  had happened.   And on a  ser ies  o f  taxed  b i l l s  in  

re la t ion  to  Bowman Gi l f i l l an  and Eversheds he then made  

th is  annota t ion .   Look a t  the  foo t  o f  93 .  

“Transnet  to  pay  75% of  the  taxed costs  

above. ”  

 R igh t  now these  were  in  th is  document  the  taxed 

costs  o f  Bowman Gi l f i l l an .   And he se ts  ou t  the  f igures  and  

then he says:  

“Payment  has been approved as  pe r  the  

a t tached memorandum. ”  20 

 That  i s  the  memorandum tha t  I  have taken you to  

and then he says:  

“D iscussed w i th  Ano j . ”  

 That  i s  Mr  S ingh.    

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:   And what  he  says Mr  Mapoma is  tha t  

you gave h im the  ins t ruc t ion  –  sor ry  Mr  Mkwanaz i  you gave  

h im the  ins t ruc t ion .   He was concerned and he esca la ted  i t  

to  Mr  S ingh and he says:  

“Th is  bears  ou t  h is  ev idence. ”  

 What  do  you say about  tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :   Cha i rman he was  cor rec t  to  be  concerned 

and  to  e leva te  i t  bu t  then what  I  f ind  s t range is  tha t  even 

Ano j  a t  the  t ime d id  no t  bo ther  to  go  back to  the  se t t lement  

agreement .   Tha t  i s  no t  a  p roper  in te rpre ta t ion  even i f  10 

though maybe Mr  Mapoma cou ld  have sa id  I  sa id .   I  cou ld  

no t  ins t ruc t  Mr  Mapoma to  do  someth ing  tha t  –  to  me i t  i s  

i l l og ica l  what  he  then in te rp re ted  is  what  the  agreement  

sa id .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   No,  no  sor ry  tha t  was not  h is  

in te rpre ta t ion .   You ins t ruc ted  h im  to  do  tha t .  

MR MKWANAZI :   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   That  i s  h is  ev idence.  

MR MKWANAZI :   No Cha i rman.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Wel l  when you say i t  i s  i l l og ica l  you 20 

say i t  was i l l og ica l  fo r  Ano j  to  do  tha t  you see tha t  Br ian  

Mole fe  s igned th is  memorandum.   And by  the  way  c lause 

3 .5  o f  the  se t t lement  ag reement  i s  ac tua l l y  reproduced a t  

the  beg inn ing  o f  the  memorandum.  

MR MK WANAZI :   I  am not  sure  how these peop le  –  
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Cha i rman I  am no t  sure  how these peop le  were  in te rpre t ing  

tha t  c lause 3 .5 .   I  w ish  somebody had come back to  me – 

ja  –  bu t  tha t  was now opera t iona l .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Mkwanaz i  be fore  I  leave th is  

sub jec t  someone d id  come to  you.    

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Mr  Mapoma came to  you and  

exp la ined tha t  as  fa r  as  he  was concerned Mr  Gama was  

not  ab le  to  ac tua l l y  p rove the  incur rence o f  any costs .   And 

what  you then ins t ruc ted  h im to  do  was to  pay Mr  Gama 10 

75% of  Transnet ’s  cos ts .  

MR MK WANAZI :   I  deny tha t  ins t ruc t ion  to  Mr  Mapoma.   I  

wou ld  have sa id  go  back to  the  agreement  and imp lement  

what  i s  in  the  agreement .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You see –  

MR MKWANAZI :   Because what  imp lemented is  over  and 

above what  was in  tha t  agreement .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You see Mr  Mkwanaz i  Mr  Mapoma says i f  

you  go to  the  se t t lement  agreement .  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   The 75% costs  tha t  i t  ta lks  about  a re  

taxed lega l  cos ts .   Okay.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You unders tand the  concept  o f  taxed 

lega l  cos ts?  
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MR MKWANAZI :   Yes I  do .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   So he says in  acco rdance w i th  

the  se t t lement  ag reement  they were  ins is t ing .   He sa id  Mr  

Langa tha t  i s  Mr  Gama’s  a t to rney sent  an  invo ice  o r  a  b i l l  I  

am not  sure  fo r  a  ce r ta in  amount  I  do  no t  know whether  i t  

was R12 mi l l ion  or  what  and i t  was not  taxed.   So he says 

he  was ins is t ing  tha t  75% -  the  75% of  lega l  cos ts  tha t  

Transnet  wou ld  pay wou ld  on l y  be  o f  taxed lega l  cos ts  tha t  

incu r red  by  Mr  Gama and he was ins i s t ing  on  tha t  w i th  

regard  to  Mr  Langa.   But  he  says Mr  Langa d id  no t  want  to  10 

submi t  a  taxed b i l l  –  a  taxed cos t  and the re  was a  de lay  

because there  was th i s  i ssue.   Mr  Mapoma was  ins is t ing 

tha t  i t  shou ld  be  taxed costs  and Mr  Langa was not  

submi t t ing  tha t .   Maybe he was no t  p repared to  submi t  tha t  

and in  the  meant ime there  was a  de lay.   So he says w i th  

the  de lay  –  now I  do  no t  know whe ther  Mr  Mkwanaz i  can… 

MR MKWANAZI :   There  is  someth ing  wrong here  I  need a  

he lp .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh there  is  someth ing  wrong.  

MR MKWANAZI :   Wi th  the  v ideo.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Wi th  the  v ideo.   Okay I  wonder  whethe r  

we shou ld  ad jou rn  fo r  somebody to  dea l  w i th  tha t  o r  a re  

they go ing  to  be  ab le  to  dea l  w i th  i t  wh i le  we are  ta lk ing?  

Do you know?  I  do  no t  know whether  i t  i s  to  be  f i xed  f rom 

th is  s ide .   Looks l i ke  we have –  where  are  ou r  techn ic ians?  



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 177 of 231 
 

I  jus t  need –  a t  –  you can s t i l l  hear  me? 

MR MKWANAZI :   I  can  hear  you c lear l y  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh i t  i s  jus t  the  v ideo.   Okay le t  us  ta lk  

wh i le  … 

MR MKWANAZI :   I t  i s… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Le t  us  ta l k  wh i le  they f i x  the  v ideo and i f  

we need to  ad journ  to  –  okay I  am to ld  tha t  i t  shou ld  be  

f ine  now.    

MR MKWANAZI :   I t  looks  l i ke  i t  i s  back.   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes okay.   Okay.   So I  am – I  was  say ing  10 

to  you Mr  Mapoma says the re  is  a  contex t  to  the  pos i t ion  

tha t  u l t imate ly  paid 75% of  i ts own legal  costs to Mr Gama’s 

at torneys.   And he says the context  is that  Mr Gama’s 

at torneys did not  want to  send a tax bi l l  or was delaying or  

was reluctant  to send a tax bi l l .    

 And in the meant ime, he was get t ing pressure f rom 

within Transnet  to  pay Mr Gama’s at torneys.   And he was the 

told:   Okay pay 75% of  Transnet ’s legal  costs.   And he says 

you inst ructed him to do that .  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  Chai rman I  d id not .  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  Myburgh.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id not .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So in other words,  what  he was saying 

is that  you sa id:   Use the Transnet bi l ls as a proxy for  Mr 

Gama’s costs.    
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MR MKWANAZI :    Hold i t .   Not  real ly.   I  th ink you are on the 

r ight  t rack,  Advocate Myburgh.   Please,  cont inue.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Is that  what you told him to do? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  real ly.   But  let  me st i l l  t ry and explain 

what th is was supposed to be even though Mr Mapoma 

interpreted i t  in a st range way.   The assumpt ion would have 

been that  Mr Gama would have paid certain costs at  that  

high court  process.    

 Then the idea was that  i f  he had to pay those,  then Mr 

Gama needed to be refunded 75% of  those costs only but  10 

st i l l  paid the 25%.  Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  I  th ink we al l  understand but  that  

is what was supposed to have happened but  i t  d id not .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And Mr Mapoma said i t  d id not  happen 

because you inst ructed him.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id not .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  who did instruct  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  am not  sure who did.   I  d id not .   Ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You do not  know who inst ructed him? 20 

MR MKWANAZI :    No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do not .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Let  us go then please to Bundle 1 to 

page 142.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 1.   One, four,  two?  Okay le t  me go 

back to 142.   Yes?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So what happened is,  somet ime later 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .mister. . .  there was an inquiry by the 

Di rector General  of  the Department of  Publ ic Enterpr ises 

about . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .Mr Gama’s legal  fees.   10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Why he wanted to become involved in 

th is one,  does not  know.  But  what happened is  that  Mr 

Mapoma then addressed a memorandum to Mr Molefe about  

Mr Gama’s legal  fees.   This is the memorandum.  Do you see 

i t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see i t ,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you see that  i t  was CC’d to  you? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  see that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Did you receive th is memorandum? 20 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  would have received i t  at  the t ime, yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   Wel l ,  that  is  helpful .   So let  

us go then to paragraph 6 at  page 143.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  
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“Mr Gama incurred legal  costs in two matters.   The 

f i rst  is his appl icat ion to the high court  in which 

Transnet used two sets of  at torneys,  Bowman 

Gi l f i l lan At torneys and Deneys Rei tz . ”    

 I  th ink everyone agrees that  should read Eversheds(?).  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“The second matter  in  which he incurred costs is the 

labour matter in  which he was charged in  a 

discipl inary process.   The costs in the high court  10 

were granted in Transnet ’s favour by the court . ”   

 That  you accept ,  r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  accept  that ,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

“These costs were supposed to have been paid by 

Mr Gama on which . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  accept  that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    “ . . .a set t lement wi th Mr Gama,  

Transnet sought  and obtained the tax 

bi l ls f rom these two f i rms of  at torneys 20 

and paid 75% of  the total  amount. ”    

 So here i t  is wri t ten in black and what actual ly happened 

is that  Mr Gama was paid 75% of  Transnet ’s costs.    

“The tax amounts included the fees of  counsel  which 

are indicated as d isbursements in the at torney’s bi l l .   
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The amount  of  R 69 603,19 were paid to Langa 

At torneys on 28 March 2011 being 75% of  the tax 

costs incurred by Transnet ’s to i ts a t torneys,  Deneys 

Rei tz and Bowman Gi l f i l lan,  respect ively.   The total  

amount paid to Langa At torneys on 28 March was 

therefore R 1 016 000,00. ”  

 Do you see that?   

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And you shake your head.  Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You shake your head.   I t  is 

unbel ievable.  

MR MKWANAZI :    No,  I  see the f igure.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    But  the quest ion is.   Did Gama paid  

Transnet in the f i rst  p lace?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Because that  is my problem as wel l .   That  

is why I  shake my head.  Because the idea was that . . .  the 

assumpt ion was.   Gama has paid the legal  fees of  Transnet ’s  20 

lawyers,  et  cetera.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Come now, Mr Mkwanazi .   Come now.  

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughing]    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You had issued an instruct ion to Mr 

Todd that  he must  stop the execut ion process.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So how could you have expected that  Mr 

Gama would have paid Transnet ’s legal  costs when you had 

instructed that  al l  steps to recover Transnet ’s legal  costs for  

Mr Gama should be stopped? 

MR MKWANAZI :    My interpretat ion. . .  I  understand,  

Chairman.  My in terpretat ion was that ,  as those processes 

were going,  Gama was servic ing h is obl igat ion to Transnet ’s  

lawyers.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    What obl igat ion now you are talk ing about  

now? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Whatever legal  fees had been incurred by 

Transnet ’s lawyers.  

CHAIRPERSON :    In regard to what? 

MR MKWANAZI :    In regard to the h igh court  matter.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  you never went back to Mr Todd and 

say:   Go ahead.  You remember I  stopped you f rom the 

process of  recovering Transnet ’s costs f rom Mr Gama.  Now I  

am saying go ahead.  You never went back to say that ,  d id  20 

you? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I f  I  recal l ,  I  d id not  do that  because I  was 

communicat ing some of  these decisions part icular ly  to stop 

wi th the Transnet ’s Group Legal .   But  the quest ion you are 

posing is a  relevant  quest ion in  that  i t  sounds l ike no 
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Transnet ’s legal  fees had been paid even by Gama at  that  

t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   He had. . .  Mr Todd gave evidence 

here and said . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .af ter the high court  had ordered that  he 

should pay costs,  they were in  communicat ion wi th his  

lawyers and he was not  paying the costs.    

 So they had to get  the costs taxed in the high court .   

There was a tax b i l l .   They informed him that  th is is how the 10 

costs have been taxed.   St i l l  d id not  pay.    

 So they then embarked upon the execut ion process.   

That  is the process which you inst ructed him to stop 

pursuing in January.   And you never  went back to him to say:   

Now you can cont inue.    

 Actual ly,  the set t lement agreement  Mr Mkwanazi  seems 

to be inconsistent  wi th the not ion that  you would have 

expected Mr Gama to be paying any legal  costs of  Transnet.    

 Because whereas he had been ordered by the high court  

to pay Transnet ’s costs in regard to the high court  20 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .you said to him:  We are going to pay 

75% of  the costs you incurred in taking us to court ,  

Mr Gama.  That  is inconsistent  wi th somebody who would. . .  
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to th ink af ter that  set t lement agreement which has got  that ,  

to th ink that  Mr Gama would be paying something towards 

Transnet,  is inconsistent  wi th that  posi t ion wi th the terms of  

the set t lement agreement.    

 Because there wi l l  be no point .   What point  would there 

have been for you to  say:   Mr Gama, we wi l l  pay 75% of  the 

costs you have incurred in the high court  appl icat ion against  

us.   I f  you were expect ing him to pay you,  Transnet ’s legal  

costs.   There would have been no point ,  is i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, I  would not  l ike to agree to ful ly  10 

that  interpretat ion because at  the t ime when this issue was 

being discussed,  my assumpt ion was Gama owes var ious 

lawyers a certain amount of  money.    

 And my assumpt ion was he should have paid by then 

al though yes in terms of  the Advocate Todd.  He might  not  

have paid but  the assumpt ion was he was going to pay.    

 Therefore,  whatever he would have been refunded would 

have been based on him having incurred certain costs which 

would have been then 75% of  those costs.    

 Not  the other way around where he has not  even 20 

incurred. . .  he has not  even paid and he gets paid.   That  is a 

tota l  misinterpretat ion of  that  agreement.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  Mr Mkwanazi ,  remember the 

t imef rame.  I t  is around mid-January 2011 that  you instruct  

. . . [ intervenes]   
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    that  you instruct  Mr Todd to stop the 

process . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .of  get t ing f rom Mr Gama the money that  

he owed Transnet  in terms of  the high court  order.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    You stop him.   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And the reason given is that  you are 10 

stopping him so that . . .  so as to give the set t lement  

negot iat ions a chance.   That  is  the reason that  was 

advanced.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.   So obviously,  pending the outcome 

of  the set t lement,  that  process of  recovering f rom Mr Gama 

was at  a standst i l l .   You accept  that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  could not  be . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  so i f  he could not . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  could have been . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    But  I  wi l l  accept  that ,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Let  me repeat  that .   That  process of  

recovering the legal  costs f rom Mr Gama for Transnet,  could 

not  have been ongoing whi le the negot iat ions were ongoing,  
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is i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was at  a standst i l l  that  process.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So when you were set t l ing,  negot ia t ing the 

terms of  the set t lement,  you knew that  the process to  

recover Transnet ’s legal  costs f rom Mr Gama was at  a  

standst i l l .   You could not  have thought that  he had been 

paying anything in the meant ime.  You could not  have 

thought that .    10 

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  was only about  a month before that  you 

said:   Mr Todd stop unt i l  we have f inal ised negot iat ions.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So I  am put t ing to you that  when you were 

negot iat ing and set t l ing the matter  and talk ing about 75% 

about Transnet  undertaking to pay 75% of  Mr Gama’s costs,  

i t  could not  have been because you thought Mr Gama had 

been paying some money towards Transnet in terms of  legal 

costs.   I t  could not  have been that .    20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, I  am not  sure what should have 

been paid by that  t ime but  what I  can indicate here,  there is 

a ser ious misinterpretat ion by a few people of  what that  

set t lement agreement meant.   Those people include 

Mr Mapoma and they include even Mr Anoj  Singh.   There is a  



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 187 of 231 
 

ser ious misinterpretat ion.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Myburgh.   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  thank you.   Mr Mkwanazi ,  one of  

the f i rst  quest ions that  I  asked you in relat ion to costs was,  

whether you accept  that  Mr Gama’s obl igat ion to pay 

Transnet ’s costs was actual ly compromised in the set t lement 

agreement.   I t  was wri t ten-off .   And you said you agreed 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  i t  was compromised.    

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   And you remember agreeing wi th  10 

that? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  do remember.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Ja.   Then paragraph 8:  

“Mr Gama’s own at torneys in  the high cour t 

appl icat ion,  the labour matter was Langa At torneys.   

When Transnet received thei r  b i l l  being presented 

for payment,  i t  became apparent  that  the bi l l  had not  

been taxed as agreed.    

Pr ior to  th is,  Transnet  had been asking for a tax bi l l  

and offered to pay for a pr ivate taxing master in  20 

order to faci l i tate the fast - t rack the taxat ion,  to no 

avai l .   When the bi l l  ar r ived,  i t  was pointed out  that  

the b i l l  was not  taxed but  merely drawn up properly.   

Af ter a number of  meet ings dur ing which i t  became 

clear that  the part ies would not  reach agreement,  
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Transnet inst ructed i ts legal  advisors to instruct  a  

pr ivate taxing master to tax the bi l l .   This was done.   

The total  amount came to R 2 293 000,00.   

According to the taxing master,  Langa At torneys 

Consul tant  who drew thei r  b i l l  was inst ructed not  to  

cooperate wi th the taxat ion process. ”  

 I  wi l l  leave out  the bracketed part .  

“Transnet net  paid the sum of  R 1 700 000,00 on 

9 June to Langa At torneys being 75% of  the tax 

costs.”  10 

 So that  part  you understand? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  do understand.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I t  is paragraph 7 that  you do not  

understand how . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja,  also by the way,  i f  I  can add on 

advocate?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Even that  one point  seven which say,  I  say 

I  understand.   I t  would have been on the basis that  Gama 

would have paid a certain amount,  not  just  on the basis of  20 

him being given a f reebie.   No.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So what the one point  seven 

compromised of  and let  me take you. . .  wel l ,  I  can take you to 

the documents i f  you want.   We have got  the bi l l  f rom Langa 

At torneys,  we have go the tax ing master ’s memo.   
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 And she taxes i t  down to two point  nine three and he is  

paid,  75% being one point  seven.   What he submit ted a bi l l  

and what  he was paid for  Mr Mkwanazi  was the h igh court ,  

h is discipl inary hear ing and the Bargaining Counci l  re ferral .    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  thank you.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So at  paragraph 7,  he had been paid 

our costs in respect  of  the high cour t .   And then in paragraph 

9,  do you see how he was then paid also his costs in the 

high court?  Astonishing,  is i t  not? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  agree wi th you.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  Mr Mkwanazi ,  you received this 

memorandum.  That  is your evidence.  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  d id but  at  the t ime, my interpretat ion. . .  of  

course,  I  am copied here.   There are these two people 

interact ing now.  The Group CEO and Mr Mapoma.  And at 

the t ime, I  was under the impression that ,  part icular ly 

Mr Mapoma, understood what the in tent ion of  that  set t lement 

agreement is.    

 But  th is  memo here was wrongly craf ted.   Yes,  I  should 

have highl ighted that  even say to Molefe that  th is  was not  20 

what was in the agreement.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you accept  that  Mr Gama was not  

ent i t led to 75% of  the costs he incurred dur ing the 

discipl inary hearing given the changes in the wording of  the 

two agreements,  set t lement agreements?  Do you accept  
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that?.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Let  me think of  i t  careful ly.   In the 

agreement,  ent i t led to which costs.   Can you please repeat?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Do you accept  that  he was not  ent i t led 

to the costs incurred dur ing the disc ipl inary hearing? 

MR MKWANAZI :    My understanding of  the agreement.   I t  d id  

not  cover that  for one or the other reason.   Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes.   Wel l ,  I  th ink there we agree wi th 

one another.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.   Yes.   That  agreement did not  cover 10 

that .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   Wel l ,  let  us then move on to 

something else.   And I  just  got  a few p ieces of  

correspondence and the l ike that  I  want  to refer you to.   And 

then I  want to take you br ief ly  to your supplementary 

aff idavi t .   Can I  ask you please to turn to Bundle 2?  

Cont inuing wi th the chronology.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 2.   Okay let  us check this. . .  Aside,  

ja.   We have Bundle 2.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wi l l  you please go to page 41,  four 20 

one? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 41.   Oaky I  am on page 41.   Wait .   

Forty-one or 21?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Forty-one.   Four one.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Forty-one.   Okay.   I  have go that .  



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 191 of 231 
 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A l r ight .   So the set t lement agreement  

signed on 22 and 23 February.   Page 41 is dated the 

6t h of  Apr i l ,  a month or two later.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And on the face of  i t ,  Deneys Rei tz ’ 

response on behal f  of  Transnet to the Publ ic Protector.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Did you come across this document?  

Was i t  shown to you? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  I  have seen this document.   Yes.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    A lr ight .   So let  us go then to 

paragraph 10 at  page 44.   Mr Gule wri tes to the Publ ic  

Protector and says:  

“ In addi t ion to the f indings made by Ant robus SC at  

the d iscip l inary inquiry and the grounds on which 

Mr Gama has referred the matter  for arbi t rat ion,  

there are legal  opinions that  had been furnished by 

two reputable f i rms of  at torneys relat ing to the 

procedural  and substant ive fai rness of  Mr Gama’s 

dismissal .    20 

These f i rms are Webber Wentzel  and Denys Rei tz  

Incorporated.    

A l l  these opinions conf i rmed that  Mr Gama’s 

dismissal  was substant ively and procedural ly fa i r. ”    

 This is been wri t ten on the 6 t h of  Apri l  af ter you have 
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re instated the man and paid h im - what is i t  -  the bet ter part  

of  R 16 mi l l ion.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Deneys Rei tz say that :  

“Al l  these opinions conf i rm that  Mr Gama’s dismissal  

was substant ively  and procedura l ly fa i r. ”  

 Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  that  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then they go on to  say at  

paragraph 12:  10 

“ In any event ,  the dismissal  d ispute referred to the 

Transnet Bargaining Counci l  by Mr  Gama has been 

set t led amicable.   The terms of  the set t lement are 

conf ident ia l .    

However,  we conf i rm that  Mr Gama has been 

re instated as CEO.  Accordingly,  we submit  that  al l  

the issues raised wi th regard to the al leged 

unfai rness of  Mr Gama’s dismissal  are now 

academic. ”  

 So here . . . [ intervenes]   20 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  see this.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .Mr Gule tel ls the Publ ic Protector 

that  there are a number of  opinions including by Denys Rei tz 

that  conf i rm that  Mr Gama’s dismissal  was substant ively and 

procedural ly fa i r.    
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    This is the man you reinstated a few 

months ear l ier  and paid R 13 mi l l ion in LTI ’s,  STI ’s and back 

pay and then the bet ter part  of  R 3 mi l l ion in costs.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    How do you explain this? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  f ind i t  st range that  even though this th ing 

is an opinion of  the same ent i ty,  Deneys Rei tz,  that  much 

earl ier on,  somet ime in February,  i t  created doubt  on the 

possibi l i t ies of  success i f  th is matter was taken through the 10 

Transnet Bargaining Counci l  process and through to the fact  

that  th is  doubt  was created,  then this set t lement agreement 

was reached.  And of  course now, there is th is shame which 

then says Mr Gama’s dismissal  is  now academic.   I  see that ,  

ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    But  you see Mr Mkwanazi ,  you never 

took the t rouble to i ron out  the contradict ion in Deneys Rei tz ’ 

report  to you.  

MR MKWANAZI :    There is a point  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .on the 22nd of  January,  did you? 20 

MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    So when you say . . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    No . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    . . .wi thout  a  doubt ,  that  was because 

you were reading and you were seeing that  you wanted to.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, I  concede at  the t ime that  yes 

there was this doubt  but . . .  because even as ear ly as that  as 

wel l ,  Deneys Rei tz in that  ear l ier  let ter,  d id indicate that  

Transnet did have a strong case,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Wel l ,  let  me then deal  wi th the next  

document.   You yoursel f  some t ime later submit ted a 

response to the Publ ic Protector.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I f  you go to page 48,  you wi l l  f ind i t  

there.   I  see that  you have signed i t  at  page 55 on the 10 

30t h of  June.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Where is i t?  Is i t  page 48?  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  Bundle 2,  page 48.    

MR MKWANAZI :    Bundle 2,  page 48.   Yes okay.   Yes,  I  have 

got  i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now you were in a. . .  by this  t ime, we 

know that  KPMG/Nkonki  had issued thei r  inter im report ,  

correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And that  report  was dated ei ther 26 or  20 

28 Apri l .   Correct? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct ,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Now, Mr Mkwanazi  th is is qui te a long 

t ime af ter Mr Gama’s reinstatement,  some four months or so,  

af ter his reinstatement,  r ight? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Let  us see what you wri te  to the 

Publ ic Protector.   Under the heading:   Substant ive and 

Procedural  Fai rness.   There is a  2 in brackets.   You say 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    Oh,  yes I  see i t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    You say:  

“However,  there are matters which the audi tors 

discovered where certain employees of  the company 

may have been gui l ty of  offences simi lar to the 10 

offences wi th which Mr Gama was charged with.”  

 We have been through al l  of  that .  

MR MKWANAZI :    H’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    “ . . .and yet  no discipl inary act ion was 

taken against  him.”   

MR MKWANAZI :    H’m.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    “ In such ci rcumstances,  there is an  

argument that  Transnet may have 

acted inconsistent ly. ”  

 So that  is the best  you could do in June to say:   We may 20 

have acted inconsistent ly.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Not  that  you d id act  inconsistent ly.   

Not  that  you knew that  you were going to lose at  the 

Bargaining Counci l .   Only that  you may have acted 
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inconsistent ly.   Is that  r ight? 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  is correct .  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    And then look at ,  to dr ive home the 

point  – look at  4 in brackets at  the foot  of  the page.  

“ I t  would therefore appear that  to the extent  that  no 

discipl inary act ion was taken in  these matters,  

Mr Gama may have been able to susta in the 

argument on inconsistent  t reatment .    

Such inconsistency may have had a bearing,  not  

only the on the decision to charge Mr Gama but  also  10 

on the sanct ion dismissal . ”  

 Now why on earth do you reinstate the man and pay him 

R 13 mi l l ion in back pay and benef i ts and R 3 mi l l ion in costs 

when at  absolute best  for him he may have had a case on 

what you are tel l ing the Publ ic  Protector?  How is  that  

possible?   

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman,  as you can see.   Even in my 

submission to the Publ ic Protector,  there is always this may 

have,  may have.   And interest ingly enough, as we have 

discussed. . .  even the few examples that  maybe I  made of  the 20 

V and E (?) and a l .  these . . . [ indist inct ]  cont racts.   They are 

not  ident ical  to the offences that  Mr Gama commit ted.   That  I  

concede but . . .  ja.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Mr Mkwanazi ,  why do you set t le  wi th  a 

man when he may have had a case? 
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MR MKWANAZI :    [No audible reply]   

ADV MYBURGH SC :    I  do not  understand that .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Chairman, yes I  understand ful ly.   P lease 

cont inue.  

ADV MYBURGH SC :    No,  but  i t  is not  about  you 

understanding ful ly.   And why do you then capi tulate in the 

set t lement negot iat ions?  At  the best  for him, here you te l l ing 

the Publ ic Protector,  th is is a carefu l ly thought out ,  no doubt,  

response.   At  best  for him, he may have had a case.   What is 

going on here Mr Mkwanazi? 10 

MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman, I  had indicated that  there was 

this doubt  created that  we may or may not  win th is th ing 

when i t  went  thought the Transnet Bargaining Counci l .  

MR MKHWANAZI (COUNSEL) :    Chai r,  i f  I  may? 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes? 

MR MKHWANAZI  (COUNSEL) :    I f  I  may answer that  and 

say?  Chai r,  I  am asking you to perhaps assist  the process?   

Because I  bel ieve that  what Advocate Myburgh is  asking 

now, are issues that  have been substant ia l ly  deal t  wi th up to 

th is point  especia l ly on Fr iday,  giv ing our session wi th you 20 

Chai r.    

 I  feel  that  we have exhausted most  of  the issues as i t  

can be.   Advocate Myburgh is asking the same quest ion:   

Why did you set t le?  Why did you capi tu late?  And so on.   So 

can you please assist  us here? 



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 198 of 231 
 

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR MKHWANAZI (COUNSEL) :    So that  we can have some 

f inal i ty,  so to speak.   So we can enable him to cont inue to 

other matters.   I  am asking you to guide us here.   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   No,  no.   That  is f ine.   I  am sure that  

in part  i t  is the answers that  come from Mr Mkwanazi  that  

cont inue to leave quest ions.   But  i t  is okay.   I  understand.   

Mr Myburgh,  do you want to say anything? 

ADV MYBURGH SC :    Yes,  certa inly.   Wel l ,  th is l ine of  

quest ioning comes direct ly f rom Mr Mkwanazi ’s own let ter to 10 

the Publ ic Protector.   I  know that  not  in th is context  I  guess 

tha t  tha t  i s  someth ing  I  need  not  pursue any fu r ther  

cer ta in ly  th is  le t te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  I  jus t  wanted to  conf i rm,  by  the  

t ime you wro te  th is  le t te r  to  the  Pub l ic  Pro tec to r  you no  

doubt  had cons idered the  mat te r  very  care fu l l y  and  i t  i s  a  

care fu l l y  thought  ou t  response to  the  Pub l ic  Pro tec to r,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Le t  us  ind ica te  tha t  when you say 20 

care fu l l y  cons ide red response,  a  le t te r  l i ke  th is  wou ld  no t  

have been authored by  myse l f ,  as  such,  bu t  i t  wou ld  have 

been authored in  o rgan isa t ion  in  suppor t  o f  what  I  cou ld  

have been te l l ing  them,  yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But  i t  i s  someth ing  no  doubt  tha t  you 
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agreed w i th .  

MR MKWANAZI :    A t  the  t ime,  yes ,  I  agree w i th  bu t  based  

on these d iscuss ions tha t  we are  now hav ing ,  there  are  

some in te res t ing  ho les  on  s im i la r i t ies  wh ich  f rank l y  a re  no t  

there  in  te rms  o f  whether  the  Gama mat te r  was a  

procu rement  mat te r  o r  was a  m isconduct  mat te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  no ,  I  th ink  you migh t  have  

…[ in tervenes]  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  d i f fe rence  is  beg inn ing  to  emerge,  

ja .  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  you have conceded tha t  fa i r l y.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Le t  me move to  anothe r  document  

p lease.   I f  I  cou ld  ask  you p lease to  go  to  f i le  3 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    F i le  3 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And to  page  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  bund le  3 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  beg your  pardon,  bund le  3 .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Bund le  3 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    To  page 479.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Page 479?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Okay.    

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A re  you the re?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  have got  tha t  page 479,  yes .  
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ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  th is  i s  a  meet ing  o f  the  Corpora te  

Governance and  Nominat ion  Commi t tee  he ld  on  the  11  

Apr i l  and you see tha t  you were  present  together  w i th  four  

o f  you r  fe l low board  members .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Th is  i s  11  Apr i l  bu t  two and  a  ha l f  

months  –  sor ry,  a  month  and a  ha l f  a f te r  Mr  Gama’s  

re ins ta tement .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Can I  ask  you p lease to  go  to  page  10 

482?  

CHAIRPERSON:    I t  i s  tha t  per iod  o f  the  se t t lement  

agreement ,  Mr  Myburgh,  and i t  i s  w i th in  two weeks a f te r  he  

has assumed duty.   I  jus t  make tha t  observa t ion .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  Cha i rperson.  

CHAIRPERSON:    For  another  reason tha t  w i l l  be  –  I  w i l l  

dea l  w i th  la te r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    So  th is  i s  shor t l y  a f te r  Mr  Gama 

resumes h i s  du t i es  and shor t l y  a f te r  the  se t t lement .   A t  

page 482,  i f  I  can  ask you to  go  to  the  m idd le  o f  page.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Pa ragraph 5 .2 .3 .4 ,  there  the  

commi t tee  –  th is  i s  the  commi t tee  tha t  you were  cha i r ing ,  

Corpora te  Governance and Nomina t ion .    

“Requested management  to  make a  presenta t ion  
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cove r ing ,  amongs t  o thers ,  the  fo l low ing:  

What  i s  a  condonat ion  process?   Where  does i t  

o r ig ina te  f rom?  Where  does i t  ge t  approved and  

regu lar i sed?”  

I t  seems tha t  on  the  face  o f  i t  you  and your  fe l low board  

d i rec tors  knew p rec ious l i t t le  about  condonat ion  a t  th is  

t ime,  i s  tha t  no t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  maybe not .   Le t  me  t ry  and 

exp la in  a t  t imes how these th ings  were  evo lv ing .   You s t i l l  

need to  reca l l  tha t  yes ,  tha t  board ,  when i t  was dea l ing  10 

w i th  cer ta in  i ssues,  was a  new board  and i t  a lmost  needed 

a  re- i nduct ion  because even when  an induct ion  cou ld  have  

been done i t  m igh t  no t  have been done to  tha t  de ta i l  to  

tha t  board .   Yes,  tha t  i s  how I  in te rpre t  5 .2 .3 .4 .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    But ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  I  th ink  you are  

perhaps miss ing  the  po in t .   These are  peop le  who had  

vo ted  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama in  the  name o f  condonat ion ,  

inc lud ing  you.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  cor rec t ,  yes ,  [ inaud ib le  –  

speak ing  s imul taneous ly ]  20 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Who now needed an induct ion  in to  

condonat ion .   I s  tha t  what  you are  say ing?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  what  I  am say ing ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Wel l ,  tha t  i s  p rec i se l y  the  prob lem 

po in ted  to  by  Mr  Todd in  h is  ev idence.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes,  he  d id .  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  mean,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  i t  i s  the  same 

peop le  –  the  same peop le  who invoked condonat ion ,  the 

condonat ion  process a t  Transnet  to  jus t i f y  re ins ta t ing  Mr  

Gama.   I t  i s  the  same peop le  who  on the  11  Apr i l  say  they 

are  request ing  management  to  make a  presenta t ion  to  dea l  

w i th  very  bas i c  quest ions.   The f i rs t  quest ion  they want  

management  to  dea l  w i th  i s ,  what  i s  a  condonat ion  

process?  But  they are  supposed  to  have known tha t  by  

then because how cou ld  they have invoked the  condonat ion  10 

process to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama i f  they  do  not  what  a  

condonat ion  process is  a t  Transnet?   You unders tand our  

d i f f i cu l t y?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand,  Cha i rman.   Maybe  le t  me 

t ry  and get  a  l i t t le  b i t  o f  –  i t  i s  no t  background but  a t  tha t  

t ime in  a lmost  the  f i rs t  two mon ths  o f  2011,  maybe f i rs t  

th ree  months  –  aga in ,  I  do  no t  have p roof ,  bu t  we cou ld  

have dea l t  maybe w i th  c lose  to  20  condonat ion  

app l i ca t ions and there fo re  tha t  i s  why then th is  board  was  

say ing  ho ld  i t ,  there  i s  too  much o f  these condonat ions,  20 

can somebody come and exp la in  in  de ta i l  what  a re  these 

condonat ion  a l l  about?   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    But ,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  tha t  i s  what  i s  –  tha t  

i s  what  makes i t  even worse .   I  mean,  a  quest ion  l ike  th is ,  

what  i s  a  condonat ion  process,  i s  a  quest ion  you  shou ld  
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ask  be fore  do ing  you f i rs t  condonat ion  case,  i t  i s  no t  a  

quest ion  you shou ld  ask  a f te r  do ing  20  condonat ion  cases.   

You unders tand what  I  mean?  

MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand where  you coming f rom.  

CHAIRPERSON:    By  tha t  t ime you are  supposed  to  be  

very  fami l ia r  w i th  th is ,  you cannot  be  ask ing  tha t  bas ic  

quest ion .   I f  you  ask  i t  a f te r  do ing  20  condonat ion  cases,  

you know,  peop le  w i l l  be  tempted to  say i t  mean th is  

person d id  no t  know what  he  or  she was do ing  th rough  

these 20 condonat ion  cases i f  he  or  she does not  know 10 

what  a  condonat ion  process is  a t  Transnet?   You 

unders tand what  I  mean? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  unders tand,  Cha i rman,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  thank you.    

MR MKHWANAZI :    Cha i r,  i f  I  may,  i f  you  may indu lge  me,  

Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR MKHWANAZI :    Cha i r,  I  th ink  i t  i s  a  b i t  un fa i r  on  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  to  assume tha t  hav ing  an  induct ion  condonat ion  20 

who dr i ve  a  lack  o f  unders tand ing  or  knowledge o f  what  

condonat ion  is .   Many ins t i tu t ions ,  Cha i r,  inc lud ing ,  you  

know,  lawyers  and everyone f rom t ime to  t ime have 

induct ions a round top ics .   They  a l ready -  fo r  example ,  

Cha i r,  most  o f  compan ies  have induct ions eve ry  day on  



19 OCTOBER 2020 – DAY 286 
 

Page 204 of 231 
 

K ing  IV  on  the  Companies  Act ,  e tce te ra ,  e tce tera ,  i t  does  

not  p resuppose tha t  th is  pe rson does not  unders tand what  

i t  i s .   So I  am jus t  t ry ing  to  ass is t ,  Cha i r,  to  make su re  tha t  

we he lp  the  process ra ther  than t ry ing  to ,  you know,  

c rea te ,  you know,  fa lse  impress ions.  

 And then my submiss ion  tha t  I  am t ry ing  to  make  

now,  Cha i r,  i s  tha t  an  induct ion  does not  p resuppose lack  

o f  unders tand ing  o f  what  i s  go ing  on  and I  wou ld  l i ke  to  

leave i t  a t  tha t ,  Cha i r.   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  bu t  you th ink  tha t  my react ion  10 

is  based on Mr  Mkwanaz i ’s  s ta tement  tha t  the re  was a  

need fo r  induct ion  or  anyth ing  to  do  w i th  induct ion  bu t  my 

quest ion  does no t  s tem f rom tha t .   I t  s tems f rom the  mere  

fac t  tha t  the  m inutes  re f lec t  tha t  th is  commi t tee  sa id  they  

wanted to  be  addressed on what  a  condonat ion  process is  

so  tha t  tha t  i s  where  i t  comes f rom,  so  tha t  i s  what  I  am 

say ing .  

MR MKHWANAZI :    Yes,  Cha i r,  and I  agree,  Cha i r.   When  

we do,  fo r  example ,  board  induct ions,  we s ta r t  there  as  

we l l ,  we s ta r t  by  ask ing  what  i s  K ing  IV.   I t  does not  20 

presuppose tha t  i t  means someone does not  know what  i t  

i s  and most  o f  the  t ime,  Cha i r,  you  do these induct ions w i th  

very  sen ior  exper ienced board  peop le  who exact ly,  s i t  on 

var ious boards,  bu t  the  induct ions are  used fo r  d i f fe ren t  

purposes inc lud ing  and showing tha t  peop le  have a  
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common unders tand ing  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  no ,  …[ in tervenes]  

MR MKH WANAZI :    O f  the  issues  tha t  they have because  

you may come f rom d i f fe ren t  ins t i tu t ions  where  the  

in te rpre ta t ion  tha t  the  Transnet  may have d i f fe ren t  bu t  you  

are  now mak ing  sure  tha t  tha t  the  organ isa t ion  have a  

common unders tand ing  and I  ac tua l l y  do  no t  see anyth ing  

wrong w i th  tha t  Cha i r,  and I  jus t  wanted to  c la r i f y  tha t .   But  

thank you fo r  you [ ind is t inc t ]  10 .05  as  we l l ,  Cha i r.   Thank  

you.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   No,  jus t  to  c la r i f y  and we w i l l  

p roceed jus t  now.   So the  idea is  tha t  somebody  or  the 

commi t tee  wou ld  no t  ask  the  quest ion  what  i s  a  

condonat ion  p rocess i f  they  know what  a  condonat ion  

process is .   That  i s  the  po in t  o f  depar tu re .   But  okay,  le t  us  

cont inue.   Mr  Myburgh.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  jus t  to  end  o f f ,  Mr  

Mkwanaz i ,  do  you have your  supp lementary  a f f idav i t?   I t  

shou ld  have been added to  bund le  4 ,  jus t  be fo re  the  tab  

BB19.  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Bund le  4 .   Yes,  p lease ho ld .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Jus t  be fore  the  tab  BB19.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Be fore  t ab  19 .   Okay.   Cha i rman,  I  have 

got  i t  in  f ron t  o f  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And the  page number  i s  a  d i f f i cu l t  
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one,  i t  i s  bund le  4 ,  page 21.414,  a re  you there? 

MR MKWANAZI :    I  have got  tha t  in  f ron t  o f  me.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A l r igh t ,  thank you.   Now,  Mr  

Mkwanaz i ,  g iven the  la teness in  the  day,  I  am not  go ing  to  

take  you th rough  a l l  o f  th is  and a  lo t  o f  what  you say here  

are  th ings tha t  I  th ink  have been c la r i f ied  bu t  paragraphs 

1 ,  2  and 3  need  no in t roduct ion  o f  ment ion .   You say a t  

parag raph 4  tha t  in  your  in i t ia l  a f f idav i t  you d id  no t  dea l  

w i th  cer ta in  th ings and you now address them in  th is  

supp lementary  a f f idav i t .   Cor rec t?  10 

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then a t  paragraph 5  you say tha t  

you met  w i th  Min is te r  G igaba in  October  2010.   That  we 

have a l ready dea l t  w i th .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    A t  6  you say:  

“A t  th is  Min is te r  G igaba a lso  requested tha t  the  

incoming board  must  a lso  rev iew the  fa i rness o f  the  

d ismissa l  o f  Mr  Gama. ”  

We have t rave rsed tha t .  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    We have dea l t  w i th  i t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then you say a t  paragraph 7  tha t  on 

22  December  you rece ived a  le t te r  f rom the  Pub l ic  

Pro tec tor,  the  board  then appo in ted  a  jo in t  venture  team o f  

KPMG and Nkonk i .   We have dea l t  w i th  tha t .  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say:  

“The jo in t  ventu re  p rov ided the  board  w i th  the  

f i rs t /d ra f t  repor t  wh ich  was used by  the  board  in  i t s  

de l ibe ra t ions on  the  mat te r  o f  the  d ismissa l . ”  

I  have dea l t  w i th  th is  repor t  ex tens i ve l y  in  the  in i t ia l  

a f f idav i t .   I  th ink  you accept  though tha t  the re  was no f i rs t  

repor t  be fore  the  board  made i t s  dec is ion  on  the  16  

February,  co r rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  yes ,  there  was some repor t  10 

bu t  i t  was not  ex tens ive .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No.  

MR MKWANAZI :    There  was a  repor t  a round  the  24  

January  by  KPMG.   I  say  i t  was not  ex tens i ve  as  in  te rms 

o f  dea l ing  w i th  the  rea l  i ssues on the  Gama mat te r.   I t  was 

more  a  p lann ing  repor t  by  KPMG.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    When you  say i t  was ex tens i ve ,  i t  

was prog ress repor t ,  i t  d id  no t  dea l  w i th  the  fac ts .  

MR MKWANAZI :    I t  was p rogress repor t ,  tha t  i s  cor rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   And I  do  no t  want  to  re -20 

t raverse  tha t  g round.   Paragraph 9 :  

“ In  add i t ion  to  the  KPMG/Nkonk i  repor t  the  board  

sought  lega l  adv ice  f rom Deneys  Re i tz  A t to rneys.   

Deneys Re i tz  adv ised the  board  tha t  i t  w i l l  be  in  the  

best  in te res ts  o f  Transnet  to  se t t le  the  mat te r  than  
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ge t  invo lved in  p ro t rac ted  l i t iga t ion  w i th  consequent  

f inanc ia l  d isadvantages.   The board  rece ived th is  

adv ice  in  good o rde r,  took in to  cons ide ra t ion  o the r  

repor ts  a t  the  t ime o f  i r regu la r  expend i tu re  in  

mak ing  a  dec i s ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama. ”  

I  have a l ready  quest ioned you ex tens ive ly  about  the  

Deneys Re i tz  adv ice ,  I  am not  go ing  to  re - t raverse  tha t .   

Then you now say fo r  the  f i rs t  t ime tha t :  

“The board  fu r ther  regarded the  exper t i se  tha t  Mr  

Gama possessed as  c r i t i ca l  to  Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  10 

and tha t  h is  depar tu re  w i l l  have a  marked impact  on  

the  organ isa t ion .   Th is  board  cons idered was  

inva luab le . ”  

I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    I  th ink  as  you have cand id l y  

answered in  response to  quest ions  by  the  Cha i rpe rson tha t  

these were  no t  the  exper t i se  tha t  you needed a t  Transnet ,  

a  Ch ie f  Execut ive  who b l ind ly  s igned a  document  a l lowed a  

f raud to  be  perpe t ra ted  on the  company,  cor rec t?  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman has a l ready touched on tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes,  exact ly.  

MR MKWANAZI :    In  some o f  h is  remarks ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And then pa ragraph 11:  

“C i rcumstances  preva len t  a t  the  t ime and  
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fo reseeab le  tumul tuous e f fec t  tha t  Mr  Gama’s  

d ismissa l  wou ld  have had on the  opera t ion  o f  

Transnet  Fre igh t  Ra i l  requ i red  the  board  pu t  more  

focus on  the  s tab i l i t y  o f  the  group. ”  

Th is  i s  a l so  a  new issue i t  wou ld  seem to  me to  be  dea l t  

w i th  tha t  the  board  –  bu t  what  a re  we say ing  here ,  tha t  

desp i te  the  fac t  tha t  he  was gu i l t y  o f  very  ser ious 

m isconduct  you dec ided to  take  h im back in  the  name o f  

s tab i l i t y  o f  the  group.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  10 

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Bu t  the  main  reason tha t  you  took Mr  

Gama back,  you  have sa id  repeated ly,  i s  because there  

was a  s l igh t  doub t  tha t  you might  no t  w in  a t  the  barga in ing  

counc i l ,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  a lso  co r rec t ,  Cha i r,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.   And then you say:  

“The board ,  hav ing  cons ide red  these fac tors ,  

reso lved tha t  the  re ins ta tement  was in  the  best  

in te res t  o f  the  organ isa t ion . ”  

You dea l  w i th  re t rospect iv i t y  o f  re ins ta tement  and  a  f ina l  20 

wr i t ten  warn ing .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say a t  parag raph 13:  

“As s ta ted  in  paragraph 7  above the  board  was du ly  

adv ised by  Deneys Re i tz  A t to rneys tha t  l i t i ga t ion  i s  
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a lways uncer ta in  and there  is  a  r i sk  on  e i ther  s ide .   

Fur ther,  the  board  was adv ised tha t  i t  m igh t  make  

sense to  se t t le  the  mat te r  ra ther  than be ing  

invo l ved in  a  drawn out  and cost ly  lega l  ba t t le . ”  

Then you say a t  14 :  

“Hav ing  conver ted  the  sanct ion  o f  d ismissa l  to  a 

f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  the  board  cou ld  no t  have dated  

the  convers ion  to  any o ther  da te  o the r  than the  

or ig ina l  da te  o f  the  sanct ion  be ing  the  da te  o f  

d ismissa l . ”  10 

I  th ink  we have  t raversed  the  fac t  tha t  the  f ina l  wr i t ten  

warn ing  had a l ready run  i t s  course  upon Mr  Gama’s  

re ins ta tement .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    You say:  

“ I  cannot  specu la te  on  what  the  arb i t ra to r  wou ld  

have l i ke l y  o r  un l i ke ly  awarded  cons ide r ing  the  

uncer ta in  na ture  o f  l i t i ga t ion  as  re fer red  to  above 

as  adv i sed by  Deneys Re i tz . ”  

Aga in  your  po in t ,  tha t  there  was [ ind is t inc t ]  17 .08  out  bu t  20 

no th ing  e lse .  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then under  the  head ing :  

“Ro le  p layed by  any member  o f  cab ine t . ”  

You say:  
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“ I  con f i rm tha t  ne i ther  the  se t t lement  nor  the  te rms 

on wh ich  the  se t t lement  was made  were  in f luenced 

by  any member  o f  cab ine t  a t  the  t ime.   Min is te r  

G igaba mere ly  requested the  board  to  rev iew the  

fa i rness o f  the  d i smissa l  o f  Mr  Gama. ”  

We have t rave rsed tha t  a l ready repeated ly.  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Then in  re la t ion  to  costs  you say:  

“The board  was a t  a l l  mater ia l  t imes suppor ted  by  

the  Group Genera l  Manager  Lega l  Serv ices  in  the  10 

f ina l i sa t ion  o f  the  se t t lement  agreement . ”  

That  i s  Mr  Mapoma,  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  yes .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And a t  19 :  

“The board  wou ld  have expec ted the  Genera l  

Manager  Lega l  Serv i ces  hav ing  been ins t rumenta l  

in  the  dra f t ing  o f  the  agreement  to  have f lagged any  

lega l  cha l lenges  assoc ia ted  w i th  the  payment  o f  

cos ts ,  i f  any. ”  

And I  have a l ready quest ioned you about  tha t .  20 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    And in  fac t  pu t  to  you tha t  Mr  

Mapoma sa id  tha t  he  ra ised the  very  i ssue w i th  you and I  

have put  to  you  what  he  says was your  ins t ruc t ion .   I s  

there  anyth ing  e lse  you wou ld  l i ke  to  add then,  Mr  
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Mkwanaz i?  

MR MKWANAZI :    No.   Advocate ,  no ,  no th ing  except  tha t  I  

d id  ind ica te  tha t  I  d id  no t  ins t ruc t  Mr  Mapoma,  in  my 

in te rpre ta t ion  to  do  someth ing  tha t  i s  a lmost  i l lega l  in  

te rms o f  what  he  c la ims,  to  pay Gama’s  lawyers ,  the  way 

they in te rp re ted  tha t  agreement .   To  me,  tha t  I  d id  no t  

ins t ruc t  Mr  Mapoma to  do  tha t .  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Thank you,  Mr  Cha i rperson,  we have 

no fu r the r  quest ions fo r  th is  w i tness.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.   Now,  Mr  Mkwanaz i ,  were  10 

you,  as  a  board ,  concerned tha t  i f  you  d id  no t  se t t le  the 

mat te r  o f  Mr  Gama’s  un fa i r  d ismissa l  c la im on the  terms on  

wh ich  you se t t led  i t ,  someth ing  wou ld  happen tha t  wou ld  

no t  be  in  the  in te res t s  o f  Transnet?   I s  the re  someth ing  you 

were  concerned wou ld  happen tha t  wou ld  no t  be  in  the  

in te res t  o f  Transnet?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  am not  aware  o f  someth ing  

tha t  cou ld  have happened.   No,  I  am not  aware ,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now i f  you re fused to  inc lude a  

cont r ibu t ion  o f  cos ts  in  the  se t t lement  agreement  in  20 

re la t ion  to  the  H igh  Cour t  mat te r.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  d id  you th ink  was the  wors t  th ing  

tha t  cou ld  happen to  Transnet  i f  you  s tood your  g round and 

to ld  Mr  Gama and h is  lawyers  we  are  no t  go ing  to  make 
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any  cont r ibu t ion  to  your  costs  in  regard  to  the  H igh  Cour t  

app l i ca t ion?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  th ink  anyth ing  wou ld  

have happened to  Transnet .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you th ink  Mr  Gama wou ld  s t i l l  have 

s igned the  se t t lement  agreement  o r  do  you th ink  he  wou ld  

have proceeded to  go  to  the  arb i t ra t ion?  

MR MKWANAZI :     Cha i rman,  I  do  no t  know i f  he  wou ld  

have s igned a t  the  t ime but  –  and wou ld  have proceeded to  

arb i t ra t ion  bu t  based on the  post  events  tha t  we are  10 

observ ing ,  had he –  had Transnet  re fused to  dea l  w i th  

cer ta in  th ings and then say had he gone th rough the  

Transnet  barga in ing  counc i l  p rocess,  d i f fe ren t  ou tcomes  

cou ld  have been on the  tab le ,  ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  l i ke  what  ou tcome do you th ink  cou ld  

have happened?  In  o ther  words,  you know when l i t igants  

se t t le  a  mat te r  tha t  i s  s tand ing  in  cour t  o r  in  a rb i t ra t ion ,  

each par ty  we ighs up  i t s  r i sks  and i t s  p rospects .   I f  I  am 

the  employer  and I  do  no t  wan t  the  employee  to  be  

re ins ta ted ,  I  look  a t  the  prospects  tha t  I  cou ld  lose  and the  20 

employee cou ld  be  re ins ta ted .   Okay?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And I  say  we l l ,  we w i l l  g ive  you  an ex  

gra t ia  payment  o r  compensat ion  o r  12  months ,  equ iva len t  

to  12  months  sa la ry.   I f  you  take  tha t  we ca l l  i t  qu i t s .   
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Then,  f rom the  employer ’s  s ide ,  I  know tha t  what  I  am 

get t ing  is  tha t  the  employee is  no t  coming back because I  

th ink  i t  i s  a  bad th ing  fo r  my company fo r  the  employee to  

be  brought  back,  okay?  

 Now i f  you are  an  employee,  you want  your  job  

back,  you push fo r  tha t  bu t  i f  the  employer  res i s ts  you  

might  end up say ing  okay,  I  can take  money because you 

say you th ink  i f  I  ins is t  and the  employer  re fuses and we 

end up in  the  arb i t ra t ion ,  I  m igh t  ge t  no th ing .    Okay? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    So  what  i s  i t ,  i f  there  was anyth ing ,  tha t  

the  board  o f  Eskom – you and the  board  o f  Transnet  were  

fear ing  cou ld  poss ib ly  happen i f  you d id  no t  agree to  

cont r ibu te  to  Mr  Gama’s  H igh  Cour t  lega l  cos ts?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  maybe le t  me put  the  issues a  

l i t t le  b i t  d i f fe ren t ly.   Whi le  Mr  Gama was on suspens ion,  

e tce te ra ,  Mr  Tau Morwe was Act ing  CEO and wh i le  Mr  Tau 

Morwe was ac t ing  CEO,  tha t  bus iness f rank l y  was not  

do ing  very  we l l  e i ther  in  te rms o f  opera t ions,  e tce tera .   I f  I  

reca l l  a t  the  t ime we a lmost  had dera i lments  every  week a t  20 

the  t ime.    

So then we somehow knew tha t  we s t i l l  want  th is  

execut ive  back to  come and f i x  some o f  the  th ings tha t  

were  no t  go ing  we l l  in  tha t  par t i cu la r  bus iness un i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So you feared tha t  i f  you  d id  no t  reach  
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agreement  w i th  h im you w i l l  no t  have h im back and 

there fo re  wou ld  no t  have somebody to  f i x  those prob lems 

a t  TFR? 

 MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  there  wou ld  have been  

somebody e l se ,  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  tha t  i s  how bad ly  you wan ted h im 

back?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  the  s i tua t ion  was not  look ing  

good in  te rms o f  opera t ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And so  is  tha t  why then you were  10 

prepared to  cont r ibu te  75% of  h i s  lega l  cos ts  in  regard  to  

the  H igh  Cour t?   I s  tha t  the  reason?  Because  i t  i s  an  

ex t raord ina ry  th ing  to  do  tha t ,  what  you and your  board  

d id .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  yes ,  i t  i s  ex t raord inary  bu t  the  

in te rpre ta t ion  I  am see ing  now is  no t  what  was in tended.   

So there  is  someth ing  no t  r igh t  w i th  tha t  imp lementa t ion ,  

yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  what  were  these –  what  was th is  

spec ia l  exper t i se  or  someth ing  tha t  you and your  board  20 

thought  Mr  Gama had wh ich  you  thought  tha t  wou ld  add 

va lue  to  Transnet  desp i te  what  we have been ta lk ing  about  

in  te rms o f  what  he  had done and the  t ype o f  CEO he 

seems to  have been in  te rms o f  what  he  was found gu i l t y  

o f?    
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What  i s  i t  tha t  seemed so  spec ia l  tha t  you d id  no t  

th ink  you cou ld  ge t  i f  you  adver t i sed h is  pos i t ion ,  i f  you  d id  

no t  take  h im back ,  you adver t i se  h i s  pos i t ion  and asked the  

pub l i c ,  peop le  who qua l i f y,  to  app ly  fo r  h is  pos i t ion? 

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  we cou ld  have gone tha t  rou te  

o f  ge t t ing  somebody new but  here  was th is  exper ienced 

ind iv idua l  par t i cu la r ly  …[ in te rvenes ]  

CHAIRPERSON:    You cou ld  no t  somebody more  

exper ienced?  

MR MKWANAZI :    . . .many years  in  Transnet  and he  shou ld  10 

have got  in  runn ing  to  t ry  and f i x  the  prob lems tha t  we 

were  observ ing  as  tha t  new board .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you cou ld  ge t  somebody w i th  even 

bet te r  sk i l l s ,  somebody who wou ld  make sure  tha t  they 

read documents  be fore  they s igned them and d id  no t  pu t  

Transnet  a t  g rea t  r i sk  by  s igh ing  documents  w i thout  

read ing  them.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman,  I  agree w i th  you there .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Now a f te r  you had re ins ta ted  Mr  Gama,  I  

unders tood you or  the  documents  to  suggest  tha t  the  board  20 

ins t ruc ted  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe ,  who  was CEO then,  Group 

CEO,  to  d isc ip l ine  va r ious members ,  management  members  

and s ta f f  who may have done someth ing  s im i la r  to  what  – 

we l l ,  le t  me no t  someth ing  s im i la r  and say who had  

dev ia ted  f rom procurement  p rocesses,  i s  tha t  cor rec t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And there  were  many o f  these,  i s  tha t  

cor rec t?   [ inaud ib le  –  speak ing  s imu l taneous ly ]  

MR MK WANAZI :    There  were  many,  Cha i rman,  bu t  do  no t  

fo rge t  as  a  board  we cou ld  on ly  focus on  what  you wou ld  

ca l l  the  Exco then.  

CHAIRPERSON:    yes .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Not  a l l  the  peop le  invo l ved.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  in  te rms o f  Exco the re  were  

some Exco members .  10 

MR MK WANAZI :    There  were  two,  i f  I  reca l l ,  Cha i rman,  

yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    One o f  them was i t  Mr  Mahara j  o r  no t  

rea l l y?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes and the  o ther  one was Ms Moi ra  

Moses.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Moses,  Ms Moses?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ms Moi ra  Moses.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .   That  Mr  Mahara j ,  i s  tha t  the  

same one who had been asked by  Mr  Wel ls  to  make a  20 

dec is ion  whether  to  charge Mr  Gama or  no t?  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman,  yes ,  i t  i s  the  same gent leman,  

yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Now the i r  –  the  i r regu lar i t ies  or  

dev ia t ions fo r  wh ich  they were  to  be  charged,  d id  they  
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occu r  p r io r  to  the  board ’s  dec i s ion  to  re ins ta te  Mr  Gama,  

condone h is  t ransgress ion ,  b r i ng  h im back or  d id  they 

happens a f te r  the  board  had re ins ta ted  Mr  Gama? 

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman ,  the i r  t ransgress ions 

happened between 2005 and 2010.   That  was before  the  

board  re ins ta ted  Mr  Gama.   They  are  o ld  t ransgress ions,  

Cha i rman,  ve ry,  very  o ld  t ransgress ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And so  in  regard  to  o ther  s ta f f  members  

who were  no t  in  Exco,  the  same was go ing  to  app ly,  those  

who had t ransgress ions tha t  had  happened a  number  o f  10 

years  be fore  wou ld  a lso  be  judged.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman tha t  i s  cor rec t  bu t  my 

reco l lec t ion  is  tha t  one pa r t i cu la r  ind iv idua l  the  CEO d id  

dea l  w i th ,  I  don ’ t  know in  what  fo rm,  bu t  h is  name is  Mr  

Gary  Peter  and there  were  o thers  tha t  then the  Board  had 

expected Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  to  cont inue dea l ing  w i th  in  te rms 

o f  d isc ip l inary  p rocesses.   I  do  no t  have feedback  on the  

res t   Cha i rman,  I  wou ld  have to  go  back to  some o the r  

no tes  to  f ind  ou t  who the  res t  were  and a lso  I  wou ld  have  

to  go  back and ask the  o rgan isa t ion  as  to  what  d id  Mole fe  20 

do about  th is .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Oh,  d id  he  no t  repor t  back a t  some s tage 

wh i le  your  board  was the re ,  wh i le  you were  there ,  because  

you on ly  le f t  a t  the  end o f  2014,  so  th is  was 2011 ,  so  he  

must  have repor ted  back to  you.  
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MR MKWANAZI :    Chai rman he d id  repor t  to  the  Board  on  

what  I  can ca l l  the  two Exco members ,  then the  Board  then 

le f t  i t  to  h im to  dea l  w i th  the  res t ,  and now I  don ’ t  th ink  as  

a  Board  we got  a  summary o f  what  he  had done w i th  the  

res t ,  whatever  the  number  m ight  have been.  

CHAIRPERSON:    I  unders tand f rom what  I  have read tha t  

w i th  regard  to  Mr  Mahara j  he  res igned when th is  happened,  

i s  tha t  cor rec t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    That  i s  cor rec t  bu t  then I  don ’ t  know the  

de ta i l  because Mr  Mahara j  was in te rac t ing  w i th  Mr  Br ian  10 

Mole fe .   I  don ’ t  know the  dynamics .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And Ms Moses  do you know what  she  

d id ,  I  th ink  she a l so  res igned,  o r  d id  she not?  

MR MKWANAZI :    She a lso  res igned but  aga in  I  don ’ t  have 

the  de ta i l  o f  the  dynamics  be tween Mr  Moi ra  Moses and Mr  

Mole fe  a t  the  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Now th is  i s  qu i te  s t range  to  me 

what  you and your  Board  d id ,  as  I  unders tand i t  inso fa r  as  

you and your  Board  were  concerned,  o r   may have been  

concerned tha t  fo r  a  number  o f  years  there  may have been 20 

a  lo t  o f  t ransgress ions in  te rms  o f  dev ia t ions by  Exco 

members  and o ther  sen ior  managers ,  and tha t  you wanted 

to  –  and no ac t ion  had been taken .   I  wou ld  have expected 

tha t  i f  you  were  fee l ing  sympathy  fo r  Mr  Gama you wou ld  

then e f fec t i ve ly  g rant  condonat ion ,  o r  maybe I  shou ldn ’ t  
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use  the  word  condonat ion ,  so  to  speak or  g i ve  everybody  

who had done tha t  o r  tha t  per iod  and say we don ’ t  know,  i t  

looks  l i ke  there  has been confus ion ,  we don ’ t  know what  

has been go ing  on,  bu t  f rom now on,  f rom a  cer ta in  da te  

here  is  a  d i rec t i ve ,  f rom now on  nobody can te l l  us  they 

don ’ t  know what  the  pos i t ion .   

 From now on i f  you dev ia te  t h is  w i l l  be  the  

consequences and then you f rom then on anyone who  

commi ts  these dev ia t ions can be dea l t  w i th ,  bu t  i t  appears  

l i ke  w i th  regard  to  Mr  Gama you sa id  there  were  dev ia t ions 10 

noth ing  had been done,  so  he  must  come back,  and then  

you gave h im an ine f fec t i ve  warn ing  and then you sa id  

o thers  who had  done dev ia t ions a lso  dur ing  the  same 

per iod  you sa id  Mr  Mole fe  charged them.  

 That  seems a  –  i t  i s  l i ke  th is  was a  d ispensat ion  fo r  

Mr  Gama on ly,  the  res t  they must  face  the  wra th  o f  the 

Board .      

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman I  wou ldn ’ t  say  the  res t  must  

face  the  wra th  o f  the  Board  because we d id  i ssue a  

memorandum for  the  organ isa t ion  a t  the  t ime I  cou ld   have  20 

s igned i t ,  ta lk ing  about  these condonat ions and i r regu la r  

mod i f i ca t ions o f  cont rac ts  and I  d id  i ssue a  memorandum 

put t ing  a  s top  to  tha t ,  and a lso  I  suspect  in  tha t  

memorandum I  d id  ind ica te  tha t  any fu tu re  condonat ions 

had to  be  approved by  one ind iv idua l ,  who is  Br ian  Mole fe ,  
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because there  was confus ion  o f  too  many peop le  th ink ing  

tha t  they had au thor i t y  to  condone.   Natura l l y  I  th ink  the  

PPM,  the  P rocurement  Procedures Manua l ,  m ight  have  

a l lowed tha t  and as  we l l  then Cha i rman tha t  Board  d id  dea l  

w i th  sor t  o f  condonat ions o f  b ig  t i cke t  i tems wh ich  wou ld  

have been approved by   tha t  Board  be fore  in  te rms o f  the 

au thor i t y  tha t  approved the  in i t ia l  cont rac t .   I  d id  ment ion 

ear l ie r  the  VAE Cont rac t ,  I  d id  ment ion  a  few o thers ,  o ther  

appo in tments  and yes I  d id  ment ion  a  few,  wh ich  then 

came back to  the  Board  and the  Board  d id  condone those.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    You see when you and  your  Board  ta lk  

about  how you  re ins ta ted  Mr  Gama you crea te  the  

impress ion  tha t  you sought  to  upho ld  the  pr inc ip le  o f  

cons i s tency in  d isc ip l ine ,  you say there  were  so  many 

peop le  how had done the  same th ing  and had no t  been  

d isc ip l ined and Mr  Gama was d isc ip l ined,  i t  looks  l i ke  he  

was s ing led  ou t .   You then condone h is  t ransgress ions bu t  

then ins tead o f  condon ing  the  t ransgress ions o f  o thers  you 

say to  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  go  fo r  them and one o f  those is  Mr  

Mahara j  who had  brought  charges  aga ins t  Mr  Gama,  tha t  20 

seems ve ry,  ve ry,  very,  s t range,  and he res igns.   Where  is  

the  cons is tency,  you jus t  sa id  Mr  Gama must  ge t  an  

ine f fec t i ve  f ina l  warn ing ,  why don ’ t  you say to  the  o the rs ,  

to  Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  okay g ive  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  to  

everybody who in  the  past  d id  the  same th ing .   Why don ’ t  
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you  say tha t ,  in  tha t  way then you t rea t  them l i ke  Mr  

Gama? 

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman in  a  d i f fe ren t  way  we are  

ac tua l l y  say ing  tha t  to  Mr  Mole fe ,  we were  say ing  le t  a l l  

these condonements  come to  your  o f f i ce  and you then 

dec ide  on  what  s teps to  take  post  them be ing  submi t ted  to  

you and the re  was a  lo t  tha t  came in  and I  am not  sure  now 

o f  those,  I  th ink  one o f  those wou ld  have been a  repeater  

fo r  ins tance where  I  know tha t   he  m ight  have got  a  le t te r  

o f  warn ing  p lease  don ’ t  do  th is  aga in .    10 

 Now i t  was up to  Mr  Mole fe  then to  dec ide  on  the  

res t  inc lud ing  Mr  Mahara j ,  inc lud ing  Ms Moi ra  Moses but  

yes  we d id  e leva te  o thers  to  then say there  must  be  

consequences fo r  peop le ,  they must  no t  do  i t  aga in  

e tce te ra ,  e tce te ra ,  bu t  I  do  no t  reca l l  ac tua l l y  ins t ruc t ing  

tha t  peop le  then shou ld  be  f i red .    I  wou ld  a lways i nd ica te  

le t  them submi t  a l l  the  condonat ions and take  a  v iew 

whethe r  you want  to  condone,  want  to  g ive  a  wr i t ten 

warn ing ,  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  and  tha t  was the  d iscre t ion  

tha t  was Mr  Mole fe  was g iven.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes bu t  i f  he  f i red  anybody  in  tha t  

p rocess tha t  wou ld  no t  have been  incons is ten t  w i th  what  

you asked h im to  do ,  he  cou ld  g ive  a  warn ing ,  he  cou ld  

f i re ,  because you d idn ’ t  say  to  h im d isc ip l ine  them but  

don ’ t  f i re  them because we haven ’ t  –  we have reve rsed Mr  
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Gama’s  d ismissa l .   You le f t  i t  to  h im what  sanct ion  he  

wou ld  g ive .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  in  regard  to  Mr  Gama you have  

chosen tha t  d ismissa l  was not  the  r igh t  sanct ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman your  observa t ion  is  cor rec t  

because the  gu idance tha t  he  go t  f rom the  Board  was not  

tha t  spec i f i c  bu t  there  was a  board  reso lu t ion  wh ich  was  

done on how he shou ld  dea l  w i th  the  res t  o f  these i r regu la r  

p rocu rements  tha t  were  emerg ing .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    And you wou ld  cons ider  I  wou ld  assume 

tha t  the  percept ion  among the  management  and s ta f f  o f  

what  they were  hear ing ,  the  percept ion  they go t  a r is ing  

f rom the  dec is ion  o f  the  Board  must  have been  te r r ib le  

because par t i cu la r ly  fo r  Mr  Mahara j  who was charg ing  Mr  

Gama.    Mr  Gama the  Board  is  say ing  Mr  Gama you must  

come back,  ge t  fu l l  back pay,  ge t  a l l  your  benef i t s ,  th is  

sanct ion  recommended by  the  independent  cha i rpe rson o f  

the  inqu i ry  i s  no  good,  you deserve  a  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing 

bu t  tha t  f ina l  wr i t ten  warn ing  mustn ’ t  even s ta r t  –  mustn ’ t  20 

be  there  when you re turn  to  work ,  i t  must  have lapsed so  

he  as  a l l  o f  th is  and then the  nex t  he  hears  tha t  the  same 

board  has sa id  to  the  Group CEO charge the  o thers .    

 I t  must  have fe l t  l i ke  look we must  go ,  obv ious ly  Mr  

Gama is  very  in f luent ia l  w i th  th i s  Board ,  Mr  Gama is  the  
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one who was cr i t i c i s ing  us  pub l i ca l l y  fo r  pu t t ing  in  charges 

aga ins t  h im,  a l though he has conceded now tha t  he  was 

gu i l t y  and we were  jus t i f ied  in  b r ing ing  charges  but  we  

must  be  charged now,  so  he  res igns and Ms Moses res igns.  

 You wou ld  unders tand tha t  percept ion  i f  i t  

happened?  

MR MK WANAZI :    I  fu l l y  unders tand Cha i rman but  there  is  

th is  example  o f  Mr  Gary  Peter  who –  I  don ’ t  reca l l  now the  

de ta i l  bu t  he  a lso  was pa r ty  to  some i r regu lar  cont rac t  bu t  

he  was not  d ism issed,  be tween I  am not  su re  how they 10 

hand led  i t ,  bu t  be tween Ano j  S ingh and Mr  Br ian  Mole fe  

they dea l t  w i th  th is  th rough Gary  Peter,  bu t  I  am aware  tha t  

he  was not  d ismissed.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay now the  Board ,  you and your  Board  

shou ld  no t  have  re ins ta ted  Mr  Gama,  i sn ’ t  i t?    No you  

have had the  benef i t  o f  look ing  a t  the  who le  th ing  p roper ly,  

do  you not  come to  tha t  conc lus ion .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Cha i rman in  h inds igh t  I  come to  tha t  

conc lus ion  because the  th ree  key mat te rs  tha t  the  process 

o f  Advocate  Ant robus looked in to  and came to  dec i s ions  20 

on.   The las t  one wh ich  was  charge 4  i t  i s  ser ious  

m isconduct ,  i f  tha t  mat te r  had been e levated proper ly  to  

tha t  Board  I  wou ld  have a lso  ind ica ted  tha t  a  sanct ion  o f  a  

d ismissa l  must  s tay  and aga in  in  h inds igh t  even on the  

o ther  two mat te rs  wh ich  a t  the  t ime looked l i ke  
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p rocu rement  re la ted  they were  no t ,  they  were  ac tua l l y  

m isconduct  and  i f  tha t  par t  o f  i t  had been d iscussed  

thorough ly  by  the  Board  I  th ink  tha t  Board  wou ld  have 

ar r i ved a t  d i f fe ren t  dec i s ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Even i f  fo r  some reason he was  

re ins ta ted  what  wou ld  you say to  the  propos i t ion  tha t  he  

shou ld  no t  have got ,  he  shou ld  no t  have been g iven fu l l  

back pay,  he  shou ld  be  –  i f  he  was to  be  re ins ta ted  a t  a l l ,  

he  shou ld  no t  have been g i ven fu l l  back pay as  i f   he  was 

not  gu i l t y  o f  anyth ing ,  as  i f  he  was innocent ,  wou ld  you not  10 

say tha t?  

MR MKWANAZI :     I  concede Cha i rman yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  wou ld  you a lso  no t  concede tha t  

you and your  Board  shou ld  never  have under taken  to  pay 

any o f  h is  h igh  cour t  lega l  cos ts ,  because l i t iga t ion  was 

done and he had los t ,  he  shou ld  no t  have brought  tha t  

app l i ca t ion  aga ins t  the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR MKWANAZI :    I  concede tha t  too  Cha i rman yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  we l l  wou ld  you a lso  no t  concede  

tha t  even w i th  regard  to  h is  labour  mat te r,  the  un fa i r  20 

d ismissa l  mat te r,  you shou ld  no t  have o f fe red  or  

under taken to  pay any o f  h is  cos ts  because he  h imse l f  

accepted he was to  b lame a l so ,  he  shared a  ce r ta in  amount  

o f  b lame,  he  accepted tha t  he  was gu i l t y  o f  th ree  ac ts  o f  

m isconduct ,  wou ld  you not  cons ide r  tha t?  
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MR MKWANAZI :    I  wou ld  cons ide r  tha t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.    Now wou ld  you not  concede a lso  

tha t  a t  some s tage you shou ld  have gone back to  Mr  Todd  

and sa id  p roceed  w i th  the  s teps to  recover  Transnet  Lega l  

cos ts  f rom Mr  Gama? 

MR MKWANAZI :    . . . [ Ind is t inc t  –  record  d is to r ted ]  yes  we  

shou ld  have.  

CHAIRPERSON:    You shou ld  have  gone back to  h im .  

MR MKWANAZI :    Ja ,  because he  had made a  conv inc ing  

submiss ion .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  now o f  cou rse  what  th is  means is  a  

lo t  o f  taxpayers ’ money went  to  Mr  Gama and h is  

a t to rneys,  f i rs t l y  in  te rms o f  the  back pay fo r  n ine  months ,  

second ly  in  te rms o f  the  lega l  cos ts  fo r  the  h igh  cour t  and 

the  lega l  cos ts  fo r  the  un fa i r  d i smissa l  mat te r,  wh ich  a t  

leas t  now you are  ab le  to  say  shou ld  no t  have been  

o f fe red .    Now wou ld  there  be  anyth ing  un fa i r  I  know tha t  

there  are  o ther  members  o f  the  Board  who might  s t i l l  come 

and tes t i f y  and make rep resenta t ions bu t  you are  – you 

have g iven your  ev idence and you have dea l t  w i th  i ssues 20 

and where  you have dea l t  w i th  i t  you  have a  cer ta in  

rea l i sa t ion  in  regard  to  cer ta in  i ssues tha t  you might  no t  

have heard  be fo re ,  wou ldn ’ t  you  –  wou ld  you say there  

wou ld  be  anyth ing  un fa i r  i f  a t  the  end the  Commiss ion  were  

to  recommend to  the  Pres ident  tha t  s teps shou ld  be  taken  
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to  recover  f rom members  o f  the  Board  who suppor ted  the  

se t t lement  th is  money tha t   where  you and I  agree  shou ld  

no t  have been o f fe red  to  Mr  Gama by the  Board .  

MR MK WANAZI :    Cha i rman I  wou ld  no t  be  opposed  to  tha t  

and because there  are  cer ta in  leve ls  o f  recover  and a lso  o f  

cer ta in  . . . [ ind is t inc t  –  d is to r ted ]  d i rec t  invo lvement  on  

some o f  these  issues because i t  goes even  fu r ther  

Cha i rman to  the  po in t  o f  say ing  what  about  a l l  these  

mon ies  wh ich  was pa id  to  Langa ’s  A t to rneys in  some funny  

way but  ja .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  because –  and o f  course  there  

is  the  quest ion  o f  I  mean Mr  Myburgh sa id  tha t  in  te rms o f  

back pay fo r  Mr  Gama and lega l  cos ts  I  th ink  he  sa id  we 

are  look ing  a t  about  R17mi l l ion  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    That  i s  co r rec t  yes .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  does tha t  inc lude Eversheds pa r t  o f  

the  lega l  cos ts?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So  back pay and lega l  cos ts  we ta lk  

about  R17mi l l ion  bu t  o f  cou rse  the re  is  the  R426 000 wh ich  20 

was not  inc luded there  wh ich  Mr  Todd was t ry ing  to  recover  

f rom Mr  Gama so  you know a l l  o f  those amounts  you know 

taxpayers  say you know tha t  money cou ld  be  he lp  in  

somewhere ,  i t  shou ld  no t  have gone to  Mr  Gama in  the 

l igh t  o f  a l l  o f  th is  ev idence,  bu t  I  th ink  you have made your  
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po in t  tha t  you unders tand the  s i tua t ion .   I s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR MKWANAZI :    Yes Cha i rman.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay anyth ing  a r is ing  Mr  Myburgh?  

ADV MYBURGH SC:    No Mr  Cha i rpe rson,  thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay a l r igh t .   Thank you ve ry  much Mr  

Mkwanaz i  fo r  mak ing  yourse l f  . . . [ in te rvenes]  yes?  

MR MKHWANAZI :    I s  i t  poss ib le  tha t  you cou ld  perhaps  

indu lge  me jus t  to  capture  the  main  po in ts ,  I  th ink  Mr  

Mkwanaz i  was present ing  to  the  Commiss ion  fo r  the  past  

two days.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    You wou ld  l i ke  an  oppor tun i ty  to  say 

someth ing?  

MR MKH WANAZI :     Yes Cha i r  I  wou ld  rea l l y  l i ke  tha t ,  i f  I  

may Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay a l r igh t ,  okay do  tha t   yes .  

MR MKHWANAZI :    A l r igh t  Cha i r  i t  i s  rea l l y  t rue  today I  

have learn t  tha t  i t  i s  very  t rue  tha t  there  is  a  lo t  o f  c la r i t y  

in  h inds igh t  as  we have seen based on the  ev idence tha t  

Mkwanaz i  has g i ven and somet imes you run  the  r i sk  o f  

hav ing  tha t  h inds igh t  to  you know make you  know 20 

determinat ions tha t  w i l l  g ive  an  impress ion  tha t  you know 

th ings were  normal  a t  the  t ime o f  . . . [ ind is t inc t  –  record ing  

d is to r ted ]  bu t  I  wou ld  jus t  l i ke  to  touch on a  few th ings  

Cha i r  tha t  the  ro le  o f  the  Board  in  te rms o f  K ing  4  i s  to  

p rov ide  a  d i rec t ion  to  the  o rgan isa t ion  and what  happened 
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here  i s  tha t  in  2010 the  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    Sor ry  Mr  Mkhwanaz i  to  the  ex ten t  tha t  

what  you may be w ish ing  to  say m ight  fa l l  under  a rgument ,  

we wou ld  make ar rangements  fo r  a rguments  a t  the  r igh t  

s tage,  so  i f  tha t  i s  what  you had in  m ind we can leave i t  fo r  

when you p resent  a rgument .  

MR MKHWANAZI :   Okay Cha i r,  tha t ’s  f ine ,  I  can dea l  w i th  

tha t ,  thank you very  much.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t  f ine .   Thank you very  much 

to  you and Mr  Mkwanaz i  the  w i tness and to  you Mr  10 

Mkhwanaz i  the  lawyer  and fo r  a l l  the  coopera t ion  and thank  

you Mr  Mkwanaz i  fo r  ava i l ing  yourse l f  to  come and  tes t i f y  

be fore  the  Commiss ion  and prov ide  exp lanat ions to  the  

best  o f  your  ab i l i t y  on  some o f  the  dec i s ions taken by  your  

Board ,  we apprec ia te  i t  and i f  a  need ar ises ,  I  th ink  there  

probab ly  w i l l  be  another  occas ion  when you need to  come 

back on  o ther  aspects  bu t  thank you very  much we 

apprec ia te  the  fac t  tha t  you have made yourse l f  ava i lab le .  

Thank you ve ry  much.  

MR MKWANAZI :    Thank you Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    We are  go ing  to  ad journ ,  i t  i s  near l y  

twenty  f i ve  past  fou r,  we w i l l  ad jou rn  and then tomor row we 

wi l l  con t inue w i th  ev idence re la t ing  to  Transnet ,  who is  our  

w i tness tomorrow Mr  Myburgh?  

MR MYBURGH:  Wel l  Mr  Cha i rperson on the  assumpt ion  
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tha t  we cannot  reach an ag reement  on  the  33 ’s  in  re la t ion  

to  Mr  Mhlanka then we w i l l  s ta r t  our  ev idence in  respect  o f  

the  Manganese Expans ion  Pro jec t  w i th  the  f i rs t  w i tness 

be ing  Mr  Henk Beste r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.  That ’s  f ine  bu t  i f  you  reach 

agreement  then i t  wou ld  be  Mr  Mhlanka.  

ADV MYBURGH SC:   Yes we w i l l  f i t  h im in ,  we w i l l  jugg le 

around but  i t  w i l l  be  one or  the  o ther.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay no tha t ’s  f ine .   We wi l l  then  

ad journ  now and tomorrow we s tar t  a t  ten  as  usua l .  10 

 We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 20 OCTOBER 2020  
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